

1949

Diophantine Equations Related to Linear Recurrence Sequences

Author: Hayder Raheem Hashim Supervisor: Dr. Szabolcs Tengely

Dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

UNIVERSITY OF DEBRECEN Doctoral Council of Natural Sciences Doctoral School of Mathematical and Computational Sciences Debrecen, 2021

Hereby I declare that I prepared this dissertation within the Doctoral Council of Natural Sciences, Doctoral School of Mathematical and Computational Sciences, University of Debrecen in order to obtain a PhD Degree in Natural Sciences, Mathematics at University of Debrecen.

The results published in the dissertation have not been reported in any other PhD dissertations.

Debrecen, March 4, 2021.

Hayder Raheem Hashim doctoral candidate

Hereby I confirm that the candidate Hayder Raheem Hashim conducted his studies with my supervision within the Diophantine and Constructive Number Theory Doctoral Program of the Doctoral School of Mathematical and Computational Sciences, University of Debrecen between 2017 and 2021. The independent studies and research work of the candidate are significantly contributed to the results published in the dissertation.

I also declare that the results published in the dissertation have not been reported in any other dissertations.

I support the acceptance of the dissertation.

Debrecen, March 4, 2021.

Szabolcs Tengely supervisor

Diophantine equations related to linear recurrence sequences

Dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the doctoral (PhD) degree in Mathematics.

Written by: Hayder Raheem Hashim certified mathematician

Prepared in the framework of the Diophantine and Constructive Number Theory program of the Doctoral School of Mathematical and Computational Sciences of the University of Debrecen.

Dissertation advisor: Dr. Szabolcs Tengely

The official opponents of the dissertation:

Dr	
Dr	
Dr	

The evaluation committee:

chairperson:	Dr	
members:	Dr	
	Dr	
	Dr	
	Dr	

" Research is to see what everybody else has seen, and to think what nobody else has thought."

Albert Szent-Györgyi

Acknowledgments

Words are certainly not enough to express my gratitude and appreciation to those who have helped, supported and encouraged me throughout the years of my PhD studies at University of Debrecen / Hungary.

From the bottom of my heart, I would like to say a big and special thank you to my patient and supportive supervisor Dr. Szabolcs Tengely for his aspiring guidance, consistent encouragement and continuous support throughout my PhD studies. Without his generous help and valuable advices, this dissertation could not have come about. It was a great pleasure for me to work with him and be under his supervision. I am really indebted to him more than he knows.

I would also like to thank the head of Doctoral School of Mathematical and Computational Sciences, Prof. Dr. Páles Zsolt for his usual help, guidance and continuous support during my years of study.

I am also extremely thankful to the director of Institute of Mathematics, Prof. Dr. Hajdu Lajos, to the head of Department of Algebra and Number Theory, Prof. Dr. Bérczes Attila, and to the coordinator of Doctoral School of Mathematical and Computational Sciences, Prof. Dr. Magdolna Várterész for their valuable guidance, timely suggestions and help since the first day of my PhD program.

I would also like to express my thankfulness towards everybody at the Department of Algebra and Number Theory as well as in the other departments, especially Prof. Dr. Gaál István, Dr. Györkös-Varga Nóra, Komjáthi Barnáné, Kovácsné Kiss Adrienn and Homonnainé Bajkai Judit for helping me at their best at various times and for making the environment so congenial to work at every step in one way or the other. People here are genuinely nice and helpful, and I am glad to have interacted with many.

My sincere thanks go to all of my colleagues at the Institute of Mathematics including Muwafaq Salih, Amr Zakaria and Remete László who have always helped and supported me in all aspects during my university years in Debrecen. I consider myself fortunate to have such helpful and understanding friends.

I gratefully acknowledge my words of gratitude to the Tempus Public Foundation "Stipendium Hungaricum Scholarship Programme" and to the Iraqi Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research / University of Kufa for providing me this opportunity and supporting me during my years of study. No words are enough to thank my lovely parents, brothers and sister who completely dedicated their lives into making mine better. I am deeply grateful to each and every one of them for their unending support, encouragement and prayers.

I indeed owe gigantic thanks to a very special person in my life, my lovely wife Zahraa for her continued and unfailing love, usual support, encouragement, patience and understanding throughout the years. I truly appreciate my first handsome son, Mujtaba who was born on September 18, 2017 that was my first day as a PhD student at University of Debrecen. Since then, he has made my life full of joy and happiness. I must say he is the best part of my life. Words would never say how grateful I am to both of you, and thanks for making my dreams come true.

Last but not least, I would like to thank all of those people unnamed for their moral support and those who helped me directly and indirectly to complete my PhD work.

Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction and preliminaries	1
1.1. History	1
1.2. Special types of Diophantine equations	6
1.2.1. Pell type Diophantine equations	6
1.2.2. Fermat-Catalan type Diophantine equations	7
1.2.3. Runge type Diophantine equations	12
1.2.4. Thue and superelliptic type Diophantine equations	13
1.3. Diophantine properties of linear recursive sequences	15
1.3.1. Background and notations	15
1.3.2. Historical survey	19
1.4. Summary of new results and plan of the dissertation	22
Chapter 2. Diophantine equations related to reciprocals and repdigits with linear	
recurrence sequences	25
2.1. Diophantine equations related to reciprocals of linear recurrence sequences	25
2.1.1. Auxiliary results	27
2.1.2. New results	28
2.1.3. Proofs of the results	29
2.1.4. Applications	33
2.2. Diophantine equations related to repdigits with linear recurrence sequences	36
2.2.1. Auxiliary results	38
2.2.2. New results	40
2.2.3. Proofs of the results	40
Chapter 3. Diophantine equations of the form $G(X, Y, Z) := AX^2 + BY^r + CZ^2$	
involving linear recurrence sequences	51
3.1. Solutions of the Diophantine equation $7X^2 + Y^7 = Z^2$ from linear recurrence	
sequences	51
3.1.1. Auxiliary results	53
3.1.1.1. Kedlaya's procedure	54
3.1.2. New results	56
3.1.3. Proofs of the results	56
3.2. Solutions of generalizations of Markoff equation from linear recurrence	
sequences	63
3.2.1. Solutions of the Jin-Schmidt equation in Fibonacci numbers	65
3.2.1.1. General investigative procedure	65
3.2.1.2. New result	68

3.2.1.3. Proof of the result	69
3.2.2. Solutions of the Markoff-Rosenberger equation in generalized Lucas numbers	75
3.2.2.1. Auxiliary results	76
3.2.2.2. New results	78
3.2.2.3. Applications	83
3.2.2.3.1. Balancing numbers and Markoff-Rosenberger equations	84
3.2.2.3.2. Jacobsthal numbers and Markoff-Rosenberger equations	86
Summary	91
Bibliography	103
List of talks	115

CHAPTER 1

Introduction and preliminaries

1.1. History

The theory of Diophantine equations is a classical subject that involves solving an equation of the form $f(x_1, x_2, ..., x_n) = 0$, where f is an n-variable function and $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$ are required to be integers or rational numbers. Many methods have been devoted to the study of Diophantine equations theoretically, an observation which may come with no surprise given that the study of such equations goes back thousands of years. Concerning a Diophantine equation, there are some questions one should arise:

- Is the equation solvable ?
- If it is solvable, is the solution set to this equation finite or infinite ?
- If it is solvable, is it possible to give an effective procedure to find all the solutions ?

Indeed, there are many questions that one can ask regarding the solutions of Diophantine equations. In this dissertation, we will study the solutions of some types of Diophantine equations concerning linear recurrence sequences. Furthermore, we give some strategies to completely determine such solutions. Before presenting our main results, we introduce a historical survey related to Diophantine equations with some relevant problems, concepts and notations, which will be used throughout the dissertation. The name of these equations is in honor of the mathematician Diophantus who did his work and lived in Alexandria around 300 AD. He was well known by his ancient text Diophantus' Arithmetica which was comprised of thirteen books, but only six Greek manuscripts have survived into the modern era, and they have been edited and translated several times. In fact, one of the ancient Diophantine equations presented by the equation

$$x^n + y^n = z^n,\tag{1}$$

where all the variables including n are rational integers. If n = 1, equation (1) is trivial since it stands as the sum of any two integers is clearly an integer. So we have x + y = z. On the other hand, if n = 2, equation (1) presents Pythagorean equation: $x^2 + y^2 = z^2$, which was solved by the Greek mathematician Pythagoras who lived around 500 BC. However, around 1500 BC the Babylonians were aware of the solution (4961, 6480, 8161). Pythagoras stated and proved his theorem in the following form: THEOREM 1.1. The square of the hypotenuse is equal to the sum of the squares of the other two sides.

It is easy to show that there are infinitely many positive integer solutions of the Pythagorean equation. Indeed, if (x_0, y_0, z_0) is an arbitrary solution, then there are infinitely many solutions for this equation of the form (cx_0, cy_0, cz_0) for any nonnegative integer c.

In case of n > 2, equation (1) has no integer solutions such that $xyz \neq 0$ and this presents what is called Fermat's last theorem (sometimes called Fermat's conjecture), that was written by Pierre de Fermat (1601-1665) by the following note in the margin of his edition of Diophantus' Arithmetica:

" CUBUM AUTEM IN DUOS CUBOS, AUT QUADRATO QUADRATUM IN DUOSQUADRATO QUADRATOS, ET GENERALITER NULLAM IN INFINITUM ULTRA QUA-DRATUM POTESTATEM IN DUOS EJUSDEM NOMINIS FAS EST DIVIDERE; CUJUSREI DEMONSTRATIONEM MIRABILE SANE DETEXI. HANC MARGINIS EXIGUITASNON CAPERET."

He claimed to have a proof of this conjecture, but it was never found. In fact, this statement was published by his son after his death. Moreover, Fermat proved that the equation $x^4 + y^4 = z^2$ has no nontrivial solutions using his method of infinite descent, which was not so well known. This method was found in a letter entitled "Relation des nouvelles decouvertes en la science des nombres" that he wrote to Pierre de Carcavi in 1659 (see e.g. [69]), telling him that he has discovered a new method of demonstration, which can be applied to many problems in the theory of number.

In case of n = 4, equation (1) can be written as $x^4 + y^4 = (z^2)^2$, so the infinite descent proves Fermat's conjecture for n = 4, see e.g. [16], [74], [95] and the references given there.

One of the most well known results on Fermat's last theorem was given around 1820 by Sophie Germain where n is an odd prime number, and the result stated in the following theorem, that was named after her (see e.g. [140]).

THEOREM 1.2. If l is a prime number greater than 2 such that q = 2l + 1 is also prime, then the equation

$$x^l + y^l = z^l \tag{2}$$

has no solutions in nonzero integers x, y, z, which are not divisible by l.

This theorem was considered as the first general proposition on Fermat's last theorem. In fact, Germain's theorem was called the first case of Fermat's last theorem, and the case where equation (2) has no solutions in nonzero integers x, y, z in which at least one of them is divisible by l is considered as the second case. These cases were studied by many mathematicians who realized that these two cases have roughly the same difficulties in their proofs, although in the first case simpler techniques were used. By using similar techniques used by Germain, Terjanian [245] proved the following theorem, that shows the Germain's theorem is possible if l is replaced by an even exponent. THEOREM 1.3. If the equation

$$x^{2l} + y^{2l} = z^{2l}$$

has a nonzero solution in integers x, y, z, then either x or y is divisible by 2l, where $l \ge 3$ is a prime number.

In addition, elegant proofs were given by Kummer for these two cases of Fermat's last theorem. It was the first time of using some important concepts of algebraic number theory such as cyclotomic fields in the proof of this theorem. He in fact showed that how the subject of the number of divisor classes of cyclotomic fields leads to the proof of Fermat's last theorem at these cases. His approach mainly depends on the factorization of equation (2) into the form

$$\prod_{k=0}^{l-1} (x + \zeta_l^k y) = z^k$$

over the ring $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_l]$ generated by the l^{th} roots of unity. For more details about Kummer's approach in the proofs of the cases of Fermat's last theorem, one can see e.g. **[32]**, **[65]**, **[66]**, **[255]** and the references given there.

The first proof of Fermat's conjecture was discovered in 1994 and published in 1995 by Wiles [257] while working on a more general problem in geometry in a joint work with Taylor in [239]. His proof was completely based on elliptic curves, which is an important field of Diophantine number theory, and the proof was a consequence of proving that every semistable elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} is modular. In the following we summarize Wiles' approach for proving Fermat's last theorem. We start by recalling some important concepts used in the proof of this theorem. Indeed, some of these concepts may appear later in connection with our main results.

First of all, we define elliptic curves and the modularity and semistability of elliptic curves. In general, curves are very important for a lot of reasons. For instance, in the curves of genus zero, rational curves, everything is algorithmic and they can be parameterized by rational functions, so they can be understood very well. Moreover, the curves of genus $q \ge 2$ are not easy to handle, however curves of genus q = 1 that can be parameterized by elliptic functions called the elliptic curves. Elliptic curves have a very rich structure since they have a natural group law, and they appeared in the study of Diophantine equations and their history dates back to ancient Greece and beyond. They have occurred in these equations with two different approaches, one is algebraic number theory, and the other is the analysis of algebraic varieties. The first one uses properties of the rings and fields for which the solutions lie in, whereas the analysis of algebraic varieties studies geometric objects. For later use we also recall the following. The points on a curve where both partial derivatives vanish are called singular points on the curve. Hence, a curve with no singular points is called a nonsingular curve. It is known that a cubic curve is a projective curve of degree 3, and the general homogeneous cubic polynomial

$$F(X:Y:Z) = c_0 X^3 + c_1 X^2 Y + c_2 X Y^2 + c_3 Y^3 + c_4 X^2 Z + c_5 X Y Z + c_6 Y^2 Z + c_7 X Z^2 + c_8 Y Z^2 + c_9 Z^3,$$

with constants $c_0, ..., c_9$ in some field \mathbb{K} , for which F = 0 defines an elliptic curve \mathbb{E} . Moreover, the most general definition of a curve \mathbb{E} over a field \mathbb{K} given by the nonsingular generalized Weierstrass equation in its affine form

$$y^{2} + \alpha_{1}xy + \alpha_{3}y = x^{3} + \alpha_{2}x^{2} + \alpha_{4}x + \alpha_{6},$$
(3)

where $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_6 \in \mathbb{K}$ with nonzero discriminant Δ , which is defined as follows

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Delta = & -\beta_2^2 \beta_8 - 8\beta_4^3 - 27\beta_6^2 + 9\beta_2 \beta_4 \beta_6, \\ \beta_2 = & \alpha_1^2 + 4\alpha_2, \\ \beta_4 = & 2\alpha_4 + \alpha_1 \alpha_3, \\ \beta_6 = & \alpha_3^2 + 4\alpha_6, \\ \beta_8 = & \alpha_1^2 \alpha_6 + 4\alpha_2 \alpha_6 - \alpha_1 \alpha_3 \alpha_4 + \alpha_2 \alpha_3^2 - \alpha_4^2. \end{pmatrix}$$

Indeed, this form is useful when working with fields of characteristic 2 and characteristic 3. If we work with fields with characteristic different of 2, then dividing equation (3) by 2 and completing the square lead to an equation of the form

$$y_1^2 = x^3 + \alpha_2' x^2 + \alpha_4' x + \alpha_6', \tag{4}$$

where $y_1 = y + \frac{\alpha_1}{2}x + \frac{\alpha_3}{2}$ with some constants $\alpha'_2, \alpha'_4, \alpha'_6 \in \mathbb{K}$. In the case when the characteristic is not 2 or 3, then by substituting $x_1 = x + \frac{\alpha'_2}{3}$ in (4) we get the form

$$y_1^2 = x_1^3 + Ax_1 + B,$$

where $A, B \in \mathbb{K}$. This latter equation is referred to as Weierstrass equation for an elliptic curve. Moreover, two elliptic curves over \mathbb{Q} of the form (4) that can be obtained from each others by changing of the coordinates $x = a^2X + b$ and $y = a^3Y + cX + d$, where $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Q}$ and then dividing by a^6 are called isomorphic. Every elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} is isomorphic to a curve of the form (4) in which the coefficients are rational integers. For deep details about the study of elliptic curves and their applications, one can see e.g. [218], [256] and the references given there.

On the other hand, if Ψ denotes the complex upper half plane. An elliptic curve \mathbb{E} is called modular if there exists a homomorphism from the classical modular curve, $X_0(N)$ for a natural number \mathbb{N} , onto the curve \mathbb{E} such that $X_0(N)$ is a compact Riemann surface that is formed by completing the noncompact quotient space $\Psi/\Gamma_0(N)$ to be compact by adjoining finitely many equivalent classes of $\mathbb{Q} \cup \{\infty\}$, called the cusps, under the act of the group

$$\Gamma_0(N) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & a_2 \\ a_3 & a_4 \end{pmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z}), \text{ where } \mathbb{N} \text{ divides } a_3 \right\}$$

Furthermore, an elliptic curve \mathbb{E} over \mathbb{Q} is called semistable if it is semistable at every prime number p, which means it is isomorphic to an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} in which

modulo every prime p is either nonsingular or has a singular point with two tangents of distinct directions. For more details about the modularity and semistability of elliptic curves, see e.g. [199], [212] and the references given there.

In fact, the relation between elliptic curves and Fermat's last theorem started when Taniyama (1927 - 1958) proposed a problem related to the following theorem, that is called Taniyama-Shimura Conjecture (see e.g. [211]).

THEOREM 1.4. *Every elliptic curve over* \mathbb{Q} *is modular.*

This conjecture became more clear after some related studies by Shimura. Then, in the the beginning of 1970's Hellegouarch [**112**, **113**] connected Fermat equations of the form (1) with elliptic curves of the form

$$Y^{2} = X(X + x^{n})(X - y^{n})$$
(5)

to prove some results related to elliptic curves using the results of Fermat's last theorem. On the other hand, in 1985 Frey [85] stated that elliptic curves arising from counterexamples to Fermat's last theorem could not be modular, and not so long later by using some ideas of Serre in [209] this was proved by Ribet [196] since he proved that if n > 3 is a prime number with the nonzero integers x, y and z satisfying $x^n + y^n = z^n$, then the elliptic curve (5) is not modular. Finally, Wiles presented the following theorem that leads to a proof of Fermat's last theorem.

THEOREM 1.5. Let the nonzero integers A_1 and B_1 be relatively prime such that $16|A_1B_2(A_1 - B_2)$, then the elliptic curve

$$Y^2 = X(X + A_1)(X + B_1)$$

is modular.

It is clear that the conditions of this theorem are satisfied if we let $A_1 = x^n$ and $B_1 = -y^n$, where x, y, z and n are presumptive solution of the Fermat's equation with n > 4 and one of the integers x, y or z is even. Thus, Theorem 1.5 and Ribet's result together imply the Fermat's last theorem. Indeed, Theorem 1.5 is proved due to his following result with Taylor:

THEOREM 1.6. *Every semistable elliptic curve over* \mathbb{Q} *is modular.*

As a conclusion, having the elliptic curves (5) be modular, contradicting the conclusion of Ribet's work and establishing that counterexamples to Fermat's last theorem do not exist. For more details about the proofs of the latter two theorems and the history of Wiles' proof related to Fermat's last theorem, see e.g. [199], [257] and the references given there.

In the next section, we recall some special types of Diophantine equations with their related results, that will appear briefly or in details later with our main results.

1.2. Special types of Diophantine equations

1.2.1. Pell type Diophantine equations.

Consider the equation

$$x^2 - ay^2 = b, (6)$$

where x and y are unknown rational integers, b is any rational integer and a is a given positive integer that is not a perfect square, since otherwise there are clearly no nontrivial integral solutions. Furthermore, if a is a square, then equation (6) can be written as (x + ay)(x - ay) = b and therefore solved without using any further theory. Around 1768 Lagrange ([137], Oeuvres II, pages 377 - 535) studied the solutions of this equation in which gcd(x, y) = 1 and gave a recursive method for the general solution. This method depends on reducing this problem to the case where $|b| < \sqrt{a}$ and the solutions (x, y) are found in correspondence to (p_n, q_n) such that the fraction $(\frac{p_n}{q_n})$ converges to the simple continued fraction of \sqrt{a} . If $b \neq 1$, then equation (6) may have no solutions. Indeed, if there is a nontrivial solution, then it has infinitely many integer solutions (x, y) generated by a finite number of bases. Moreover, the first nontrivial solution (x_0, y_0) is called a fundamental solution of this equation. As particular equations represented in (6) are the equations $x^2 - ay^2 = \pm 1$, which are known as the classical Pell equations. The equation

$$x^2 - ay^2 = 1$$
(7)

is called the Pell equation due to a mistake on the part of Euler (1707 - 1783) who attributed the solution of the equation to John Pell. This equation is also known as the Pellian equation. In fact, John Pell (1611 - 1685) did not make any independent contribution to this equation other than referring to it in a paper that he wrote in algebra. This equation was firstly stated by Fermat (1601 - 1665) by claiming this equation has infinitely many solutions, but he did not provide a proof to it. Around the same year of announcing this problem by Fermat, Brouncker gave a systematic method for solving this equation. Lagrange [137] (also see e.g. [73, page 358]) gave a complete discussion about equation (7) with publishing a complete such a proof since he used the simple continued fraction expansion of \sqrt{a} to its solvability in nontrivial rational integers x and y. It is well known that equation (7) has infinitely many solutions (u, v) given by

$$(u_k + v_k \sqrt{a}) = (u_1 + v_1 \sqrt{a})^k,$$

where k is any rational integer and (u_1, v_1) is its fundamental solution. On the other hand, the equation

$$x^2 - ay^2 = -1 \tag{8}$$

is called the negative Pell equation, which does not always have a solution. Indeed, it has a solution if and only if the length of the period of the continued fraction of \sqrt{a} is congruent to 1 modulo 2, see e.g. [217]. It is clear to observe that if (a_1, b_1) is a fundamental solution for (8), then all the solutions are given by odd powers k.

Furthermore, if the negative Pell equation (8) is solvable with the fundamental solution (a_1, b_1) , then the fundamental solution of the positive Pell equation (7) can be obtained by

$$(u_1 + v_1\sqrt{a}) = (a_1 + b_1\sqrt{a})^2.$$

On the other hand, if (u_k, v_k) represents the k^{th} solution of the Pellian equation (7), then the solutions of equation (6) are given by

$$(x_k \pm y_k \sqrt{a}) = (x_b \pm y_b \sqrt{a})(u_k \pm v_k \sqrt{a}),$$

where (x_b, y_b) is a base solution of equation (6). For further details about the solutions of equation (6), see e.g. [41]. The problems of the determination of a fundamental solution of the equation (6) in general and deciding whether the equation (8) has a solution seem ancient problems, and they have been studied by many authors. For instance, a fundamental solution can be determined using the Chakravala method in [78], that was introduced by the Indian mathematicians Jayadeva (9th century) and Bhāskara II (12th century). In 1770, by using the simple continued fraction, Lagrange ([137], Oeuvres II, pages 655 – 726) gave one more algorithm that was considered as a generalization of the method of solving equations (7) and (8). This latter algorithm has been simplified by Matthews [165] and Mollin [172] using simple continued fractions. Kaplan and Williams [126] showed that the solvability of equation (8) leads to the solvability of equation (6), where b = -4 in positive relatively prime rational integers if and only if the length of the period of the continued fraction expansion of \sqrt{a} is congruent to the length of the period of the continued fraction expansion of $(\frac{1}{2}(1+\sqrt{a}))$ modulo 4. Moreover, several authors provided other methods for finding the fundamental solutions, studying whether equation (8) has a solution or not and investigating the solvability of equation (6) in general or some specific types of this equation, see e.g. [118], [146], [173], [202], [222], [240] and the references given there.

1.2.2. Fermat-Catalan type Diophantine equations.

In 1785, Legendre [145] investigated the equation

$$0 = f(x, y, z) := Ax^{2} + By^{2} + Cz^{2},$$
(9)

where the coefficients A, B and C are rational integers. By reducing this equation into its normal form in which these coefficients are squarefree and pairwise relatively prime, he found necessary conditions to show that this equation can be solvable in nontrivial rational integers x, y and z and stated his result in the following theorem, that was named after him.

THEOREM 1.7. The equation (9) has a solution in rational integers x, y, z, not all zero, if and only if

• the coefficients A, B, C are not all of the same sign,

• there exist rational integers X, Y and Z such that $BX^2 + C \equiv 0 \pmod{A}$, $CY^2 + A \equiv 0 \pmod{B}$ and $AZ^2 + B \equiv 0 \pmod{C}$.

Holzer [117] proved that a nontrivial rational integer solution exists for equation (9) under all of the above assumptions, where

$$x \leq \sqrt{|BC|}, \qquad |y| \leq \sqrt{|AC|}, \qquad |z| \leq \sqrt{|AB|}.$$
 (10)

Moreover, a proof of an estimate weaker than that of Holzer's in (10) under the same assumptions was given by Mordell [**174**]. This was also found later by Skolem [**220**]. If equation (9) is solvable under the conditions of Theorem 1.7, Birch and Davenport [**30**] proved a theorem that gives the following estimate:

$$0 < |A| x^{2} + |B| y^{2} + |C| z^{2} \le 8 |ABC|.$$

After that, Kneser [133] established a deep result of the form

$$|z| \le k(r)\sqrt{|AB|}$$

where r = lcm(2, ABC) and k(r) < 1 in some cases. Mordell [177] again established an elementary proof of Holzer's estimate in (10) under the above assumptions since he showed that if a solution (x_0, y_0, z_0) exists such that x_0 and y_0 are relatively prime and $|z_0| > \sqrt{|AB|}$, then it is possible to find another solution (x, y, z) with $|z| < |z_0|$. Hence, the estimate in (10) follows. In fact, this argument is not quite complete since he did not prove the constructed integer z is nonzero. Therefore, Williams [258] tried to complete Mordell's proof with removing unnecessary assumptions in which A, B, C being squarefree and pairwise relatively prime by proving the following result:

THEOREM 1.8. If the equation (9) has a solution in rational integers x, y, z, not all zero, where A, B, C are nonzero integers, then there exists a solution of equation (9) satisfying

$$|x| \leq \frac{\sqrt{|BC|}}{(A,B,C)}, \qquad |y| \leq \frac{\sqrt{|AC|}}{(A,B,C)}, \qquad |z| \leq \frac{\sqrt{|AB|}}{(A,B,C)}$$

On the other hand, due to Smith's observation [223] about carrying the conditions in Theorem 1.7 over the case in which the coefficients and unknowns are Gaussian integers, Samet [201] proved a similar theorem of Theorem 1.7 in $\mathbb{Z}[i]$. Furthermore, Leal-Ruperto [143] adapted the proof of Holzer's estimate that was established by Mordell in [177] to prove that if equation (9) in $\mathbb{Z}[i]$, reduced into its normal form, then it has a solution (x, y, z) which satisfies

$$|z| \le \sqrt{(1+\sqrt{2})|AB|}.$$

The latter bound was improved by Santos and Diaz-Vargas [72] by giving a modification of Leal-Ruperto's result [143] where the coefficients and unknowns are in the ring of integers of $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})$ for d = 1, 2, 3, 7, 11. In fact, they proved that if equation (9), in its normal form, has a solution in $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})$ for d = 1, 2, 3, 7, 11 then it has a solution with

$$|z_0| \le \sqrt{\frac{4}{3-d}|AB|}$$
 for $d = 1, 2,$
 $|z_0| \le \sqrt{\frac{16d}{-d^2 + 14d - 1}|AB|}$ for $d = 3, 7, 11.$

If we consider equation (9) with A = B = C = 1 and f(x, y, z) = 3xyz, then we obtain one of the well known Diophantine equations called Markoff equation; that is,

$$x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = 3xyz,$$

which was deeply studied by Markoff (1879, 1880) [160, 161] in case of $x, y, z \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $1 \le x \le y \le z$. A triple (x, y, z) of positive integers that satisfies Markoff equation is called a Markoff triple, and the numbers x, y and z are called Markoff numbers. Markoff showed that there are infinitely many Markoff triples, which can be constructed from one fundamental solution (1, 1, 1). In fact, he gave a procedure to construct new solutions from old ones. In these papers, Markoff numbers have been introduced to describe minimal values of indefinite quadratic forms with exceptionally large minima greater than 1/3 of the square root of the discriminant. He showed that these forms are in one-to-one correspondence with the Markoff triples. More precisely, these numbers of which the first few are

 $1, 2, 5, 13, 29, 34, 89, 169, 194, 233, 433, 610, 985, 1325, 1597, \ldots$

play a role in a famous theorem of Markoff: the $GL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ -equivalence classes of real indefinite binary quadratic forms Q of discriminant 1 for which the invariant

$$\mu(Q) = \{\min |Q(x,y)| : (x,y) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \text{ and } (x,y) \neq (0,0)\} > \frac{1}{3}$$

are in one-to-one correspondence with the Markoff triples. Indeed, the invariant $\mu(Q)$ for the form, that is corresponding to (x, y, z) being $(9-4z^{-2})^{-1/2}$. Thus, the Markoff numbers exactly describe the part of the Markoff spectrum (the set of all $\mu(Q)$) lying above 1/3. An equivalent result is as follows, under the action of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ on $\mathbb{R} \cup \infty$ given by $t \to (at+b)/(ct+d)$, the $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ -equivalence classes of real numbers t for which the approximation measure

$$\mu(t) = \lim_{y \to \infty} \sup \left(y \cdot \min_{x \in \mathbb{Z}} |yt - x| \right) > \frac{1}{3}$$

are in one-to-one correspondence with the Markoff triples. Indeed, the spectrum is being the same as above, namely $\mu(t) = 5^{-1/2}$ with t is equivalent to the golden ratio and $\mu(t) \le 8^{-1/2}$ for all other t (for more details about these equivalent results, see also [264]). Since then, the Markoff numbers are important in both the theory of quadratic forms and in the theory of Diophantine approximation. In 1913, Frobenius [86] gave the following long-standing conjecture:

CONJECTURE 1.9. If (x, y, z) and (x', y', z) are two Markoff triples, where $x \le y \le z$ and $x' \le y' \le z$, then x = x' and y = y'.

This conjecture is called the Markoff numbers unicity conjecture or the Frobenius unicity conjecture and has remained open. The first partial results on this conjecture were settled by Baragar [14] for prime Markoff numbers and by Button [49] and Schmutz [207] for Markoff numbers that are prime powers or two times a prime power. For other results related to this conjecture, see e.g. [53], [138], [229] and the references given there. Other generalizations and studies related to the Markoff equation will be mentioned later with our results concerning this equation in Section 3.2 of Chapter 3.

One of the interesting results related to the Legendre's equation (9) was introduced in 1844 [**52**] by the French and Belgian mathematician Catalan who wrote to Crelle's Journal, a mathematics journal that was founded by the German mathematician Crelle in 1826, the following conjecture:

CONJECTURE 1.10. The equation

$$x^n = y^m + 1 \tag{11}$$

has no nontrivial rational integer solutions other than $(x, y, n, m) = (\pm 3, 2, 2, 3)$ if n, m > 1.

Following this unproved conjecture, Lebesgue [144] proved that the equation

$$x^p = y^2 + 1$$

has no nontrivial solutions in rational integers x, y and p if p is a prime number. Cassels [51] proved that if equation (11) is satisfied, then n|x and m|y, where n and m are prime numbers. On the other hand, Ko [134] showed that if the prime number $q \ge 5$, then equation

$$x^2 = y^q + 1$$

has no nontrivial solutions x and y in rational integers. Tijdeman [247] used Baker's theory in [12], dealing with linear forms in the logarithms of algebraic numbers, to show that there is an effective bound on the size of n and m that satisfy equation (11) such that n and m are prime numbers. There were several mathematicians who intended to prove Catalan's problem using computer technologies, but without any success till 2004 when the Romanian mathematician Mihäilescu [170] gave a complete proof to it using the theory of cyclotomic fields. Indeed, many developments have occurred on Catalan's conjecture, for example the Diophantine equation

$$x^2 + T = y^m,\tag{12}$$

where x, y, T, m are positive integers with m > 2, has been considered and studied in several papers. For instance, Cohn [**59**] studied the integral solutions x, y, m of equation (12) for several values of T in the range $1 \le T \le 100$. Bugeaud, Mignotte and Siksek [**48**] used some modular methods to study the solutions of (12) in the integers x, y, m, and they solved it completely for all values of T between 1 and 100. Tengely [242] computed the solutions of the equations $x^2 + a^2 = y^p$ and $x^2 + a^2 = 2y^p$ in rational integers x, y and a prime number p > 2 for all a in the range $3 \le a \le 501$. Berczes and Pink [20] determined all the solutions of equation (12) in integers x > 0, y > 1, m, kin case of $T = p^{2k}$, where k is a nonnegative integer, p is a prime number in the range of $2 \le p < 100$ and the integers x and y are relatively prime. Soydan [224] studied equation (12) in case of $T = 7^{a_1}11^{a_2}$ and computed all of its the solutions in nonnegative integers $x, y, a_1, a_2, m \ge 3$, where gcd(x, y) = 1 except a_1x and a_2 are odd and even, respectively. For the complete history of Catalan's conjecture and other related developments, see e.g. [38], [168], [192], [208] and the references given there.

One of the most well known generalizations of Fermat's equation, Legendre's equation and Catalan's equation is the following equation, that is known as Fermat-Catalan Diophantine equation. The equation

$$0 = g(x, y, z) \coloneqq A_1 x^a + B_1 y^b + C_1 z^r$$
(13)

in the integers x, y, z, a, b, r, where a, b and r are greater than 1, and A_1, B_1 and C_1 are given integers such that $A_1B_1C_1 \neq 0$. Next, we mention some of the known results related to this equation, starting with the result of Darmon and Granville [67] in which they proved the following:

THEOREM 1.11. For any given integers A_1, B_1, C_1, a, b, r such that $A_1B_1C_1 \neq 0$ and a, b and r greater than 1 satisfying $\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{r} < 1$, equation (13) has only finitely many relatively prime solutions (x, y, z) in integers.

On the other hand, Beukers [22] gave the following theorem:

THEOREM 1.12. For any given integers A_1, B_1, C_1, a, b, r such that $A_1B_1C_1 \neq 0$ and a, b and r greater than 1 satisfying $\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{r} > 1$, equation (13) has either no solution or infinitely many relatively prime integer solutions (x, y, z).

For the remaining case where $\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{r} = 1$, we see an easy calculation gives that the set $\{a, b, r\}$ equals to $\{2, 4, 4\}, \{3, 3, 3\}$ or $\{2, 3, 6\}$. In this case the solution of the equation comes down to the determination of rational points on twists of genus 1 curves over \mathbb{Q} .

Note that if a = b = 2, $C_1 = -1$ and r is odd, then according to Mordell [176, page 111] one can obtain for the equation

$$A_1 x^2 + B_1 y^2 = z^r (14)$$

the following parametrizations for its solutions by putting

$$z = A_1 p^2 + B_1 q^2,$$

where p and q are arbitrary integers, and taking

$$\begin{aligned} &x\sqrt{A_1} + y\sqrt{-B_1} = (p\sqrt{A_1} + q\sqrt{-B_1})^r, \\ &x\sqrt{A_1} - y\sqrt{-B_1} = (p\sqrt{A_1} - q\sqrt{-B_1})^r. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, x and y are expressed as polynomials in p and q. For other developments, generalizations and explicit methods related to Fermat-Catalan equation, see e.g. [18], [24], [79], [84], [92] and the references given there.

1.2.3. Runge type Diophantine equations.

Let G(x, y) = 0 be a binary Diophantine equation that is irreducible in a class including those polynomials in which the leading form of G is not a constant multiple of a power of an irreducible polynomial. In 1887, Runge [200] proved that such an equation G(x, y) = 0 has finitely many solutions. Indeed, from the proof of his method he showed the existence of an effective upper bound for each of the values of |x| and |y|, where x and y represent integral solutions of this equation. In the following we consider one of the most well studied equation of this form, which is the polynomial

$$G(x,y) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_{i,j} x^{i} y^{j}$$

of rational integer coefficients with $\deg_x(G) = m > 0$ and $\deg_y(G) = n > 0$. If G(x, y) is an irreducible polynomial over $\mathbb{Q}[x, y]$, unless the following conditions hold for G, then it is said that G satisfies Runge's condition:

- for all nonzero i and j, $b_{i,n} = b_{m,j} = 0$,
- all the pairs (i, j) in the terms $b_{i,j}x^iy^j$ of the polynomial G satisfy $mn \ge ni + mj$,
- for which nm = ni + mj the sum of all $b_{i,j}x^iy^j$ of G is a constant multiple of a power of an irreducible polynomial in $\mathbb{Z}[x, y]$,
- the algebraic function y = y(x) defined by G(x, y) = 0 has only one system of conjugate Puiseux expansions at $x = \infty$.

Indeed, Runge proved that the equation G(x, y) = 0 has finitely many integral solutions x and y if at least one of the above conditions does not hold. The first effective upper bound of this method was obtained by Hilliker and Straus [114] since they used a quantitative version of Eisenstein's theorem on power series expansions of algebraic functions to show that if $M_1 = \max\{m, n\}$ and $M_2 = \max_{i,j} |a_{i,j}|$, then the solutions of G(x, y) = 0 satisfy

$$\max\{|x|, |y|\} < \begin{cases} 4(1+M_2)^2 & \text{if } M_1 = 1, \\ (8M_1M_2)^{M_1^{2M_1^3}} & \text{if } M_1 > 1. \end{cases}$$

Walsh [253] improved the result of Hilliker and Straus by using the result of Dwork and van der Poorten in [77] to Runge's method. In fact, he modified the result of Hilliker and Straus by removing of the double exponential in M_1 with the following result: THEOREM 1.13. If G(x, y) satisfies Runge's Condition, then all solutions $(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ of the Diophantine equation G(x, y) = 0 satisfy

 $\max\{|x|, |y|\} < (2M_1)^{18M_1^7} M_2^{12M_1^6}.$

Applying the Skolem's method in [219] based on using the elimination theory, upper bounds for the integral solutions of G(x, y) = 0 were obtained by Grytczuk and Schinzel [97]. Using the transcendental construction by algebraic functions, Laurent and Poulakis [142] extended Walsh's result, which was applied on the field of rational numbers, to the algebraic number fields in which they obtained an effective version of Runge's result in the context of interpolation determinants. Unfortunately, all of these bounds, that have been obtained are usually large to examine all the possibilities for the integral solutions of G(x, y) = 0. Beukers and Tengely [23] suggested a practical algorithm for determining the solutions if the coefficients and deg_x(G) and deg_y(G) are not too large. Szalay [237] extended the version of Runge's method given by Poulakis in [189] who provided a method to solve an equation of the form $y^2 = g(x)$, where g(x) is a degree four polynomial with integer coefficients and nonzero discriminant, to solve completely certain Diophantine equations of the form

$$H(x,y) = z^2$$

in integers x, y and z such that

$$H(x,y) = \sum_{i+j \le 4} b_{i,j} x^i y^j$$

is a nonhomogeneous polynomial with rational integer coefficients and satisfies some technical conditions. Furthermore, many refinements, developments and generalizations related to Runge's idea have been presented by several authors, see e.g. [28], [102], [234], [235], [241] and the references given there.

1.2.4. Thue and superelliptic type Diophantine equations.

One of the most known general results in the theory of Diophantine equation was obtained in 1909 by Thue [246] who proved that the equation

$$F(x,y) = m_1,\tag{15}$$

where $F(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}[x, y]$ is an irreducible homogeneous polynomial of degree d > 2and m_1 is a nonzero rational integer, admits at most a finite number of solutions in rational integers x and y. This is called Thue's theorem.

On the other hand, the Diophantine equation

$$F(x) := a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \ldots + a_n = y^{m_2} \quad \text{in } x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(16)

is called hyperelliptic equation if $m_2 = 2$, otherwise it is called superelliptic equation. In 1926, Siegel [215] proved that if $m_2 = 2$ and F(x) has at least three simple roots, then equation (16) has only a finite number of solutions in rational integers. Furthermore, he showed using the same method that if $m_2 > 2$ and F(x) has at least two simple roots, then equation (16) has a finite number of rational integer solutions.

Moreover, if F(x, y) is an absolutely irreducible polynomial with rational integer coefficients such that F(x, y) = 0 represents a curve, which has a component of genus 0, Siegel [216] showed this equation has infinitely many integral solutions. In other words, if the algebraic curve defined by (16) is of genus > 0, then the number of the integral points on that curve is finite. We refer to this result by the Thue-Siegel's theorem. The latter Siegel's result was extended by Mahler [159] in which he conjectured that a similar statement holds for points having only a finite number of primes in their denominators and proved this conjecture for curves of genus 1 over the rationals \mathbb{Q} by his *p*-adic analogue of the Thue-Siegel's theorem. Independently, Lang [139] and LeVeque [147] established the *p*-adic analogue of this theorem to prove that equation (16) has only finitely many *S*-integral solutions. Furthermore, in order to have the algebraic curve defined by equation (16) with positive genus, LeVeque [148] gave a necessary and sufficient condition for that. All of these results are based on Thue's method, and hence are ineffective since their proofs do not provide any algorithm for finding the solutions.

On the other hand, in the 1960's Baker [7, 10] gave a nontrivial effective lower bound for the linear forms of logarithms

$$\Lambda = b_1 \log a_1 + b_2 \log a_2 + \ldots + b_m \log a_m,$$

where $m \in \mathbb{Z}, m > 0, b_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ for i = 1, ..., m and $a_1, a_2, ..., a_m$ are any algebraic numbers that are not 0 or 1, and log denotes fixed determination of the logarithmic function. Therefore, by using his estimates, Baker [8] gave an effective proof of Thue's theorem and provided an algorithm for the complete solutions of (15), which is stated in the following theorem:

THEOREM 1.14. All the integral solutions x and y of the Thue equation (15), under its conditions with $d < C_2 - 1$, satisfy

$$\max(|x|, |y|) < C_1 \exp\{(\log m_1)^{C_2}\},\$$

where C_1 is computed effectively depending only on the values of d, C_2 and the coefficients of F(x, y).

As applications of this method, Baker [9, 11] extended the result that he established on the Diophantine equation

$$y^2 = ax^3 + bx^2 + cx + d$$

to the class of the Diophantine equations of the form (16) as stated in the following theorems:

THEOREM 1.15. If $m_2 > 2$, n > 2, $a_0 \neq 0, a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n \in \mathbb{Z}$, and the polynomial on the left hand side of the superelliptic equation of (16) has at least two simple roots,

then all the integral solutions x and y of equation (16) satisfy

$$\max(|x|, |y|) < \exp \exp\{(5m_2)^{10} (n^{10n} H)^{n^2}\},\$$

where $H = \{ \max | a_j | : for all j = 0, ..., n \}.$

THEOREM 1.16. If $m_2 = 2$ and the polynomial on the left hand side of the hyperelliptic equation of (16) has at least three simple roots, then all the integral solutions x and y of equation (16) satisfy

$$\max(|x|, |y|) < \exp \exp \exp \{(n^{10n}H)^{n^2}\}.$$

In the 1970's Baker's estimates were improved by Sprindžuk [225, 226, 227] whose results were also generalized to the S-integral solutions of (16) by Trelina [248]. Using the mentioned results of Baker and LeVeque; Györy, Tijdeman and Voorhoeve [100, 101] proved finiteness results concerning some exponential Diophantine equations. But, due to the ineffective character of LeVeque's theorem, their earlier result in [100] is ineffective. Five years later, Brindza [37] improved the latter result to be effective. Moreover, Baker's bounds have also been improved and generalized by several authors, including Shorey and Tijdeman [214], Bugeaud [42], Hajdu and Herendi [103]. In fact, the best known bounds concerning the solutions of elliptic equations over \mathbb{Q} are due to Hajdu and Herendi [103] in 1998. For other improvements and applications of Baker's method on other types of Diophantine equations, see e.g. [25], [29], [99], [188], [206], [228], [251] and the references given there.

In the following section, we recall some important concepts and notations related to the subject of linear recurrence sequences, that will be used throughout the dissertation. Then we recite some recent results related to the solutions of some Diophantine equations concerning particular linear recurrence sequences.

1.3. Diophantine properties of linear recursive sequences

1.3.1. Background and notations.

The linear recurrences have an ancient history in Number Theory especially in the study of particular Diophantine equations. In fact, they have been widely studied for their own sake and also as auxiliary tools toward other Diophantine problems. A sequence $(G_n)_{n\geq 0} \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ (it is also denoted by $\{G_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ or simply $\{G_n\}$) is called a linear recurrence relation of order k if the recurrence

$$G_{n+k} = a_1 G_{n+k-1} + a_2 G_{n+k-2} + \ldots + a_k G_n + f(n)$$

holds for all $n \ge 0$ with the coefficients $a_1, a_2, \ldots, (a_k \ne 0) \in \mathbb{C}$ and f(n) a function depending on n only. If f(n) = 0 such a recurrence relation is called homogeneous, otherwise it is called nonhomogeneous.

For the homogeneous recurrence relation, the polynomial

$$F(X) = X^{k} - a_{1}X^{k-1} - \ldots - a_{k} = \prod_{i=1}^{s} (X - \alpha_{i})^{r_{i}} \in \mathbb{C}[X],$$

where $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_s$ and r_1, r_2, \ldots, r_s are respectively the distinct roots of F(X) and their corresponding multiplicities, is called the characteristic polynomial of $(G_n)_{n\geq 0}$. Thus, if $F(X) \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ has k distinct roots, then there exist constants $c_1, c_2, \ldots, c_k \in \mathbb{Q}(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_k)$ such that

$$G_n = \sum_{i=1}^k c_i \alpha_i^n$$

holds for all the nonnegative values of n. This sequence is called a non-degenerate sequence if none of the quotients α_i/α_j $(1 \le i < j \le s)$ is a root of unity. If k = 3, then the sequence is called a ternary linear recurrence sequence. Most of the well known ternary linear recurrence sequences are the Tribonacci sequence and Berstel's sequence, that are given by

$$T_0 = T_1 = 0, T_2 = 1, \quad T_{n+3} = T_{n+2} + T_{n+1} + T_n$$
 for $n \ge 0$, (17)

$$B_0 = B_1 = 0, B_2 = 1, \quad B_{n+3} = 2B_{n+2} - 4B_{n+1} + 4B_n \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 0, \tag{18}$$

respectively. On the other hand, if k = 2 and a_1 and a_2 are nonzero integers such that $a_1^2 + 4a_2 \neq 0$, then $(G_n)_{n \ge 0}$ represents a binary recurrence sequence whose characteristic polynomial is

$$F(X) = X^2 - a_1 X - a_2 = (X - \alpha_1)(X - \alpha_2),$$

with $\alpha_1 \neq \alpha_2$. Again, this sequence is called a non-degenerate sequence if $c_1c_2\alpha_1\alpha_2 \neq 0$ and the ratio $\frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_2}$ is not a root of unity. Since a major part of our main results will be mainly depending on considering special non-degenerate binary linear recurrence sequences, let us define these sequences in a more precise and detailed way. Let P and Q be nonzero relatively prime integers and $D = P^2 - 4Q$ be called the discriminant. Let $U_n = U_n(P,Q)$ and $V_n = V_n(P,Q)$ be defined by the following recurrence relations with their initials:

$$U_0 = 0, U_1 = 1, \quad U_n = PU_{n-1} - QU_{n-2} \quad \text{for} \quad n \ge 2,$$
 (19)

$$V_0 = 2, V_1 = P, \quad V_n = PV_{n-1} - QV_{n-2} \quad \text{for} \quad n \ge 2,$$
 (20)

respectively. Therefore, the characteristic polynomial of the recurrences is given by

$$X^2 - PX + Q,$$

which has the roots

$$\alpha = \frac{P + \sqrt{D}}{2}$$
 and $\beta = \frac{P - \sqrt{D}}{2}$,

with $\alpha \neq \beta, \alpha + \beta = P, \alpha \cdot \beta = Q$ and $(\alpha - \beta)^2 = D$. The sequences $\{U_n\}$ and $\{V_n\}$ are called the (first and second kind) Lucas sequences with the parameters (P, Q), respectively. Moreover, $\{U_n\}$ is also called Lucas sequence and $\{V_n\}$ is called the

associated Lucas sequence or the companion Lucas sequence. Sometimes these sequences are both called Lucas sequences, and the numbers in them are the generalized Lucas numbers. The terms of the Lucas sequences of the first and second kind satisfy the identity

$$V_n^2 = DU_n^2 + 4Q^n.$$
 (21)

Furthermore, the Lucas sequences of the first and second kind can be respectively written by the following formulas that are known as Binet's formulas:

$$U_n = \frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\alpha - \beta}$$
 and $V_n = \alpha^n + \beta^n$ for $n \ge 0$. (22)

As mentioned earlier, if the ratio $\zeta = \frac{\alpha}{\beta}$ is a root of unity, then the sequences $\{U_n\}$ and $\{V_n\}$ are said to be degenerate, and non-degenerate otherwise. Describing all of the degenerate Lucas sequences of first and second kind follows from the fact that

$$\left|\zeta+\zeta^{-1}\right| = \left|\frac{\alpha}{\beta}+\frac{\beta}{\alpha}\right| \le 2.$$

Since $\frac{\alpha}{\beta} + \frac{\beta}{\alpha} = \frac{P^2 - 2Q}{Q}$, it follows that $P^2 - 2Q = 0, \pm Q, \pm 2Q$. This implies that $P^2 = Q$, 2Q, 3Q, 4Q. Since gcd(P,Q) = 1, we have (P,Q) = (1,1), (-1,1), (2,1) or (-2,1). Therefore, if D = 0 or D = -3, then the sequence is degenerate. For more details about the degenerate and non-degenerate Lucas sequences of the first and second kind and the proof of Binet's formulas, see e.g. (Chapter 1 in [**193**]). Most of the well known and interesting Lucas sequences of the first and second kind are the sequences of the Fibonacci numbers, Pell numbers, Lucas numbers, Pell-Lucas numbers, Jacobsthal numbers, Jacobsthal-Lucas numbers, balancing numbers and companion balancing numbers, which are respectively given by

$$F_0 = 0, F_1 = 1, \quad F_n = F_{n-1} + F_{n-2}$$
 for $n \ge 2,$ (23)

$$P_0 = 0, P_1 = 1, P_n = 2P_{n-1} + P_{n-2}$$
 for $n \ge 2$, (24)

$$L_0 = 2, L_1 = 1, \quad L_n = L_{n-1} + L_{n-2}$$
 for $n \ge 2,$ (25)

$$Q_0 = 2, Q_1 = 2, \quad Q_n = 2Q_{n-1} + Q_{n-2}$$
 for $n \ge 2,$ (26)

$$J_0 = 0, J_1 = 1, \quad J_n = J_{n-1} + 2J_{n-2}$$
 for $n \ge 2$, (27)

$$j_0 = 2, j_1 = 1, \quad j_n = j_{n-1} + 2j_{n-2}$$
 for $n \ge 2$, (28)

$$B_0 = 0, B_1 = 1, \quad B_n = 6B_{n-1} - B_{n-2} \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 2, \tag{29}$$

$$b_0 = 2, b_1 = 6, \quad b_n = 6b_{n-1} - b_{n-2}$$
 for $n \ge 2.$ (30)

Therefore, the Binet's formulas for these eight sequences are given as follows

$$F_n = \frac{\alpha_1^n - \beta_1^n}{\alpha_1 - \beta_1} \quad \text{and} \quad L_n = \alpha_1^n + \beta_1^n \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 0, \tag{31}$$

$$P_n = \frac{\alpha_2^n - \beta_2^n}{\alpha_2 - \beta_2} \quad \text{and} \quad Q_n = \alpha_2^n + \beta_2^n \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 0, \tag{32}$$

$$J_n = \frac{\alpha_3^n - \beta_3^n}{\alpha_3 - \beta_3} \quad \text{and} \quad j_n = \alpha_3^n + \beta_3^n \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 0,$$
(33)

$$B_n = \frac{\alpha_4^n - \beta_4^n}{\alpha_4 - \beta_4} \quad \text{and} \quad b_n = \alpha_4^n + \beta_4^n \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 0, \tag{34}$$

where
$$(\alpha_1, \beta_1) = (\frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}, \frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2}), (\alpha_2, \beta_2) = (1+\sqrt{2}, 1-\sqrt{2}), (\alpha_3, \beta_3) = (2, -1)$$
 and $(\alpha_4, \beta_4) = (3+2\sqrt{2}, 3-2\sqrt{2}).$

Furthermore, based on the above Binet's formulas one can easily show that

$$\alpha_1^{n-2} \le F_n \le \alpha_1^{n-1} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \alpha_1^{n-1} \le L_n \le \alpha_1^{n+1} \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 1,$$
(35)
$$\alpha_2^{n-2} \le P_n \le \alpha_2^{n-1} \qquad \text{and} \quad \alpha_2^{n-1} \le Q_n \le \alpha_2^{n+1} \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 1,$$
(36)
$$\alpha_2^{n-1} \qquad \alpha_2^{n-1} \le Q_n \le \alpha_2^{n-1} \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 1,$$
(36)

$$\frac{\alpha_3}{3} \le J_n \le \alpha_3^{n-1} \qquad \text{and} \quad \alpha_3^n - 1 \le j_n \le \alpha_3^n + 1 \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 1, \tag{37}$$

$$\alpha_4^{n-1} \le B_n \le \alpha_4^n \qquad \text{and} \qquad \alpha_4^n - 1 \le b_n \le \alpha_4^n + 1 \qquad \text{for} \quad n \ge 1.$$
(38)

Historically, the study of Lucas sequences goes back to the *XIIIth* century. For instance, the Fibonacci numbers were first introduced in 1202 by the Italian mathematician Fibonacci who was also known as Leonardo of Pisa in his book Liber abaci concerning the reproduction patterns of rabbits. So the sequence of Fibonacci numbers appeared in the solution of the following rabbits' problem:

" SUPPOSE WE HAVE A PAIR OF EARLY BORN RABBITS AND AFTER THEY GET MATURED, THEY BEGET EVERY MONTH A NEW PAIR OF RABBITS THAT BECOMES PRODUCTIVE AT THE AGE OF TWO MONTHS. HOW MANY PAIRS OF RABBITS CAN BE PRODUCED IN A YEAR IF WE ASSUME THAT THE RABBITS NEVER DIE ? "

Since that time till our days many mathematicians have studied and investigated the Fibonacci sequence, which appears in several areas of life and sciences. For example, the Fibonacci sequence has many connections and applications in music, architecture, painting, chemistry, medical sciences, geography and physics; see e.g. Lowman [150], Preziosi [190], Hedian [111], Wlodarski [260], Hung, Shannon and Thornton [121], Sharp [210] and Davis [68], respectively.

On the other hand, the first significant work on the subject is by Lucas with his seminal paper of 1878. Subsequently, many papers appeared related to prime divisions of special sequences of binomials. A prime number p is called a primitive divisor of the Lucas number U_n if p divides U_n but it does not divide $(\alpha - \beta)^2 U_1 \dots U_{n-1}$, where α and β are the roots of the characteristic polynomial of the Lucas sequences. The first general result about the existence of the primitive divisors goes back to the early of 1892 due to the work of Zsigmondy [**265**] when he proved that for all n > 6, U_n has a primitive divisor in case of $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}$. Independently, after 12 years later, this result rediscovered by Birkhoff and Vandiver [**31**]. In case of $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, the same result was obtained by Carmichael [**50**]. Moreover, Schinzel [**203**] proved that if $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\frac{\alpha}{\beta}$ is not a root of unity and if n is sufficiently large, then the n^{th} term in the associated Lucas sequence has a primitive divisor. Stewart [**232**] showed that if n = 5 or n > 6, then there are only finitely many Lucas sequences that do not have a primitive divisor. Following the prior works of Schinzel and Stewart; Bilu, Hanrot and Voutier [26] finished off the case when the roots $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\alpha, \beta \notin \mathbb{R}$.

Many of the mentioned results related to the primitive divisor of the Lucas sequence extended to a known general version of the Lucas sequence that is called a Lehmer sequence, which is defined as the following: Let a_1 and a_2 be nonzero relatively prime integers, and let α and β be the roots of the equation

$$x^2 - \sqrt{a_1}x - a_2 = 0$$

with $\frac{\alpha}{\beta}$ is not a root of unity. Then the Lehmer sequence $(W_n)_{n\geq 0}$ is defined by

$$W_n = \begin{cases} \frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\alpha - \beta} & \text{if } n \text{ is odd,} \\\\ \frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\alpha^2 - \beta^2} & \text{if } n \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$

A prime number p is called a primitive divisor of a Lehmer number W_n if p divides W_n but it does not divide $(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)^2 W_1 \dots W_{n-1}$. There are many related results to the Lehmer sequence. For instance, Ward [254] extended the result of Carmichael [50] to the Lehmer sequence in case of $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$. Bilu, Hanrot and Voutier [26] also dealt with the case where the roots α, β are complex but not real.

For other developments, generalizations and applications related to the primitive divisors of Lucas and Lehmer sequences, see e.g. [152], [154], [252], [263] and the references given there.

1.3.2. Historical survey.

Several authors have studied the solutions of different types of Diophantine equations related to linear recurrence sequences. For instance, consider the mixed exponential-polynomial Diophantine equation

$$G_n = P(x), \tag{39}$$

where G_n denotes the n^{th} (or general) term of a linear recurrence sequence and $P(x) \in \mathbb{Z}[x]$ is a polynomial of degree d > 1. Many authors have investigated the integral solutions (n, x) of equation (39) by obtaining an upper bound for the number of solutions, proving that the number of solutions is finite or using some techniques to solve such a problem completely. However, there are not many methods that prove the completeness of the set of the solutions of this problem.

In case of the polynomial P(x) = 0, several authors proved the finiteness of the number of the solutions of equation (39) such as Evertse [80] and Schlickewei and van der Poorten [250] in which they proved some related general finiteness results for such equations. Also, Schlickewei [204] gave an upper bound for the number of solutions of equation (39). For other results related to this case, see e.g. [81], [141], [152], [205] and the references given there.

On the other hand, the case of $P(x) \neq 0$ has been widely investigated by many mathematicians since ancient times. The following problem is one of the historical

problems of the form (39) in which $P(x) \neq 0$, which was posed in 1963 by both Moser and Carlitz [178], and Rollett [197]. In the Fibonacci sequence $\{F_n\}$: "Are there any squares other than $F_0 = 0$, $F_1 = F_2 = 1$ and $F_{12} = 144$?" The first result was obtained by Wunderlich [261] using a sieving procedure to prove that the only squares among the first one million Fibonacci numbers are 0, 1 and 144. Independently, Cohn [56, 57] and Wyler [262] used elementary methods to prove that the only squares in the sequence of Fibonacci numbers are $F_0 = 0, F_1 = F_2 = 1$ and $F_{12} = 144$. Furthermore, by using Wunderlich's technique with an upper bound for the possible solution obtained using a lower bound for linear forms in logarithms of algebraic numbers, Pethö [183] proved that the only cubes in the sequence of Fibonacci numbers are $F_0 = 0$, $F_1 = F_2 = 1$ and $F_6 = 8$. Later in [184], he proved that only $F_0 = 0$ and $F_1 = F_2 = 1$ are the fifth power Fibonacci numbers. Bugeaud, Mignotte and Siksek [48] proved that the only perfect powers in the Fibonacci sequence are $F_0 = 0, F_1 =$ $F_2 = 1, F_6 = 8$ and $F_{12} = 144$, and the only perfect powers in the Lucas sequence are $L_1 = 1$ and $L_3 = 4$ by applying a combination of classical techniques with the modular approach to solve the following pair of equations:

$$F_n = y^p$$
, $n \ge 0$ and p is prime,

and

$$L_n = y^p, \quad n \ge 0 \text{ and } p \text{ is prime.}$$

The former equation was generalized by Bugeaud, Luca and others [45] where they solved the equation $F_n \pm 1 = y^p$ completely in nonnegative integer solutions (n, y, p), where $p \ge 2$.

Using Cohn's idea in [56, 57], Ribenboim and McDaniel [195] determined all the indices n in which each of $U_n(P,Q), 2U_n(P,Q), V_n(P,Q)$ or $2V_n(P,Q)$ is a square with odd relatively prime parameters P and Q. This result was extended by Mignotte and Pethö [169] since they proved that if $P \ge 3$ and Q = 1, then the equation $U_n(P,1) = \Box$ has the solutions (P,n) = (338,4) or (3,6) for all $n \ge 3$. In case of $P \ge 4$ and Q = 1, they showed that the equation $U_n(P,1) = d\Box$ with d = 2,3 or 6 has no solution for all $n \ge 4$. Nakamula and Pethö [179] determined the solutions of the equation $U_n(P,-1) = d\Box$ with d = 1,2,3 or 6. Karaatli [127] determined the solutions of the equation $V_n(P,Q) = 7kx^2$ for all odd relatively prime values of Pand Q such that P is divisible by k.

Furthermore, when P is odd Cohn [58] studied the solutions of the Diophantine equations $V_n(P,Q) = V_m(P,Q)x^2$ and $V_n(P,Q) = 2V_m(P,Q)x^2$. Moreover, the Diophantine equations $F_n = 2F_mx^2$, $L_n = 2L_mx^2$, $F_n = 3F_mx^2$, $F_n = 6F_mx^2$ and $L_n = 6L_mx^2$ were solved completely by Keskin and Yosma [130]. Assuming that Q = -1 and P is odd, Şiar and Keskin [63] solved the equation $V_n(P,-1) = kx^2$ in case of k divides P. They also showed that the equations $V_n(P,-1) = 3x^2$ for $n \ge 3$ and $V_n(P,-1) = 6x^2$ have no solutions. Furthermore, under these assumptions they determined the solutions of the equations $V_n(P,-1) = 3V_m(P,-1)x^2$

and $V_n(P,-1) = 6V_m(P,-1)x^2$. They also found all of the solutions of the equations $V_n(P,-1) = 3x^2$ and $V_n(P,-1) = 3V_m(P,-1)x^2$ for which P is even. Keskin and Karaatli [129] studied the solutions of the equations $U_n(P,-1) = 5x^2$ and $U_n(P,-1) = 5U_m(P,-1)x^2$ for some assumptions on P. Indeed, if P is odd, they proved that the equation $V_n(P,-1) = 5x^2$ is solvable only when n = 1 while the equation $V_n(P,-1) = 5V_m(P,-1)x^2$ is unsolvable. For other results related to such problems, see e.g. [3], [47], [54], [61], [98], [152] and the references given there.

Other types of the Diophantine equations related to linear recurrence sequences were investigated by other authors. For instance, Ribenboim and McDaniel studied the following type of problems. Let $\{u_n\}$ be a second order linear recursive sequence. The terms u_n and u_m are said to be in the same square-class if there exists a nonzero integer x such that

$$u_n u_m = x^2$$

A square-class is called nontrivial if it contains more than one term of the sequence. Otherwise, it is trivial. Ribenboim [191] showed that if $m \neq 1, 2, 3, 6$ or 12, then the square-class of a Fibonacci number F_m is trivial, which means the equation $F_m F_h = x^2$ has no solution in nonzero rational integers x and h such that $h \neq m$. Furthermore, he proved that the square-class of a Lucas number L_m is trivial if $m \neq 0, 1, 3$ or 6. These results were extended by Ribenboim and McDaniel for more general sequences, i.e. the first and second kind Lucas sequences. If P and Q are odd relatively prime integers and $D = P^2 - 4Q > 0$, in [194] they showed that each square-class of each sequence is finite, and it can be computed effectively. Also, in [167] they proved that there are finitely many nontrivial square-classes in $\{U_n(P,Q)\}$ and $\{V_n(P,Q)\}$ and no class contains more than three elements. In fact, they determine the integral solutions m and n of the equations $U_m(P,Q)U_n(P,Q) = x^2$ and $V_m(P,Q)V_n(P,Q) = x^2$ in case of $1 \le m < n$ and $n \ne 3m$. Moreover, they showed that there exists a constant C such that m < C, which can be computed effectively in case of n = 3m for m > 1 and $U_m(P,Q)U_n(P,Q) = x^2$ and $V_m(P,Q)V_n(P,Q) = x^2$. If |Q+1| < P, they proved that no additional square-classes exist when n = 3m. For more related results, see e.g. [64], [132], [158] and the references given there.

In addition to the above mentioned problems, the Diophantine triples and reduced quadruples concerning linear recurrence sequences are very important and investigated problems that have a rich history. A Diophantine *m*-tuple is a set $\{a_1, a_2, ..., a_m\}$ of positive integers such that $a_i a_j + 1$ is a square for all $1 \le i < j \le m$. Historically, after Fermat found the integer quadruple $\{1,3,8,120\}$, Diophantus found the rational quadruple $\{1/16, 33/16, 17/4, 105/16\}$. Indeed, it is clear that there are infinitely many Diophantine quadruples of integers. Dujella [75] proved that there is no Diophantine sextuple, but there are finitely many Diophantine quadruples, which can be computed effectively. There have been some generalizations of this problem appearing in several papers. For instance, replacing the squares by higher powers of fixed or variable exponents was considered by Bugeaud and Dujella in [43], Bugeaud

and Gyarmati in [44] and Luca in [153]; or replacing the squares by members of nondegenerate binary recurrences by Fuchs, Luca and Szalay in [90]. Moreover, Luca and Szalay [156] proved that there are no Diophantine triples (a, b, c) for which the components a, b and c are distinct positive integers with ab + 1, ac + 1 and bc + 1present all three members of values in the Fibonacci sequence $(F_n)_{n\geq 0}$. Furthermore, they [157] showed that (a, b, c) = (1, 2, 3) is the only Diophantine triple with values in the Lucas companion $(L_n)_{n\geq 0}$ of the Fibonacci sequence. Ruiz and Luca [93] generalized the latter results in case of the Tribonacci sequence $(T_n)_{n\geq 0}$. In fact, they proved that there exist no positive integers $a_1 < a_2 < a_3 < a_4$ such that $a_i a_j + 1 = T_{n_{i,j}}$ with $1 \le i < j \le 4$, for some positive integers $n_{i,j}$. For more related results, see e.g. [87], [88], [238] and the references given there.

For other types of Diophantine equation problems related to linear recurrences, see e.g. [19], [21], [27], [34], [89], [131], [162], [185], [186], [187], [213] and the references given there.

1.4. Summary of new results and plan of the dissertation

It is often that, with the currently available methods, we are unable to completely solve the problems of Diophantine equations concerning linear recurrence sequences. In fact, we are usually able to obtain an upper bound for the number of solutions or to prove the finiteness of the number of solutions. Therefore, in this dissertation we investigate the solutions of some well known Diophantine equations connected to some linear recurrence sequences using smooth techniques with which we show whether or not such special solutions exist and then determine the complete set of solutions. The literature of the investigated problems will be mentioned together with our main results. We also remark that regarding the notations and preliminaries of the linear recurrence sequences, that will appear latter in the following two chapters, we use the same ones presented in Section 1.3 of Chapter 1.

In Chapter 2, we respectively study the integral solutions of some Diophantine equations related to reciprocals and repdigits with linear recurrence sequences. This chapter contains two sections. In the first section, we provide results for the solutions of the following Diophantine equations:

• equations of the form

$$\frac{1}{U_n(P_2,Q_2)} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1,Q_1)}{x^k},$$

where the sequence $\{U_n(P,Q)\}$ represents the Lucas sequence of the first kind with certain pairs (P,Q) such that $(P_1,Q_1) \neq (P_2,Q_2)$.

• equations of the form

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P,Q)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{R_{k-1}}{y^k},$$

with some pairs (P, Q), and the sequence $\{R_n\}$ is a ternary linear recurrence sequence represented by the Tribonacci sequence $\{T_n\}$ or Berstel's sequence $\{B_n\}$.

• equations of the form

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1, Q_1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_2, Q_2)}{y^k},$$

where the pairs $(P_1, Q_1) \neq (P_2, Q_2)$.

• equations of the form

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(a_2, a_1, a_0)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(b_2, b_1, b_0)}{y^k}$$

where the triples $(a_2, a_1, a_0) \neq (b_2, b_1, b_0)$ and T_n denotes the general term of the generalized Tribonacci sequence that is given by

$$T_0(p,q,r) = T_1(p,q,r) = 0, T_2(p,q,r) = 1 \text{ and}$$
$$T_n(p,q,r) = pT_{n-1}(p,q,r) + qT_{n-2}(p,q,r) + rT_{n-3}(p,q,r),$$
for $n \ge 3$.

In the second section, we firstly give a finiteness result for the solutions of the Diophantine equation

$$G_n = B \cdot \Big(\frac{g^{lm} - 1}{g^l - 1}\Big),$$

where $(G_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is an integer linear recurrence sequence represented by the Lucas sequence of the first kind $\{U_n(P,Q)\}$ or of the second kind $\{V_n(P,Q)\}$ (in case of $Q = \pm 1$) and $n, m, g, l, B \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ such that m, g > 1, l is even and $1 \leq B \leq g^l - 1$. Then we apply this result on some binary recurrence sequences, e.g. the sequences of Fibonacci numbers $\{F_n\}$ and Pell numbers $\{P_n\}$, to solve such equations completely. Furthermore, with the first application we determine all the solutions (n, m, g, B, l) of the equation $F_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^{lm}-1}{g^l-1}\right)$, where $2 \leq g \leq 9$ and l = 1.

In Chapter 3, we investigate the solutions of some Diophantine equations of the form $G(X, Y, Z) := AX^2 + BY^r + CZ^2$ (that have infinitely many solutions in rational integers) from particular linear recurrence sequences for certain nonzero integers A, B, C and r. This chapter consists of two sections in which we respectively study the solutions of such equations in case of G(X, Y, Z) = 0 and in case of $G(X, Y, Z) \neq 0$. In the first section, we present a technique with which we can investigate the nontrivial integer solutions (X, Y, Z) of any equation, that satisfies some conditions, of the form

$$AX^2 + Y^r = C'Z^2$$

for certain nonzero integers A, C' and r with r > 1 is odd and $(X, Y) = (L_n, F_n)$ (or $(X, Y) = (F_n, L_n)$), where F_n and L_n denote the general terms of the sequences of Fibonacci numbers and Lucas numbers, respectively. More precisely, we represent the procedure of this technique in case of (A, C', r) = (7, 1, 7). In the other section, we provide a technique for studying the solutions of some generalizations of Markoff equation from certain binary linear recurrence sequences. This section contains two subsections. In the first subsection, we determine all the solutions $(X, Y, Z) = (F_I, F_J, F_K)$, where F_I, F_J and F_K represent nonzero Fibonacci numbers satisfying a generalization of the Markoff equation called the Jin-Schmidt equation; that is,

$$AX^2 + BY^2 + CZ^2 = DXYZ + 1,$$

where $(A, B, C, D) \in S$, with

$$S = \{(2,2,3,6), (2,1,2,2), (7,2,14,14), (3,1,6,6), (6,10,15,30), (5,1,5,5)\}.$$

In the other one, we consider the generalized Lucas number solutions of another generalization of the Markoff equation called the Markoff-Rosenberger equation, that has the form

$$ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz,$$

where $(a, b, c, d) \in T$ such that

 $T = \{(1,1,1,1), (1,1,1,3), (1,1,2,2), (1,1,2,4), (1,1,5,5), (1,2,3,6)\}.$

In other words, we give results for the solutions $(x, y, z) = (R_i, R_j, R_k)$, where R_i denotes the i^{th} generalized Lucas number of first/second kind, i.e. $R_i = U_i$ or V_i . Furthermore, we apply the results to completely resolve concrete equations, e.g. we determine solutions containing only balancing numbers B_n and Jacobsthal numbers J_n , respectively.

The results of this dissertation have been published in the papers [104, 105, 106, 107] and accepted for publication in the papers [108, Mathematica Bohemica journal] and [110, Periodica Mathematica Hungarica journal]. As one can see, the main theme of our theorems is Diophantine equations involving linear recurrences sequences. We also note that we have a different result in [109] (that is accepted for publication in the journal "Rad HAZU, Matematičke znanosti") in which we use the frequency analysis technique to break a public key cryptosystem called ITRU, which is a variant of NTRU (N^{th} Degree Truncated Polynomial Ring) cryptosystem. However, to keep the presentation coherent, this result is not included in this dissertation.
CHAPTER 2

Diophantine equations related to reciprocals and repdigits with linear recurrence sequences

2.1. Diophantine equations related to reciprocals of linear recurrence sequences

Suppose that P and Q are nonzero relatively prime integers and $\{U_n(P,Q)\}$ and $\{V_n(P,Q)\}$ represent the Lucas sequences of the first and second kind, which are defined by (19) and (20), respectively. The study of the representations of reciprocals of Lucas sequences has been of interest to many mathematicians, and in the following we mention some of the related results. In 1953, Stancliff [230] noted an interesting property of the Fibonacci number $F_{11} = 89$ in the the Fibonacci sequence $\{F_n\} = \{U_n(1,-1)\}$, namely

$$\frac{1}{F_{11}} = \frac{1}{89} = 0.0112358\ldots = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{F_k}{10^{k+1}}.$$

In 1980, Winans [259] studied the related sums

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{F_{\alpha k}}{10^{k+1}}$$

for certain values of α . In 1981, Hudson and Winans [120] characterized all decimal fractions that can be approximated by sums of the type

$$\frac{1}{F_{\alpha}}\sum_{k=1}^{n}\frac{F_{\alpha k}}{10^{l(k+1)}}, \quad \alpha, l \ge 1.$$

In the same year, Long [149] obtained a general identity for binary recurrence sequences from which one obtains e.g.

$$\frac{1}{109} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{F_k}{(-10)^{k+1}}, \qquad \frac{1}{10099} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{F_k}{(-100)^{k+1}}.$$

In 1995, in case of the equation

$$\frac{1}{U_n(P,Q)} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P,Q)}{x^k},$$

De Weger [70] determined all $x \ge 2$ in case of (P,Q) = (1,-1). The solutions are as follows

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{F_1} &= \frac{1}{F_2} = \frac{1}{1} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{F_{k-1}}{2^k}, \qquad \frac{1}{F_5} = \frac{1}{5} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{F_{k-1}}{3^k}, \\ \frac{1}{F_{10}} &= \frac{1}{55} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{F_{k-1}}{8^k}, \qquad \frac{1}{F_{11}} = \frac{1}{89} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{F_{k-1}}{10^k}. \end{aligned}$$

In 2009, Ohtsuka and Nakamura [181] proved that

$$\left[\left(\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \frac{1}{F_k} \right)^{-1} \right] = \begin{cases} F_{n-2} & \text{if } n \ge 2 \text{ is even,} \\ F_{n-2} - 1 & \text{if } n \ge 1 \text{ is odd,} \end{cases}$$

where $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$ denotes the floor function. This result has been investigated by several other mathematicians, see e.g. [116] and [136]. The above De Weger's result in [70] was extended in 2015 by Tengely [243] in which he obtained e.g.

$$\frac{1}{U_{10}} = \frac{1}{416020} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}}{647^k},$$

where $U_0 = 0, U_1 = 1$ and $U_n = 4U_{n-1} + U_{n-2}, n \ge 2$. Moreover, there are many other nice results in the literature dealing with Diophantine equations related to base *b* representations and binary linear recurrence sequences. For instance, in 2016 Bravo and Luca [**35**] completely solved the equation

$$F_m + F_n = 2^a.$$

Recently, Chim and Ziegler [55] generalized their result in which they solved the equation

$$F_{n_1} + F_{n_2} = 2^{m_1} + 2^{m_2} + 2^{m_3}$$

in nonnegative integers $(n_1, n_2, m_1, m_2, m_3)$. Other related results dealing with Diophantine equations involving repdigits and linear recurrence sequences will be mentioned along with our results in the next section of this chapter, i.e. 2.2.

In this section, we present our new results in which we first extend the result of Tengely in [243] by determining the integral solutions (n, x) of the equation

$$\frac{1}{U_n(P_2,Q_2)} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1,Q_1)}{x^k},$$
(40)

for certain given pairs $(P_1, Q_1) \neq (P_2, Q_2)$. Here, we consider non-degenerate sequences with $1 \leq P \leq 3$ and $Q = \pm 1$ (for more details about the non-degenerate Lucas sequences, we refer to Subsection 1.3.1 of Chapter 1). Furthermore, we investigate the integral solutions (x, y) of the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P,Q)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{R_{k-1}}{y^k},$$
(41)

where the Lucas sequence of the first kind $\{U_n(P,Q)\}$ is non-degenerate with $1 \le P \le 3$ and $Q = \pm 1$, and the sequence $\{R_n\}$ is a ternary linear recurrence sequence represented by the Tribonacci sequence $\{T_n\}$ or Berstel's sequence $\{B_n\}$ that are defined by (17) or (18), respectively. We also provide general results related to the integral solutions (x, y) of the equations

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1, Q_1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_2, Q_2)}{y^k},$$
(42)

with arbitrary pairs $(P_1, Q_1) \neq (P_2, Q_2)$, and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(a_2, a_1, a_0)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(b_2, b_1, b_0)}{y^k},$$
(43)

where the triples $(a_2, a_1, a_0) \neq (b_2, b_1, b_0)$ and T_n denotes the general term of the generalized Tribonacci sequence that is given by

$$T_0(p,q,r) = T_1(p,q,r) = 0, T_2(p,q,r) = 1 \text{ and}$$

$$T_n(p,q,r) = pT_{n-1}(p,q,r) + qT_{n-2}(p,q,r) + rT_{n-3}(p,q,r),$$

for $n \ge 3$. Then we apply these results to completely resolve some concrete equations.

Before presenting our new results, we mention some auxiliary results, which play the key roles in the proofs of our theorems.

2.1.1. Auxiliary results.

The following two results are due to Köhler [135].

LEMMA 2.1. Let A, B, a_0, a_1 be arbitrary complex numbers. Define the sequence $\{a_n\}$ by the recursion $a_{n+1} = Aa_n + Ba_{n-1}$. Then the formula

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_{k-1}}{x^k} = \frac{a_0 x - Aa_0 + a_1}{x^2 - Ax - B}$$

holds for all complex x such that |x| is larger than the absolute values of the zeros of $x^2 - Ax - B$.

LEMMA 2.2. Let arbitrary complex numbers $A_0, A_1, \ldots, A_m, a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_m$ be given. Define the sequence $\{a_n\}$ by the recursion

$$a_{n+1} = A_0 a_n + A_1 a_{n-1} + \dots + A_m a_{n-m}.$$

Then for all complex z such that |z| is larger than the absolute values of all zeros of $q(z) = z^{m+1} - A_0 z^m - A_1 z^{m-1} - \dots - A_m$, the formula

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_{k-1}}{z^k} = \frac{p(z)}{q(z)}$$

holds with $p(z) = a_0 z^m + b_1 z^{m-1} + \dots + b_m$, where $b_k = a_k - \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} A_i a_{k-1-i}$ for $1 \le k \le m$.

2.1.2. New results.

Here, we present our new results related to the integral solutions of equations (40)-(43). The following two results are related to equations (40) and (41), respectively. Indeed, they are Theorems 1 and 2 in [105], respectively. For that, we define the set S as follows

$$S = \{u_1(n) = U_n(1, -1), u_2(n) = U_n(2, -1), u_3(n) = U_n(3, -1), u_4(n) = U_n(3, 1)\}.$$

THEOREM 2.3. The equation

$$\frac{1}{u_j(n)} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{u_i(k-1)}{x^k},$$
(44)

has the following solutions with $1 \le i, j \le 4, i \ne j$

$$\begin{split} &(i,j,n,x) \in \{(1,2,1,2),(1,2,3,3),(1,2,5,6),(1,3,1,2),(1,3,5,11),\\ &(1,3,7,35),(1,4,1,2),(1,4,5,8),(2,1,3,3),(2,1,9,7),(3,1,4,4),\\ &(3,1,14,21),(3,4,2,4),(3,4,7,21),(4,1,\{1,2\},3),(4,1,5,4),(4,\\ &1,10,9),(4,1,11,11),(4,2,1,3),(4,2,3,4),(4,2,5,7),(4,3,1,3),\\ &(4,3,5,12),(4,3,7,36)\}. \end{split}$$

THEOREM 2.4. The complete list of solutions of the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{u_j(k-1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{R_{k-1}}{y^k},$$
(45)

with $u_n \in S, R_n \in \{B_n, T_n\}$ and positive integers x, y satisfying conditions of Lemmas 2.1 and 2.2 is as follows

u_n	R_n	(x,y)	u_n	R_n	(x,y)
u_1	B_n	$\{(25,9)\}$	u_1	T_n	$\{(2,2)\}$
u_2	B_n	{}	u_2	T_n	$\{(t(t^2-2)+1,t^2-1):t\geq 2,t\in\mathbb{N}\}\$
u_3	B_n	$\{(6,3),(18,7)\}$	u_3	T_n	{}
u_4	B_n	$\{(26,9)\}$	u_4	T_n	$\{(3,2)\}$

Using elementary number theory, we prove the following results, which are related to equations (42) and (43), respectively. These results are Theorem 1 and Theorem 2 in [106], respectively. For the sake of simplicity in presenting these results, we define the following. For a given polynomial f(x) over integers, let $m(f) = \max\{|x|: f(x) = 0\}$.

THEOREM 2.5. Let P_1, Q_1, P_2, Q_2 be non-zero integers such that $(P_1, Q_1) \neq (P_2, Q_2)$. If $(P_2^2 - P_1^2) + 4(Q_1 - Q_2) = d_1d_2 \neq 0$ and $d_1 - d_2 \equiv -2P_1 \pmod{4}, d_1 + d_2 \equiv -2P_1 \pmod{4}$.

 $-2P_2 \pmod{4}$, then the positive integral solutions x, y of

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1, Q_1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_2, Q_2)}{y^k}$$

satisfy

 $x = \frac{d_1 - d_2 + 2P_1}{4} > m(x^2 - P_1 x + Q_1), \quad y = \frac{d_1 + d_2 + 2P_2}{4} > m(x^2 - P_2 x + Q_2).$ If $(P_2^2 - P_1^2) + 4(Q_1 - Q_2) = 0$ and $P_1 \equiv P_2 \pmod{2}$, then the positive integral

solutions x, y of

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1, Q_1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_2, Q_2)}{y^k}$$

satisfy

$$x > m(x^2 - P_1x + Q_1), \quad y = \pm x + \frac{P_2 \mp P_1}{2} > m(x^2 - P_2x + Q_2),$$

where $Q_2 = Q_1 + \frac{P_2^2 - P_1^2}{4}$.

THEOREM 2.6. If (x, y) is an integral solution of the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(a_2, a_1, a_0)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(b_2, b_1, b_0)}{y^k}$$

for given $(a_2, a_1, a_0) \neq (b_2, b_1, b_0)$, then either

 $9 (a_2^2 - b_2^2 + 3 a_1 - 3 b_1)y + 2 a_2^3 - 3 a_2^2 b_2 + b_2^3 + 9 a_1 a_2 - 9 a_1 b_2 + 27 a_0 - 27 b_0 = 0$ or in case of |y| > B we have

$$|3x - 3y - a_2 + b_2| < C,$$

where B, C are constants depending only on $a_i, b_i, i = 0, 1, 2$.

2.1.3. Proofs of the results.

PROOF OF THEOREM 2.3. Consider equation (40) (in particular, (44)), by Lemma 2.1 we obtain that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1, Q_1)}{x^k} = \frac{1}{x^2 - P_1 x + Q_1}$$

Hence, we have that $U_n(P_2, Q_2) = x^2 - P_1x + Q_1$. Combining the latter equation with the identity relationship between the terms of Lucas sequences of the first and second kind at the parameters P_2 and Q_2 , which is defined in (21) (i.e. $V_n^2(P_2, Q_2) = DU_n^2(P_2, Q_2) + 4Q_2^n$, with $D = P_2^2 - 4Q_2$) we get

$$V_n(P_2,Q_2)^2 = (P_2^2 - 4Q_2)(x^2 - P_1x + Q_1)^2 + 4Q_2^n$$

The so-called two-cover descent by Bruin and Stoll [40] can be used to prove that a given hyperelliptic curve has no rational points. It is implemented in Magma [33], the procedure is called TwoCoverDescent. If it fails and we do not find any rational

points on the curve, then we apply the argument by Alekseyev and Tengely [4], that reduces the problem to Thue equations. If we have a rational point on the curve, then using a method by Tzanakis in [249] the integral points can be determined. This algorithm is implemented in Magma as IntegralQuarticPoints. In this way we collect the possible values of x.

(P_1, Q_1, P_2, Q_2)	x	(P_1, Q_1, P_2, Q_2)	x
(1,-1,2,-1)	2, 3, 6	(3,-1,1,-1)	4,21
(1, -1, 3, -1)	2, 11, 35	(3, -1, 2, -1)	_
(1, -1, 3, 1)	2,8	(3, -1, 3, 1)	4,21
(2, -1, 1, -1)	3,7	(3, 1, 1, -1)	3, 4, 9, 11
(2, -1, 3, -1)	-	(3,1,2,-1)	3, 4, 7
(2, -1, 3, 1)	-	(3, 1, 3, -1)	3, 12, 36

It remains to compute the set of possible values of n. We provide details of the computation in case of $(P_1, Q_1, P_2, Q_2) = (3, -1, 1, -1)$, and following these steps all other equations can be handled. In case of $(P_1, Q_1, P_2, Q_2) = (3, -1, 1, -1)$ we have that $x \in \{4, 21\}$. If x = 4, then we define a matrix T as follows

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} 3/4 & 1/4 \\ 1/4 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We have that

$$\frac{1}{4} \left(T^0 + T^1 + T^2 + \dots + T^{N-1} \right) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} * \\ \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{U_{k-1}(3,-1)}{4^k} \end{pmatrix}.$$

It follows that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{U_{k-1}(3,-1)}{4^{k}} = -\frac{2^{-3N-1}}{39} \left(\left(\sqrt{13}+3\right)^{N} \left(5\sqrt{13}+13\right) + \left(13-5\sqrt{13}\right) \left(-\sqrt{13}+3\right)^{N} - 13\cdot 2^{3N+1} \right).$$

Hence, we have that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{U_{k-1}(3,-1)}{4^k} = \frac{1}{3} = \frac{1}{U_4(1,-1)}$$

In this case, we obtain that n = 4. If x = 21, then

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} 3/21 & 1/21 \\ 1/21 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In a similar way than in case of x = 4, we get that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{U_{k-1}(3,-1)}{21^{k}} = \frac{\left(7^{N} 3^{N} 2^{N+1} - \left(\sqrt{13}+3\right)^{N} \left(3\sqrt{13}+1\right) + \left(3\sqrt{13}-1\right) \left(-\sqrt{13}+3\right)^{N}\right) 2^{-N-1}}{377 \cdot 7^{N} 3^{N}}.$$

Therefore,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{U_{k-1}(3,-1)}{21^k} = \frac{1}{377} = \frac{1}{U_{14}(1,-1)}$$

The only solution in this case is given by n = 14.

PROOF OF THEOREM 2.4. We provide a general argument that works for other sequences as well. Let

$$a_0 = 0, a_1 = 1$$
 and $a_{n+1} = Aa_n + Ba_{n-1}$

and

$$b_0 = b_1 = 0, b_2 = 1$$
 and $b_{n+1} = Cb_n + Db_{n-1} + Eb_{n-2}$.

Equation (45) yields that

$$Y^2 = X^3 - 4CX^2 - 16DX + 16A^2 + 64B - 64E,$$

where Y = 8x - 4A and X = 4y. If the cubic polynomial in X is square-free, then we have an elliptic equation and the integral points can be determined using the socalled elliptic logarithm method developed by Stroeker and Tzanakis [233] and independently by Gebel, Pethő and Zimmer [91]. There exists a number of software implementations for determining integral points on elliptic curves based on this technique, here we used SageMath [231]. Let us consider the case with $u_1(n), T_n$. We obtain the elliptic curve

$$Y^2 = X^3 - 4X^2 - 16X + 16.$$

Using the SageMath function integral_points() we get

[(-3:1:1), (0:4:1), (8:12:1)].

From these points we have that $(x, y) \in \{(2, 2)\}$. As a second example, consider the case with u_3, B_n . The elliptic curve is given by

$$Y^2 = X^3 - 8X^2 + 64X - 48.$$

The list of integral points is

[(1:3:1), (4:12:1), (12:36:1), (28:132:1)].

Thus, we get that $(x, y) \in \{(6, 3), (18, 7)\}$. Finally, let us deal with the special case with u_2, T_n . The cubic polynomial is not square-free, it is $(X+4)(X-4)^2$. Therefore, we have that

 $X + 4 = 4y + 4 = u^2$.

Hence, $y = t^2 - 1$ for some integer $t \ge 2$. It follows that $x = t(t^2 - 2) + 1$. So we obtain infinitely many identities of the form

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{u_2(k-1)}{(t(t^2-2)+1)^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}}{(t^2-1)^k}.$$

PROOF OF THEOREM 2.5. By applying Lemma 2.1 to equation (42), we get that

$$\frac{1}{x^2 - P_1 x + Q_1} = \frac{1}{y^2 - P_2 y + Q_2}$$

By algebraic manipulations, we obtain the equation

$$(2y + 2x - P_1 - P_2)(2y - 2x + P_1 - P_2) = P_2^2 - P_1^2 + 4(Q_1 - Q_2).$$
(46)

If $P_2^2 - P_1^2 + 4(Q_1 - Q_2) \neq 0$, then for all $d_1|P_2^2 - P_1^2 + 4(Q_1 - Q_2)$ we consider the following system of equations

$$2y + 2x - P_1 - P_2 = d_1,$$

$$2y - 2x + P_1 - P_2 = d_2 = \frac{P_2^2 - P_1^2 + 4(Q_1 - Q_2)}{d_1}.$$

We obtain integral solutions if

$$d_1 - d_2 \equiv -2P_1 \pmod{4}$$
 and $d_1 + d_2 \equiv -2P_2 \pmod{4}$.

In this case, the solutions are given by

$$x = \frac{d_1 - d_2 + 2P_1}{4}$$
 and $y = \frac{d_1 + d_2 + 2P_2}{4}$

If $P_2^2 - P_1^2 + 4(Q_1 - Q_2) = 0$, then

$$Q_2 = Q_1 + \frac{P_2^2 - P_1^2}{4},$$

and Q_2 is an integer if $P_1 \equiv P_2 \pmod{2}$. There are two possible cases, either

$$2y + 2x - P_1 - P_2 = 0$$
 or $2y - 2x + P_1 - P_2 = 0$.

In the former case we have $y = -x + \frac{P_1 + P_2}{2}$ and in the latter one we get $y = x + \frac{P_2 - P_1}{2}$.

PROOF OF THEOREM 2.6. Using Köhler's result given in Lemma 2.2, equation (43) yields that

$$\frac{1}{x^3 - a_2 x^2 - a_1 x - a_0} = \frac{1}{y^3 - b_2 y^2 - b_1 y - b_0}$$

Hence,

$$H(x,y) = x^{3} - a_{2}x^{2} - a_{1}x - a_{0} - y^{3} + b_{2}y^{2} + b_{1}y + b_{0} = 0.$$

This equation satisfies Runge's condition [200]. Therefore, in case when H(x, y) is irreducible over the rationals, there exist only finitely many integral solutions (x, y). We obtain that

$$0 = 27H(x, y) = (3x - 3y - a_2 + b_2)G(x, y) - I(y),$$

where

$$G(x,y) = 9x^{2} + 9xy + 9y^{2} - 3(2a_{2} + b_{2})x - 3(a_{2} + 2b_{2})y - 2a_{2}^{2} + a_{2}b_{2} + b_{2}^{2} - 9a_{1}$$

and

$$I(y) = 9 \left(a_2^2 - b_2^2 + 3 a_1 - 3 b_1 \right) y + 2 a_2^3 - 3 a_2^2 b_2 + b_2^3 + 9 a_1 a_2 - 9 a_1 b_2 + 27 a_0 - 27 b_0.$$

Here, we may have that I(y) is identically equal to 0, then H(x, y) is reducible over the rationals. In this case, solutions can be obtained from

$$3x - 3y - a_2 + b_2 = 0$$
 or $G(x, y) = 0$.

Now, assume that $I(y) \neq 0$. We obtain that

$$3x - 3y - a_2 + b_2 = \frac{I(y)}{G(x, y)}$$
$$= \frac{4I(y)}{27y^2 - 18b_2y - 12a_2^2 + 3b_2^2 - 36a_1 + (6x + 3y - (2a_2 + b_2))^2}$$

Here, one can determine a bound B for |y| such that if |y| > B, then

$$27 y^2 - 18 b_2 y - 12 a_2^2 + 3 b_2^2 - 36 a_1 + (6x + 3y - (2a_2 + b_2))^2 > 26y^2.$$

Thus,

$$|3x - 3y - a_2 + b_2| < \frac{4I(y)}{26y^2}.$$

Since I(y) is linear, we get that

$$\frac{4|I(y)|}{26y^2} < C$$

for some positive constant C and the statement follows.

Next, we present some applications related to Theorems 2.5 and 2.6. Indeed, these applications also appear in [106].

2.1.4. Applications.

EXAMPLE 2.1. As an application of Theorem 2.5, consider the following example. Let $(P_1, Q_1) = (1, -1)$ and $(P_2, Q_2) = (18, 1)$. We have that

$$(P_2^2 - P_1^2) + 4(Q_1 - Q_2) = (18^2 - 1) + 4(-1 - 1) = 315.$$

We obtain a system of equations given by

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 2y+2x-19 &=& d_1,\\ 2y-2x-17 &=& \displaystyle \frac{315}{d_1}, \end{array}$$

where

$$d_1 \in \{\pm 1, \pm 3, \pm 5, \pm 7, \pm 9, \pm 15, \pm 21, \pm 35, \pm 45, \pm 63, \pm 105, \pm 315\}.$$

The solutions are as follows

$$\begin{array}{ll} (x,y) & \in & \{(79,-70), (26,-18), (15,-8), (10,-4), (7,-2), (2,0), (-1,0), \\ & & (-6,-2), (-9,-4), (-14,-8), (-25,-18), (-78,-70), (-78,88), \\ & & (-25,36), (-14,26), (-9,22), (-6,20), (-1,18), (2,18), (7,20), \\ & & (10,22), (15,26), (26,36), (79,88) \}. \end{array}$$

Here, we have $m(x^2 - x - 1) \approx 1.618$, so $x \ge 2$ and $m(x^2 - 18x + 1) \approx 17.944$. Hence, $y \ge 18$. Thus, the solutions are as follows

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{2^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{18^k} = 1, \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{7^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{20^k} = \frac{1}{41}, \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{10^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{22^k} = \frac{1}{89}, \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{15^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{26^k} = \frac{1}{209}, \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{26^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{36^k} = \frac{1}{649}, \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{79^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{88^k} = \frac{1}{6161}. \end{split}$$

EXAMPLE 2.2. As a next example, consider the case with $(P_1, Q_1) = (1, -1)$ and $(P_2, Q_2) = (2t + 1, t^2 + t - 1)$ for some $t \in \mathbb{Z}$. We get that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(2t+1,t^2+t-1)}{(x+t)^k} = \frac{1}{x^2 - x - 1}$$

for $x \ge 2$.

EXAMPLE 2.3. Consider the positive integral solutions x, y of the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(-1,7,3)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(5,-5,-3)}{y^k}$$

Lemma 2.2 implies that

$$\frac{1}{x^3 + x^2 - 7x - 3} = \frac{1}{y^3 - 5y^2 + 5y + 3}.$$

Therefore, we get that

$$x^{3} + x^{2} - 7x - 3 = y^{3} - 5y^{2} + 5y + 3.$$

Following the proof of Theorem 2.6, we have that

$$H(x,y) = x^{3} + x^{2} - 7x - y^{3} + 5y^{2} - 5y - 6 = 0.$$

We determine G(x, y) and I(y), these are given by

$$G(x,y) = 9x^{2} + 9xy + 9y^{2} - 9x - 27y - 45, \quad I(y) = 108y - 108.$$

If I(y) = 0, then y = 1 and it follows that

$$x^3 + x^2 - 7x - 3 = 4,$$

that is x = -1. Hence, we do not get positive integral solutions in this case. Assume that $I(y) \neq 0$. We get that

$$3x - 3y + 6 = \frac{4(108y - 108)}{9x^2 + 9xy + 9y^2 - 9x - 27y - 45}.$$

It can be written as

$$3x - 3y + 6 = \frac{4(108y - 108)}{27y^2 - 90y - 189 + (6x + 3y - 3)^2}.$$

We have that

$$26y^2 < 27y^2 - 90y - 189 + (6x + 3y - 3)^2$$

for positive integers if $y \ge 93$. It follows that

$$|3x - 3y + 6| < 1$$
 if $y \ge 93$.

That is 3x - 3y + 6 = 0, so we obtain that I(y) = 0, a contradiction. It remains to deal with the values of y for which

$$3 = m(x^3 - 5x^2 + 5x + 3) \le y \le 93.$$

Using SageMath [231], we obtain that the only integral solutions in this range are given by x = -3, y = 3 and x = -2, y = 4, so we do not get positive integral solutions.

EXAMPLE 2.4. As a second application of Theorem 2.6, let us consider the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(-4,-5,-6)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(1,8,18)}{y^k}.$$

Here, we obtain that

$$H(x,y) = x^{3} - y^{3} + 4x^{2} + y^{2} + 5x + 8y + 24,$$

$$G(x,y) = 9x^{2} + 9xy + 9y^{2} + 21x + 6y + 10,$$

$$I(y) = -216y - 598.$$

The equation I(y) = 0 does not have integral solutions. We obtain that

$$4G(x,y) > 26y^2$$
 if $y > 18$

and

$$|3x - 3y + 5| < 1$$
 if $y > 30$.

Hence, we have that if y > 30, then 3x - 3y + 5 = 0. Therefore, I(y) = 0, a contradiction. It remains to deal with the cases $y \in [5, 6, ..., 30]$. It follows that the only positive solution is given by (x, y) = (9, 11), that is we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(-4,-5,-6)}{9^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(1,8,18)}{11^k} = \frac{1}{1104}.$$

EXAMPLE 2.5. Finally, let us describe an example with identically zero I(y), in which case we obtain infinitely many solutions. Let $(a_2, a_1, a_0) = (1, 6, 5)$ and $(b_2, b_1, b_0) = (4, 1, 1)$. It follows that

$$H(x,y) = x^{3} - y^{3} - x^{2} + 4y^{2} - 6x + y - 4,$$

$$G(x,y) = 9x^{2} + 9xy + 9y^{2} - 18x - 27y - 36,$$

$$I(y) = 0.$$

We obtain that either

$$3x - 3y + 3 = 0$$
 or $G(x, y) = 0$.

In the former case y = x + 1 and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(1,6,5)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(4,1,1)}{(x+1)^k} = \frac{1}{x^3 - x^2 - 6x - 5}, \quad x \ge 4.$$

In the latter case we have that

$$0 = 12G(x, y) = 3(6x + 3y - 6)^{2} + (9y - 12)^{2} - 684.$$

We do not get new integral solutions since the equation

$$(9y-12)^2 + 3(6x+3y-6)^2 = 684$$

has no solutions in \mathbb{Z} .

2.2. Diophantine equations related to repdigits with linear recurrence sequences

A natural number N is called a base g-repdigit for $g \ge 2$ if all of its base g-digits are equal; that is, if

$$N = b \cdot \left(\frac{g^m - 1}{g - 1}\right) \quad \text{for some} \quad m \ge 1 \quad \text{and} \quad b \in \{1, \dots, g - 1\}.$$

Diophantine equations involving repdigits and recurrence sequences have been studied in several papers. The problem of finding all perfect powers among repdigits was presented in 1956 by Obláth [180] and then solved by Bugeaud and Mignotte [46] in 1999. Thereafter, many authors have started to investigate the solutions of such Diophantine equations. For instance, Luca [151] used an elementary way to show that the largest number whose decimal expansion has only one distinct digit in the sequence of Fibonacci numbers or Lucas numbers is $F_{10} = 55$ or $L_5 = 11$, respectively (the terms of the Fibonacci sequence $\{F_n\}$ and Lucas sequence $\{L_n\}$ are given by (23) and (25), respectively). In addition, Díaz-Alvarado and Luca [71] found all Fibonacci numbers that are sums of two repdigits. Furthermore, a similar problem was investigated in case of Lucas numbers by Adegbindin, Luca and Togbé [2]. For other related results, we refer to [36], [62], [82], [124], [164] and the references given there. Luca's result in [151] was generalized by Marques and Togbé [163] in which they determined all the solutions of the Diophantine equations

$$F_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{10^{lm} - 1}{10^l - 1}\right) \quad \text{and} \quad L_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{10^{lm} - 1}{10^l - 1}\right) \tag{47}$$

in positive integers m, n and l, with $m > 1, 1 \le l \le 10$ and $1 \le B \le 10^l - 1$, which are (m, n, l) = (2, 10, 1) and (m, n, l) = (2, 5, 1) in the Fibonacci and Lucas cases, respectively. It is clear that these equations have solutions only with l = 1. In general, if $(G_n)_{n\ge 1}$ is an integer linear recurrence sequence, they gave a finiteness result for the equation

$$G_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^{lm} - 1}{g^l - 1}\right),\tag{48}$$

where n, m, g, l and B are positive integers such that $m > 1, g > 1, 1 \le B \le g^l - 1$. In fact, they proved their results using heavy computations followed by a result due to Matveev [166] on the lower bound on linear forms of logarithms of algebraic numbers to obtain bounds for n and m. As these bounds could be very high, they used a result due to Dujella and Pethő [76] on the Baker-Davenport reduction to reduce these bounds. With respect to these results, the following natural questions arise:

- Is there another approach that is easier to apply to such concrete equations?
- Do the equations in (47) have solutions in any base g other than 10, say g ≥ 2, in case of l = 1?

In this section, we firstly use a different and direct approach to obtain a general finiteness result for the Diophantine equation (48) in which the sequence $\{G_n\}$ is represented by the non-degenerate Lucas sequences of the first and second kind (i.e. $\{U_n(P,Q)\}$ and $\{V_n(P,Q)\}$, which are defined by (19) and (20), respectively) with $Q \in \{-1,1\}$ and l is an even positive integer. Again, we refer to Subsection 1.3.1 of Chapter 1 for more details about the non-degenerate Lucas sequences. Our argument is based on combining equation (48) with the identity relationship between Lucas sequences of the first and second kind (21) (that is $V_n^2 = DU_n^2 + 4Q^n$, with $D = P^2 - 4Q$) to produce biquadratic elliptic curves of the form

$$y^2 = ax^4 + bx^2 + c, (49)$$

with integer coefficients a, b, c and discriminant $\Delta = 16ac(b^2 - 4ac)^2 \neq 0$. The integral points of a biquadratic elliptic curve can be determined using an algorithm implemented in Magma [33] as SIntegralLjunggrenPoints () (based on results obtained by Tzanakis [249]) or an algorithm described by Alekseyev and Tengely [4] in which they gave an algorithmic reduction of the search for integral points on such a curve by solving a finite number of Thue equations. It is clear that such a biquadratic elliptic curve in the form (49) can be further written as an elliptic curve of the form

$$Y^2 = X^3 + bX^2 + acX,$$
(50)

where $X = ax^2$, Y = axy and its discriminant is $a^2c^2(b^2 - 4ac) \neq 0$. As mentioned earlier in the proof of Theorem 2.4 in Section 2.1, for determining all integral points

on a given elliptic curve one can follow the so-called elliptic logarithm method developed by Stroeker and Tzanakis [233] and independently by Gebel, Pethő and Zimmer [91]. Thus, for determining the integral points on such elliptic curves based on this technique, we use the SageMath [231] function $integral_points()$. The finiteness of the number of the integral points on the curves (49) or (50) is guaranteed by Baker's result [11] presented in Theorem 1.16 and its best improvement concerning the solutions of elliptic equations over \mathbb{Q} , that is due to Hajdu and Herendi [103]. For simplicity, let us recall this result in the following theorem and call it by Baker's Theorem:

Baker's Theorem: If the polynomial on the right of the Diophantine equation

$$y^2 = a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \ldots + a_n$$

where $n \ge 3$ and $a_0 \ne 0, a_1, \ldots, a_n \in \mathbb{Z}$, possesses at least three simple zeros, then all of its solutions in integers x, y satisfy

$$\max(|x|, |y|) < \exp \exp \{(n^{10n}H)^{n^2}\}$$

where $H = \max_{0 \le i \le n} |a_i|$.

For more details about Baker's results and their improvements, we refer to Subsection 1.2.4 of Chapter 1.

REMARK 2.7. Since a finiteness result for equation (48) in case of $G_n = U_n$ or $G_n = V_n$ can be obtained in a similar way, we only present and prove this result in detail in the case of $G_n = U_n$ and omit the proof of the remaining case.

As applications of our result, we apply our method on the sequence of Fibonacci numbers $\{F_n\}$ and the sequence of Pell numbers $\{P_n\}$ (which is defined by (24)) that satisfy equation (48). Furthermore, with the first application we also generalize the result of Marques and Togbé in [**163**] in case of Fibonacci numbers by determining all the solutions (n, m, g, B, l) of the equation $F_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^{lm}-1}{g^{l}-1}\right)$ in case of $2 \le g \le 9$ and l = 1. Note that the case of Lucas numbers can be generalized similarly, therefore we omit the details of this case. More precisely, we use our approach in case where we have l is even, otherwise we follow the technique of Marques and Togbé in [**163**] of using the result of Matveev on linear forms in three logarithms and the result of Dujella and Pethő on the method of Baker-Davenport reduction.

For the sake of simplicity, we next recall some useful results that will be used in the proof of Theorem 2.11 of our main results (particularly, in case of l = 1).

2.2.1. Auxiliary results.

From (31) and (35), we respectively recall the Binet's Fibonacci numbers formula and the bounds for the n^{th} Fibonacci number as follows. The Binet's Fibonacci numbers formula is defined as

$$F_n = \frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\alpha - \beta}, \quad \text{where} \qquad (\alpha, \beta) = \left(\frac{1 + \sqrt{5}}{2}, \frac{1 - \sqrt{5}}{2}\right)$$
(51)

for all $n \ge 0$, where α is called the golden ratio and $\beta = \frac{-1}{\alpha}$. Moreover, it is also known that

$$\alpha^{n-2} \le F_n \le \alpha^{n-1}$$
 holds for all $n \ge 1$. (52)

Also, we recall the logarithmic height of an s-degree algebraic number α that is defined as

$$h(\alpha) = \frac{1}{s} (\log|a| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} \log \max\{1, \left|\alpha^{(j)}\right|\}),$$
(53)

where *a* is the leading coefficient of the minimal polynomial of α (over \mathbb{Z}), $(\alpha^{(j)})_{1 \le j \le s}$ are the conjugates of the algebraic number α , and the absolute value of a complex number z = x + iy is determined by $|z| = \sqrt{x^2 + y^2}$.

In order to obtain some bounds for n and m, we need to use a lower bound for a linear form logarithms á la Baker, which was given by the following lemma due to Matveev [166] (also see Lemma 2 in [163]).

LEMMA 2.8. Define

$$\Lambda = a_1 \log \alpha_1 + a_2 \log \alpha_2 + a_3 \log \alpha_3, \tag{54}$$

where a_1, a_2 and a_3 are nonzero integers and α_1, α_2 and α_3 are nonzero algebraic numbers. Let d be the degree of the number field $\mathbb{Q}(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$ over \mathbb{Q} and $\chi = [\mathbb{R}(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3) : \mathbb{R}]$. If $\Lambda \neq 0$, then

$$\log |\Lambda| \ge -C_1 d^2 A_1 A_2 A_3 \log(1.5edB' \log(ed)),$$

where A_1, A_2 and A_3 are real numbers satisfying the condition

$$A_j \ge \max\{dh(\alpha_j), |\log(\alpha_j)|, 0.16\}, \text{ for all } j \in \{1, 2, 3\},$$
 (55)

$$B' \ge \max\{1, \max\{|a_j| A_j / A_1 : 1 \le j \le 3\}\},\tag{56}$$

and

$$C_1 = \frac{5.16^5}{6\chi} \cdot e^3 (7 + 2\chi) (20.2 + \log(3^{5.5}d^2\log(ed))).$$
(57)

After finding upper bounds for n and m, which could be very large, the next step is we have to reduce them. For that, we use the following lemma, which is a variant of the Baker-Davenport lemma, due to the result of Dujella and Pethő (see Lemma 5 in [**76**]).

LEMMA 2.9. Suppose that M is a positive integer. Let p/q be the convergent of the continued fraction expansion of κ such that q > 6M and let $\epsilon = \|\mu q\| - M \|\kappa q\|$, where $\|\cdot\|$ denotes the distance from the nearest integer. If $\epsilon > 0$, then there is no solution of the inequality

$$0 < m\kappa - n + \mu < AK^{-m}$$

in $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ *in the range*

$$\frac{\log(Aq/\epsilon)}{\log(K)} \le m \le M.$$

2.2.2. New results.

Here, we present two main theorems. The first one is our main theoretical result related to the finiteness result of equation (48) in case of l is even, and in the second theorem we present our computational results regarding to applications of our method on the sequences of Fibonacci and Pell numbers and a generalization of the Fibonacci case in the result of Marques and Togbé in [163]. We also remark that in Theorem 2.10; $g \ge 2$, l is even and $1 \le B \le g^l - 1$ are assumed. But in practice, determining the solutions of any equation of the form (48) (for a particular sequence and any even number l) is achieved similarly for every $g \in \{2, 3, \ldots\}$ and $B \in \{1, 2, \ldots, g^l - 1\}$. Therefore, to make the presentation simpler, in Theorem 2.11 we assume that $2 \le g \le 9$, $l \in \{1, 2, 4\}$ and $1 \le B \le \min\{10, g^l - 1\}$ in case of $G_n = F_n$ and $2 \le g \le 9$, l = 2 and $1 \le B \le \min\{5, g^l - 1\}$ in case of $G_n = P_n$. These results are obtained in [108].

THEOREM 2.10. Let P and Q be nonzero relatively prime integers with $Q \in \{-1,1\}$ and t be a positive integer. If $G_n = U_n(P,Q)$ is non-degenerate and l = 2t, then the Diophantine equation (48) has finitely many solutions of the form (n, m, g, B, l), which can be effectively determined.

THEOREM 2.11. If $G_n = F_n$, then the Diophantine equation (48) has the following solutions with $2 \le g \le 9, l \in \{1, 2, 4\}$ and $1 \le B \le \min\{10, g^l - 1\}$.

 $(n, m, g, B, l) \in \{(4, 2, 2, 1, 1), (5, 2, 4, 1, 1), (6, 2, 3, 2, 1), (6, 2, 7, 1, 1), (7, 3, 3, 1, 1), (8, 2, 6, 3, 1), (8, 3, 4, 1, 1), (5, 2, 2, 1, 2), (8, 3, 2, 1, 2), (9, 2, 4, 2, 2), (9, 2, 2, 2, 4)\}.$

Furthermore, suppose that $2 \le g \le 9, l = 2, 1 \le B \le \min\{5, g^l - 1\}$ and $G_n = P_n$, then equation (48) has no more solutions other than (n, m, g, B, l) = (3, 2, 2, 1, 2).

2.2.3. Proofs of the results.

PROOF OF THEOREM 2.10. Since $G_n = U_n(P,Q) = U_n$ with $Q \in \{-1,1\}$ and l = 2t for an integer $t \ge 1$, we combine equation (48) with identity (21) to obtain

$$(g^{2t}-1)^2 V_n^2 = DB^2 (g^{2tm}-1)^2 + 4(g^{2t}-1)^2 Q^n,$$

which can be further written as biquadratic curves of the form

$$y^{2} = DB^{2}(x^{4} - 2x^{2} + 1) + 4G^{2}Q^{n},$$
(58)

where $D = P^2 - 4Q$, $G = (g^{2t} - 1)$, $1 \le B \le (g^{2t} - 1)$, $x = g^{tm}$ and $y = GV_n$ such that $m, g \ge 2$. Next, we show that the given curves have nonzero discriminants in order to prove they present elliptic curves. Since $Q \in \{-1, 1\}$, we split the prove into two cases

 \square Case 1. If Q = 1, then equation (58) becomes

$$y^{2} = D_{1}B^{2}(x^{4} - 2x^{2} + 1) + 4G^{2},$$
(59)

where $D_1 = (P^2 - 4)$, whose discriminant is

$$\Delta_1 = 4096D_1^3 G^4 B^6 (D_1 B^2 + 4G^2).$$

In addition to P is nonzero, we consider only non-degenerate Lucas sequences, i.e.

$$(P,Q) \notin \{(-2,1), (-1,1), (1,1), (2,1)\}$$

Hence, $D_1 > 0$, which implies that $(D_1B^2 + 4G^2) > 0$ as B > 0 and G > 0. Therefore, it is clear that $\Delta_1 \neq 0$ (indeed, $\Delta_1 > 0$).

 \square Case 2. Similarly, if Q = -1, we obtain the curves

$$y^2 = D_2 B^2 (x^4 - 2x^2 + 1) + 4G^2$$
(60)

and

$$y^{2} = D_{2}B^{2}(x^{4} - 2x^{2} + 1) - 4G^{2},$$
(61)

where $D_2 = (P^2 + 4)$, and their discriminants are

$$\Delta_2 = 4096D_2^3 G^4 B^6 (D_2 B^2 + 4G^2)$$

and

$$\Delta_3 = 4096D_2^3G^4B^6(D_2B^2 - 4G^2),$$

respectively. Again, it is obvious that $\Delta_2 \neq 0$ as $D_2 > 0, B > 0$ and G > 0. For a contradiction, we assume that $\Delta_3 = 0$, which is true if and only if

$$D_2 B^2 - 4G^2 = 0.$$

The latter equation is true if and only if D_2 is a square number; that is, if there exists a nonzero integer T such that

$$T^2 - P^2 = 4,$$

which has no more rational integer solutions other than $(T, P) \in \{(-2, 0), (2, 0)\}$, which contradicts that $P \neq 0$. Thus, $\Delta_3 \neq 0$.

Therefore, we conclude that the biquadratic curves (58) represent elliptic curves. Moreover, as mentioned earlier that the biquadratic curves (58) can be written in the form (50); that is,

$$Y^{2} = X^{3} - 2DB^{2}X^{2} + DB^{2}(DB^{2} + 4G^{2}Q^{n})X,$$
(62)

where $X = DB^2x^2$ and $Y = DB^2xy$. In a similar way, one can easily show that the latter curves have nonzero discriminants. Thus, the curves (62) represent elliptic curves. Finally, by the result of Baker's Theorem and its best improvement by Hajdu and Herendi, the number of the integral points of the curves (58) or (62) is finite. Hence, these points can be effectively determined using the techniques mentioned earlier. The only problem that may appear here is that there is no known algorithm to determine the rank and generators of the Mordell-Weil groups of elliptic curves, there are techniques that work well in practice but there is no guarantee to succeed. If we have such an elliptic curve, then we may follow the previously mentioned argument of Alekseyev and Tengely. As a result, the number of the solutions (n, m, g, B, l) is finite, and they can be effectively determined. This completes the proof of Theorem 2.10.

PROOF OF THEOREM 2.11. We split the proof of this theorem into two cases regarding the sequences of Fibonacci numbers and Pell numbers in which they satisfy equation (48). The proof of Fibonacci case is divided into two subcases: the first one is if l = 1 in which we use the result of Matveev on linear forms in three logarithms and the result of Dujella and Pethő on the method of Baker-Davenport reduction, and the other is the case of l = 2, 4 in which we apply our approach presented in Theorem 2.10. On the other hand, the proof of the Pell case will be handled in a similar way using only the result of Theorem 2.10.

The Fibonacci case: $G_n = F_n$.

(a) For l = 1:

• Step 1. Finding a bound for n in the equation

$$F_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^m - 1}{g - 1}\right),\tag{63}$$

where $2 \le g \le 9, 1 \le B \le \min\{10, g - 1\}$ and $m \ge 2$. Note that since (g - 1) < 10 for all $2 \le g \le 9$, here we only use the range $1 \le B \le (g - 1)$. Suppose that n > 50. By substituting Binet's Fibonacci numbers formula (51) in equation (63), we get that

$$\frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\sqrt{5}} = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^m - 1}{g - 1}\right),$$

which can be further written as

$$\alpha^n - \left(\frac{\sqrt{5}B}{g-1}\right)g^m = \beta^n - \left(\frac{\sqrt{5}B}{g-1}\right).$$
(64)

By taking the absolute value for both sides of the latter equation, we obtain that

$$\left|\alpha^n - \left(\frac{\sqrt{5}B}{g-1}\right)g^m\right| \le \alpha^{-50} + \sqrt{5} < 2.3\tag{65}$$

as $\beta = \frac{-1}{\alpha}$, n > 50 and $B \le (g - 1)$. Define

$$\Lambda = \log\left(\frac{\sqrt{5}B}{g-1}\right) - n\log(\alpha) + m\log(g).$$
(66)

Since $e^{\Lambda} = \left(\frac{\sqrt{5B}}{g-1}\right) \alpha^{-n} g^m$, we get (from inequality (65)) that

$$\left|e^{\Lambda} - 1\right| < \frac{2.3}{\alpha^n} < \alpha^{-n+2}.$$
(67)

To apply Lemma 2.8, we first state and prove the following claim:

<u>Claim</u>: Suppose that Λ is defined in equation (66), then $\Lambda > 0$.

<u>Proof:</u> From equation (64) and the fact that $\beta = \frac{-1}{\alpha}$, we deduce that

$$1 - e^{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{\alpha^{n}} \left(\beta^{n} - \frac{\sqrt{5}B}{g-1} \right) = \frac{1}{\alpha^{n}} \left((-1)^{n} \alpha^{-n} - \frac{\sqrt{5}B}{g-1} \right).$$
(68)

Now, we consider the following cases regarding the values of n.

- If n is even, then equation (68), with the hypotheses: -n < -50,

 $g \leq 9$ and $B \geq 1$, implies that

$$1 - e^{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{\alpha^n} \left(\alpha^{-n} - \frac{\sqrt{5B}}{g - 1} \right)$$
$$< \frac{1}{\alpha^n} \left(\alpha^{-50} - \frac{\sqrt{5}}{8} \right) < 0,$$

which leads to $\Lambda > 0$.

- If *n* is odd, then for all $n > 50, 2 \le g \le 9$ and $1 \le B \le (g-1)$ we have that $\left((\alpha^{-1})^n + \frac{\sqrt{5}B}{g-1} \right) > 0$. Therefore, equation (68) again gives

$$1 - e^{\Lambda} = \frac{-1}{\alpha^n} \Big((\alpha^{-1})^n + \frac{\sqrt{5}B}{g-1} \Big) < 0,$$

which also implies that $\Lambda > 0$. Thus, the claim is completely proved.

From (67) and the fact that $\Lambda > 0$, we obtain that $\Lambda < e^{\Lambda} - 1 < \alpha^{-n+2}$. Therefore,

$$\log|\Lambda| < (-n+2)\log(\alpha). \tag{69}$$

With respect to the notation of Lemma 2.8 and by comparing equations (54) and (66), we have that

$$\alpha_1 = \left(\frac{\sqrt{5}B}{g-1}\right), \alpha_2 = \alpha, \alpha_3 = g, a_1 = 1, a_2 = -n \text{ and } a_3 = m.$$

We also note that the number field $\mathbb{Q}(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3) = \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{5})$ is of degree d = 2. Furthermore, the conjugates of α_1, α_2 and α_3 are $\alpha'_1 = -\alpha_1$, $\alpha'_2 = \beta$ and $\alpha'_3 = \alpha_3$, respectively. Clearly, the minimal polynomial of α_1 is

$$(x - \alpha_1)(x - \alpha'_1) = x^2 - \frac{5B^2}{(g - 1)^2}$$

which is a divisor of $(g-1)^2x^2 - 5B^2$. Therefore, by using the definition of the logarithmic height of algebraic numbers in (53) we get the

logarithmic height of the 2-degree algebraic number α_1 is

$$h(\alpha_1) \le \frac{1}{2}(2\log(8) + 2\log(\sqrt{5})) < 2.89$$

as $g \leq 9$ and $B \leq (g-1)$. Similarly, $h(\alpha_2) = \frac{\log(\alpha)}{2} < 0.25$ and $h(\alpha_3) = \log(g) < 2.2$ as $g \leq 9$. Hence, from inequality (55) we take $A_1 = 5.78, A_2 = 0.5$ and $A_3 = 4.4$.

Furthermore, to obtain an estimated value for B' using inequality (56), let us first consider and prove the following claim:

<u>Claim</u>: The values of n and m in equation (63) satisfy that n > m.

Proof: First of all, from equation (63) we have that

$$F_n \ge \left(\frac{g^m - 1}{g - 1}\right) \quad \text{as} \quad B \ge 1.$$
(70)

On the other hand, we see that

$$\left(\frac{g^m-1}{g-1}\right) - g^{m-1} = g^m \cdot \left(\frac{1}{g-1} - \frac{1}{g}\right) - \left(\frac{1}{g-1}\right)$$
$$= g^m \cdot \left(\frac{1}{g(g-1)}\right) - \left(\frac{1}{g-1}\right)$$
$$> 0 \quad \text{as} \quad m > 1,$$

which gives

$$\left(\frac{g^m - 1}{g - 1}\right) > g^{m - 1}.$$
 (71)

Combining the inequalities (70), (71) and (52), we get that

$$g^{m-1} < F_n \le \alpha^{n-1}. \tag{72}$$

Taking the logarithm for both sides, we obtain $(m-1)\log(g) < (n-1)\log(\alpha)$, which leads to

$$m < (n-1)\frac{\log(\alpha)}{\log(g)} + 1.$$
(73)

Since $\frac{\log(\alpha)}{\log(g)} < 1$ as $g \ge 2$, we get that m < (n-1) + 1 = n with $m \ge 2$. This proves the claim.

Therefore, since n > 50 we have that

$$\max\{1, \max\{|a_j|A_j/A_1: 1 \le j \le 3\}\} = \max\{\frac{0.5}{5.78}n, \frac{4.4}{5.78}m\},\$$

and then it suffices to take $B' = \frac{5}{6}n$ as n > m. From (57), we get that $C_1 < 4.45 \cdot 10^9$ since $\chi = 1$ and d = 2. Therefore, Lemma 2.8 yields

$$\log|\Lambda| > -2.27 \cdot 10^{11} \log(11.51n). \tag{74}$$

Combining inequalities (69) and (74), we obtain that

 $2.27 \cdot 10^{11} \log(11.51n) > (n-2) \log(\alpha),$

which implies that $n < 10^{14}$.

• Step 2. Finding a bound for *m* in equation (63). For that, we first give the following lemma:

LEMMA 2.12. The solutions of equation (63) satisfy

$$(n-2)\frac{\log(\alpha)}{\log(g)} < m < (n-1)\frac{\log(\alpha)}{\log(g)} + 1.$$

$$(75)$$

PROOF. The proof follows easily from combining the fact (52) and equation (63). Indeed, for all $2 \le g \le 9, 1 \le B \le (g-1)$ and m > 1, one can see that

$$\alpha^{n-2} \le F_n < g^m$$

Taking the logarithm for both sides, we obtain that

$$(n-2)\log(\alpha) < m\log(g)$$

which leads to

$$(n-2)\frac{\log(\alpha)}{\log(g)} < m.$$
(76)

The upper bound follows from inequality (73). Hence, Lemma 2.12 is proved.

Thus, from the upper bound of inequality (75) and the estimate of n (that is $n < 10^{14}$) we obtain that

$$m < (10^{14} - 1) \frac{\log(\alpha)}{\log(g)} + 1 < 7 \cdot 10^{13}$$
 as $g \ge 2$.

• Step 3. Reducing the obtained bounds. We know that $0 < \Lambda < \alpha^{-n+2}$. From inequality (72), we also know that $\alpha^{n-1} > g^{m-1}$, which leads to

$$\alpha^{-n+2} < g^{-m+1}\alpha < g^{-m+2}$$

as $\alpha < g$ for all $2 \leq g \leq 9$. Hence,

$$0 < m \log(\alpha_3) - n \log(\alpha_2) + \log(\alpha_1) < g^{-m+2}$$

Dividing the latter inequality by $\log(\alpha_2)$, we get that

$$0 < m \frac{\log(\alpha_3)}{\log(\alpha_2)} - n + \frac{\log(\alpha_1)}{\log(\alpha_2)} < 3 \cdot g^2 \cdot g^{-m}.$$

$$\tag{77}$$

Without loss of generality and to be more precise, since $\alpha_1 = \left(\frac{\sqrt{5B}}{g-1}\right)$, $\alpha_2 = \alpha$ and $\alpha_3 = g$ for all $g \in \{2, 3, \dots, 9\}$ and $1 \le B \le (g-1)$, we respectively use the notation " n_g, m_g, B_g " instead of "n, m, B" for the

rest of the proof of the bounds reduction step. Therefore, we rewrite (77) in the form

$$0 < m_g \kappa_g - n_g + \mu_g < 3 \cdot g^2 \cdot g^{-m_g},$$
(78)

where $\kappa_g = \frac{\log(g)}{\log(\alpha)}$ and $\mu_g = \frac{\log\left(\frac{\sqrt{5}B_g}{g-1}\right)}{\log(\alpha)}$. It is clear that $\mu_g \ge \frac{\log\left(\frac{\sqrt{5}}{g-1}\right)}{\log(\alpha)}$ as $B_g \ge 1$. Since α and g are multiplicatively independent, we have κ_g is irrational. Thus, we may denote $\frac{P_{(k,g)}}{Q_{(k,g)}}$ be the k^{th} convergent of the continued fraction of κ_g . Now, we use Lemma 2.9 to reduce the upper bound of m_g (which is very large since $m_g < 7 \cdot 10^{13}$). That will lead to reduce the upper bound of n_g . Therefore, we take $M = M_g = 7 \cdot 10^{13}$. Moreover, if the conditions of Lemma 2.9 are satisfied; that are, if $Q_{(k,g)} \ge 6M$ and $\epsilon_g = \|\mu_g Q_{(k,g)}\| - M\|\kappa_g Q_{(k,g)}\| > 0$, then we take $A_g = 3 \cdot g^2$ and $K_g = g$. For g = 2, we have $B_2 = 1, \kappa_2 = \frac{\log(2)}{\log(\alpha)}$ and $\mu_2 \ge \frac{\log(\sqrt{5})}{\log(\alpha)}$. Therefore, we obtain that

$$\frac{P_{(32,2)}}{Q_{(32,2)}} = \frac{2683806884597620}{1863211227378077}$$

of which we have $Q_{(32,2)} > 6M$ and

$$\epsilon_2 \ge \left\| \frac{\log(\sqrt{5})}{\log(\alpha)} Q_{(32,2)} \right\| - M \left\| \frac{\log(2)}{\log(\alpha)} Q_{(32,2)} \right\| > 0.4 > 0.$$

Therefore, we have that $A_2 = 3 \cdot 2^2$ and $K_2 = 2$. Hence, Lemma 2.9 tells us that there is no solution to inequality (78) (and then to the Diophantine equation (63) in case of g = 2; that is,

$$F_{n_2} = \left(2^{m_2} - 1\right) \tag{79}$$

in the range

$$\left[\left\lfloor \frac{\log(A_2 Q_{(32,2)} / \epsilon_2)}{\log(K_2)} \right] + 1, M \right] = [56, 7 \cdot 10^{13}].$$

Therefore, $m_2 \leq 56$ and inequality (76) gives us $n_2 < 83$. To finish, we use SageMath [231] to print all the Fibonacci numbers in the range $50 < n_2 < 83$ of which we see that there are no Fibonacci numbers satisfying equation (79) with $2 \leq m_2 \leq 56$. However, in the range $3 \leq n_2 \leq 50$ we get the solution $(n_2, m_2, g, B_2, l) = (4, 2, 2, 1, 1)$. Let us now consider the case g = 6, which implies that $1 \leq B_6 \leq 5$, $\kappa_6 = \frac{\log(6)}{\log(\alpha)}$ and $\mu_6 \geq \frac{\log(1/\sqrt{5})}{\log(\alpha)}$. Thus, $Q_{(30,6)} = 1232281049712607 > 6M$ and $\epsilon_6 > 0.1 > 0$. For that, we take $A_6 = 3 \cdot 6^2$ and $K_6 = 6$, and Lemma 2.9

leads to the unsolvablity of the equation

$$F_{n_6} = \frac{B_6}{5} \cdot (6^{m_6} - 1), \tag{80}$$

with $24 \le m_6 \le M$. Therefore, $m_6 \le 24$, which implies that $n_6 < 92$. Again, we get no solutions to equation (80) (in fact, to equation (63) in case of g = 6) with $50 < n_6 < 92$, but we get the solution (8, 2, 6, 3, 1) where $3 \le n_6 \le 50$. In a similar way, for all the remaining values of g, one can show that the hypotheses of Lemma 2.9 are satisfied and determine the other desired solutions in the theorem in case of l = 1.

- (b) For $l \in \{2, 4\}$:
 - If l = 2, then quation (48) becomes

$$F_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^{2m} - 1}{g^2 - 1}\right).$$
(81)

We consider in detail the case where we have g = 2, and the remaining values of g will be pursued in a similar way following the proof of Theorem 2.10. Since P = 1, Q = -1, l = 2, t = 1 and g = 2, we have that $D_2 = 5, G = 3$ and $1 \le B \le 3$. Therefore, for all $B \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, equation (60) leads to the biquadratic elliptic curves

$$y^2 = 5x^4 - 10x^2 + 41, (82)$$

$$y^2 = 20x^4 - 40x^2 + 56, (83)$$

$$y^2 = 45x^4 - 90x^2 + 81, (84)$$

and also equation (61) gives the curves

$$y^2 = 5x^4 - 10x^2 - 31, (85)$$

$$y^2 = 20x^4 - 40x^2 - 16, (86)$$

$$y^2 = 45x^4 - 90x^2 + 9, (87)$$

respectively, where $x = 2^m$ and $y = 3L_n$. Let us now consider the curve (82) and by using the previously mentioned Magma function SIntegralLjunggrenPoints(), we get the following integral points with positive values for the x-coordinates

$$[[1, -6], [2, 9], [5, 54], [8, -141]].$$

Combining the values of x of these integral points with $x = 2^m$, we only obtain m = 3. Therefore, since B = 1, g = 2 and m = 3, equation (81) implies that n = 8. Hence, we get the solution (n, m, g, B, l) = (8, 3, 2, 1, 2). Next, we consider (83), which has no integral points other than [x, y] = [1, 6] in which the value of x is positive. Thus, we have no solution for equation (81). Similarly, we get no solution for (81) in case of equations (84), (86) and (87). Finally, we deal with equation

(85) and here we get x = 4, which leads to m = 2. Hence, we get the solution (5, 2, 2, 1, 2). The other remaining values of g can be treated in a similar way. Indeed, we get only one solution, which is (9, 2, 4, 2, 2) in case of having B = 2 and g = 4.

• If l = 4, then quation (48) implies that

$$F_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^{4m} - 1}{g^4 - 1}\right).$$
(88)

In fact, it can be proven completely following the same approach in the previous case in which we had l = 2. But, let us treat this case using the elliptic curve equation (62). For that, we may consider the case where we have g = 2 and B = 2. Again, since D = 5, t = 2 and G = 15, equation (62) gives the curves

$$Y^2 = X^3 - 40X^2 - 17600X, (89)$$

$$Y^2 = X^3 - 40X^2 + 18400X, (90)$$

where $X = 20(16)^m$ and $Y = 300(4)^m L_n$. By considering equation (89) and using the SageMath function integral_points (), we get the integral points

$$\begin{bmatrix} (176:1056:1), (220:2200:1), (225:2325:1), \\ (320:4800:1), (529:11293:1), (4400:290400:1), \\ (5120:364800:1), (818620:740649800:1) \end{bmatrix}$$

in which we considered only the points with positive values for the X-coordinates. From these points, only X = 5120 leads to a solution of equation (88), that is (n, m, g, B, l) = (9, 2, 2, 2, 4). On the other hand, the integral points of the elliptic curve (90) give no solution to equation (88). Furthermore, the other remaining cases for all the values of g can be handled in a similar way. More precisely, one can show that the equation (88) has no more solutions.

The Fibonacci case is completely proved.

The Pell case: $G_n = P_n$.

Here, we have l = 2. Thus, equation (48) becomes

$$P_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^{2m} - 1}{g^2 - 1}\right). \tag{91}$$

Solving this equation completely is handled in a similar way in case of Fibonacci numbers with l is even. Here, we have $D_2 = 8$ and t = 1. If we consider g = 2 and B = 1, then we get G = 3. These lead to the biquadratic

elliptic curves

$$y^2 = 8x^4 - 16x^2 - 28, (92)$$

$$y^2 = 8x^4 - 16x^2 + 44, (93)$$

where $x = 2^m$ and $y = 3Q_n$ such that Q_n denotes the general term of the sequence of Pell-Lucas numbers that is defined in (26). Equation (92) leads to the solution (n, m, g, B, l) = (3, 2, 2, 1, 2), and equation (93) implies no solution to equation (91). The remaining cases are treated similarly. As a result, equation (91) does not have any more solutions. Hence, this case is also proved.

Therefore, Theorem 2.11 is completely proved.

CHAPTER 3

Diophantine equations of the form $G(X,Y,Z) \coloneqq AX^2 + BY^r + CZ^2$ involving linear recurrence sequences

3.1. Solutions of the Diophantine equation $7X^2 + Y^7 = Z^2$ from linear recurrence sequences

Consider the Diophantine equation

$$AX^2 + BY^r = C'Z^2, (94)$$

where A, B, C' and r are nonzero integers such that r > 1. According to the result of Beukers [22] mentioned in Theorem 1.12 related to the Fermat-Catalan Diophantine equation, we have that equation (94) has either no solution or infinitely many relatively prime integer solutions (X, Y, Z) (see also, e.g. [67] or [176]). Indeed, according to Mordell [176, page 111] equation (94) has infinitely many integer solutions if B = 1 and r is odd.

If $(F_n)_{n\geq 0}$ and $(L_n)_{n\geq 0}$ are the sequences of Fibonacci and Lucas numbers (which are defined by (23) and (25), respectively), in this section we present a technique with which we can investigate the nontrivial integer solutions (X, Y, Z) of equations of the form

$$AX^2 + Y^r = C'Z^2,$$

where A, C' and r are certain nonzero integers with r > 1 being odd and $(X, Y) = (L_n, F_n)$ (or $(X, Y) = (F_n, L_n)$). We also remark that this technique can be applied on such equations for which they satisfy some conditions, that will be mentioned later along a procedure presented by Kedlaya in [128] (i.e. Kedlaya's procedure in 3.1.1.1). We indeed present the use of this technique for studying such special solutions of the Diophantine equation

$$7X^2 + Y^7 = Z^2. (95)$$

Based on the parametrizations of the solutions of equation (14) (according to [176, page 111]), the integer solutions of the above equation can be parametrized as

$$\begin{split} X &= 7a_1^6b_1 + 245a_1^4b_1^3 + 1029a_1^2b_1^5 + 343b_1^7, \\ Y &= a_1^2 - 7b_1^2, \\ Z &= a_1^7 + 147a_1^5b_1^2 + 1715a_1^3b_1^4 + 2401a_1b_1^6, \end{split}$$

where a_1 and b_1 are arbitrary integers, which provide infinitely many integer solutions of equation (95). More precisely, in this section we deal with special solutions of this equation, namely where $(X, Y) = (L_n, F_n)$ (or $(X, Y) = (F_n, L_n)$). By using the identity relationship between the terms of the Fibonacci and Lucas sequences derived from equation (21), i.e. $L_n^2 - 5F_n^2 = \pm 4$, these solutions are clearly equivalent to the solutions of the systems

$$L_n^2 - 5F_n^2 = \pm 4, \qquad 7L_n^2 + F_n^7 = Z^2$$

and

$$L_n^2 - 5F_n^2 = \pm 4, \qquad L_n^7 + 7F_n^2 = Z^2.$$

In other words, we examine the solutions to the following systems of Diophantine equations

$$x^2 - 5y^2 = \pm 4, \quad 7x^2 + y^7 = z^2,$$
 (96)

$$x^2 - 5y^2 = \pm 4, \qquad x^7 + 7y^2 = z^2, \tag{97}$$

where $x = L_n$, $y = F_n$ and z = Z is a nonzero integer. A solution (x, y, z) of any system in (96) or (97) represents a solution (x, y) of one of its special Pell equations with the restriction given by the corresponding equation.

Historically, several authors investigated the existence and nonexistence of the integer solutions of certain systems of Diophantine equations of the form

$$x^{2} - ay^{2} = b, \quad P(x, y) = z^{2},$$
(98)

where a is a positive integer that is not a perfect square, b is a nonzero integer and P(x, y) is a polynomial with integer coefficients. Many of the studies related to systems of the form (98) use Baker's results on linear forms in logarithms of algebraic numbers [10] to give an upper bound on the size of the solutions. Using this bound with some techniques of Diophantine approximation, Baker and Davenport [13] proved that there is no solution in nonnegative integers other than (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 1) or (19, 11, 31) for the system

$$x^2 - 3y^2 = -2, \qquad z^2 - 8y^2 = -7.$$

Brown [39] proved that the equations

$$y^2 - 8t^2 = 1, \quad u^2 - 5t^2 = 1$$

have no common solution other than (y, t, u) = (1, 0, 1) using Grinstead's technique in [96]. Szalay [236] presented an alternative procedure for solving systems of simultaneous Pell equations

$$a_1x^2 + b_1y^2 = c_1, \quad a_2x^2 + b_2z^2 = c_2$$

in nonnegative integers x, y and z, with relatively small coefficients. He implemented the algorithm of this procedure in Magma to verify famous examples and give a new theorem related to such systems. In general, one can guarantee the finiteness of the number of solutions of (98) by the work of Thue [**246**] or Siegel [**216**]. On the other hand, many authors have given elementary solutions to systems of the form (98) such as Cohn [57] who considered the case where P is a linear polynomial. Cohn's method uses congruence arguments to eliminate some cases and a clever invocation of quadratic reciprocity to handle the remaining cases. The congruence arguments are very sufficient if there exists no solution in such a system, however they fail in the presence of a solution. Mohanty and Ramasamy [171] adapted this method to show that the system of equations

$$x^2 - 5y^2 = -20, \qquad z^2 - 2y^2 = 1$$

has no solution other than (x, y, z) = (0, 2, 3). Muriefah and Al Rashed [1] showed that the system

$$y^2 - 5x^2 = 4, \qquad z^2 - 442x^2 = 441$$

has no integer solutions using a similar method to that presented by Mohanty and Ramasamy. Additionally, Peker and Cenberci [182] proved that the system

$$y^2 - 10x^2 = 9, \qquad z^2 - 17x^2 = 16$$

can not be solved simultaneously in nonzero integers x, y, z using the same method with Muriefah and Rashed. Kedlaya [128] gave a general procedure, based on the methods of Cohn and the theory of Pell equations, that solves many systems of the form (98). In fact, he applied this approach on several examples in which P is univariate with degree at most two. Moreover, in some cases this procedure fails to solve a system completely. To investigate the solutions of the Diophantine equation (95) from the sequences of Fibonacci numbers and Lucas numbers, i.e. $(X, Y) = (L_n, F_n)$ (or $(X, Y) = (F_n, L_n)$), we use Kedlaya's procedure and similar techniques adapted by the methods of Mohanty and Ramasamy, Muriefah and Rashed, and Peker and Cenberci to determine and prove whether or not each of the four systems of equations in (96) and (97) has a solution. We employ Kedlaya's procedure and the techniques of using the congruence arguments and the quadratic reciprocity to prove that the system

$$x^2 - 5y^2 = 4, \qquad 7x^2 + y^7 = z^2$$

has no more solutions other than $(x, y, z) = (3, 1, \pm 8)$, and each of the other three systems can not be solved simultaneously.

Next, we introduce some auxiliary results for which we need to prove our main results.

3.1.1. Auxiliary results.

For the proofs of our theorems, we need the following Lemma 3.1 presented by Copley [60], Lemmas 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 and a procedure presented by Kedlaya [128] for checking if a given list of solutions to a system of the form (98) is complete, and a remark, i.e. Remark 3.5, that shows the general forms of nonnegative solutions for the Pell type equations

$$x^2 - 5y^2 = \pm 4.$$

LEMMA 3.1. Let $(x_k + y_k\sqrt{a})(k = 0, 1, 2, 3, ...)$ be the solution of $x^2 - ay^2 = b$ in a fixed class C, where b is a given nonzero integer and a is a positive integer which is not a square, then

$$x_{-k} = x_k, \quad y_{-k} = -y_k,$$
 (99)

$$x_{k+r} = u_r x_k + a v_r y_k, \tag{100}$$

$$y_{k+r} = u_r y_k + v_r x_k, \tag{101}$$

where $(u_r + v_r\sqrt{a}) = (u_1 + v_1\sqrt{a})^r$ such that (u_1, v_1) is the fundamental solution of the Pell equation $u^2 - av^2 = 1$.

LEMMA 3.2. For all k, ω, r we have $y_{k+2\omega r} \equiv (-1)^{\omega} y_k \pmod{u_r}$ and $y_{k+2\omega r} \equiv y_k \pmod{v_r}$ (of course, the same result holds for u_k, v_k or x_k as well).

LEMMA 3.3. For all k, ω we have $v_k | v_{\omega k}$; if ω is odd, we also have $u_k | u_{\omega k}$.

LEMMA 3.4. If the sequence $\{f_k\}$ satisfies the recurrence relation

$$f_{k+1} = 2f_k u_1 - f_{k-1}$$

then for any positive integer χ , { $f_k \pmod{\chi}$ } is completely periodic (of course, the same result holds for $f_k = u_k, v_k, x_k$ or y_k as well).

3.1.1.1. Kedlaya's procedure.

Denote by (u_k, v_k) be the k^{th} solution of the Pell equation

$$u^2 - av^2 = 1$$

For each base solution (x_0, y_0) of the equation $x^2 - ay^2 = b$, let S be the set of integers m such that (x_m, y_m) is in the given list of solutions. One can prove that $P(x_m, y_m)$ is a prefect square if and only if $m \in S$ as follows (without having to give up):

- For each $m \in S$, let $\alpha = P(-x_m, -y_m)$.
- If |α| is a perfect square, we give up; otherwise, let β be the product of all the primes that divide α an odd number of times.
- Let l be the period of {u_k(mod β)} (the period is guaranteed by Lemma 3.4) and d be the largest odd divisor of l.
- Let q be the largest integer such that $2^{q}|l$, unless 4 does not divide l, in which case let q = 2.
- Let s be the order of 2 in the group $(\mathbb{Z}/d\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$.
- Define the set $U = \{t \in \{0, \dots, d-1\} : \left(\frac{u_{2q_t}}{\beta}\right) = -1\}.$
- If U is empty, we give up; otherwise find an odd number j such that for each $\epsilon = q, \ldots, q + s 1$, there exist $t \in U$ and $g \mid j$ with $2^{\epsilon-q}g \equiv t \pmod{\beta}$.
- Let $\gamma_m = 2^q j$ and γ be twice the least common multiple of γ_m for all $m \in S$.
- Find an integer δ with the following property: for every k ∈ {0,..., δγ − 1}, either k ≡ m (mod 2γ_m) for some m ∈ S; or there exists a prime number p such that P(x_k, y_k) is a nonresidue (mod p), with {x_i (mod p)} and

 $\{y_i \pmod{p}\}\$ have periods dividing $\delta\gamma$. Using Lemmas 3.2 and 3.3, we note that the period condition can be guaranteed by having $p|v_{\kappa}$ for some κ , where $2\kappa|\delta\gamma$.

Suppose that δ can be found satisfying the specified properties. To show that P(x_m, y_m) is a prefect square if and only if m ∈ S, assume that there exists k ∉ S such that P(x_k, y_k) is a perfect square. By the construction of δ, there exists m such that k ≡ m (mod 2γ_m), or else there exists a prime number p such that P(x_k, y_k) is a nonresidue (mod p). Since k ∉ S, so k ≠ m and k = m + 2^{ε+1}jh for some h, ε with h odd and ε ≥ q. Using Lemma 3.2, we get that

$$x_k \equiv -x_m \pmod{u_{j2^{\epsilon}}}$$
 and $y_k \equiv -y_m \pmod{u_{j2^{\epsilon}}}$.

Therefore,

$$P(x_k, y_k) \equiv P(-x_m, -y_m) = \alpha \pmod{u_{j2^{\epsilon}}}.$$

The construction gives that for some $t \in U$ and some $g \mid j$ with $2^{\epsilon-q}g \equiv t \pmod{\beta}$. It is clear that $\epsilon \ge q \ge 2$ and $\{u_k \pmod{8}\}$ has period dividing 4. Thus, the Jacobi symbols $\left(\frac{-1}{u_2\epsilon_g}\right)$ and $\left(\frac{2}{u_2\epsilon_g}\right)$ both equal 1. Since $|\alpha|/\beta$ is a perfect square and $u_{g2^{\epsilon}}|u_{j2^{\epsilon}}$ by Lemma 3.3, we have by quadratic reciprocity

$$\left(\frac{P(x_k, y_k)}{u_{2^{\epsilon}g}}\right) = \left(\frac{\alpha}{u_{2^{\epsilon}g}}\right) = \left(\frac{\beta}{u_{2^{\epsilon}g}}\right) = \left(\frac{u_{2^{\epsilon}g}}{\beta}\right) = \left(\frac{u_{2^{q}t}}{\beta}\right) = -1,$$

which contradicts the assumption that $P(x_k, y_k)$ is a perfect square.

REMARK 3.5. The Pell equation $u^2 - 5v^2 = 1$ has the fundamental solution $(u_1, v_1) = (9, 4)$, and the Pell type equation $x^2 - 5y^2 = 4$ has three non associated classes of solutions with the fundamental solutions $3 + \sqrt{5}, 3 - \sqrt{5}$ and 2. Therefore, its general solutions are given by

$$x_k + y_k \sqrt{5} = (3 + \sqrt{5})(9 + 4\sqrt{5})^k, \tag{102}$$

$$x_k + y_k \sqrt{5} = (3 - \sqrt{5})(9 + 4\sqrt{5})^k, \tag{103}$$

$$x_k + y_k \sqrt{5} = (2)(9 + 4\sqrt{5})^k, \tag{104}$$

respectively. Similarly, the general solutions of the Pell type equation $x^2 - 5y^2 = -4$ are given by

$$x_k + y_k \sqrt{5} = (1 + \sqrt{5})(9 + 4\sqrt{5})^k, \tag{105}$$

$$x_k + y_k \sqrt{5} = (-1 + \sqrt{5})(9 + 4\sqrt{5})^k, \tag{106}$$

$$x_k + y_k \sqrt{5} = (4 + 2\sqrt{5})(9 + 4\sqrt{5})^k, \tag{107}$$

respectively. For more details about the Pell type equations, see Subsection 1.2.1 of Chapter 1.

3.1.2. New results.

In the following we present our main results related to the solutions of the Diophantine equation (95) in case of $(X, Y) = (L_n, F_n)$ (or $(X, Y) = (F_n, L_n)$) and Z is a nonzero integer. These results consist of two theorems, which are respectively represented as Theorem 1 and Theorem 2 in [104].

THEOREM 3.6. Suppose that $X = L_n$ and $Y = F_n$, then the Diophantine equation (95) has no more solutions other than $(X, Y, Z) = (3, 1, \pm 8)$.

THEOREM 3.7. The Diophantine equation (95) has no solutions in integers X, Yand Z if $X = F_n$ and $Y = L_n$.

3.1.3. Proofs of the results.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.6. To prove this theorem, we have to show that (3,1,8) and (3,1,-8) are the only solutions to the systems of the simultaneous Diophantine equations in (96). In fact, they are the only solutions to the system

$$x^2 - 5y^2 = 4, (108)$$

$$7x^2 + y^7 = z^2, (109)$$

where $x = L_n$, $y = F_n$ and z = Z. Now, let $P(x, y) = 7x^2 + y^7$. Considering equation (102) and using Kedlaya's procedure described in 3.1.1.1, it is possible to show that $P(x_m, y_m)$ is a perfect square if and only if $m \in S = \{0\}$ and the set

$$\{(x_0, y_0, z)\} = \{(3, 1, -8), (3, 1, 8)\}$$

is a complete list of solutions to the system of the Diophantine equations (108) and (109) with the procedure's output: $\alpha = \beta = 62, l = d = 5, q = 2, s = 3, U = \{2,3\}, \gamma_m = 60, \gamma = 120$ and $\delta = 1$ such that for $k = 0, k \equiv m \equiv 0 \pmod{120}$. Following the last step in the procedure, one can easily show that there exists no k other than k = 0such that $k \equiv 0 \pmod{120}$ and $P(x_k, y_k)$ is a perfect square. Assume, for the sake of contradiction, that there exists $k \notin S$ such that $k \equiv 0 \pmod{120}$ and $P(x_k, y_k)$ is a perfect square. Therefore, $k = 2^{\epsilon+1}jh = 2^{\epsilon+1}15h$ for some h, ϵ with h odd and $\epsilon \ge q = 2$. Using Lemma 3.2, we obtain

$$x_k \equiv -x_0 = -3 \pmod{u_{2^{\epsilon}15}}$$
 and $y_k \equiv -y_0 = -1 \pmod{u_{2^{\epsilon}15}}$,
which imply that $P(x_k, y_k) \equiv P(-3, -1) = 62 = \alpha \pmod{u_{2^{\epsilon}15}}$. Since
 $2^{\epsilon - q}g \equiv t \pmod{\beta}$

for some $t \in U = \{2, 3\}$ and some $g \mid 15$ and $|\alpha| / \beta$ is equal 1 which is a perfect square, we get that $u_{2^{\epsilon}g} \mid u_{2^{\epsilon}15}$ by Lemma 3.3. Moreover, we have the Jacobi symbol $\left(\frac{2}{u_{2^{\epsilon}g}}\right)$ is equal 1. Therefore, we obtain by the quadratic reciprocity that

$$\left(\frac{P(x_k, y_k)}{u_{2^{\epsilon}g}}\right) = \left(\frac{62}{u_{2^{\epsilon}g}}\right) = \left(\frac{u_{2^{\epsilon}g}}{62}\right) = \left(\frac{u_{2^{2}t}}{62}\right) = \left(\frac{37}{62}\right) = -1$$

for all t, contradicting the assumption that $P(x_k, y_k)$ is a perfect square. Next, we consider $k \neq 0$. From equations (100) and (101) in Lemma 3.1, we can write

 $x_{k+15} = (3220013013190122249)x_k + 5(1440033597185408060)y_k, \quad (110)$

$$y_{k+15} = (3220013013190122249)y_k + (1440033597185408060)x_k, \tag{111}$$

which imply that

$$x_{k+15} \equiv x_k \pmod{11}$$
 and $y_{k+15} \equiv y_k \pmod{11}$, (112)

- $x_{k+15} \equiv -x_k \pmod{17}$ and $y_{k+15} \equiv -y_k \pmod{17},$ (113) $y_{k+15} \equiv y_k \pmod{19},$ $x_{k+15} \equiv x_k \pmod{19}$ and (114) $x_{k+15} \equiv 35y_k \pmod{41}$ $y_{k+15} \equiv 7x_k \pmod{41},$ and (115) $x_{k+15} \equiv -x_k \pmod{61}$ $y_{k+15} \equiv -y_k \pmod{61},$ and (116) $x_{k+15} \equiv 40y_k \pmod{107}$ $y_{k+15} \equiv 8x_k \pmod{107},$ and (117) $x_{k+15} \equiv x_k \pmod{181}$ $y_{k+15} \equiv y_k \pmod{181},$ and (118) $x_{k+15} \equiv x_k \pmod{541}$ $y_{k+15} \equiv y_k \pmod{541},$ and (119) $x_{k+15} \equiv -x_k \pmod{109441}$ $y_{k+15} \equiv -y_k \pmod{109441},$ and (120)
- $x_{k+15} \equiv 4160200y_k \pmod{\xi}$ and $y_{k+15} \equiv 832040x_k \pmod{\xi}$, (121)

where $\xi = 10783342081$. From (112), equation (109) becomes

 $z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 + y_k^7 \pmod{11}$.

If $k \equiv 1 \pmod{15}$, then $x_k \equiv x_1 \equiv 3 \pmod{11}$ and $y_k \equiv y_1 \equiv 10 \pmod{11}$, which imply that $z^2 \equiv 7 \pmod{11}$, but the Legendre symbol $\left(\frac{7}{11}\right) = -1$. So $k \not\equiv 1 \pmod{15}$. Next, if $k \equiv 3 \pmod{15}$, then $z^2 \equiv 6 \pmod{11}$, which is impossible since $\left(\frac{6}{11}\right) = -1$. Hence, $k \not\equiv 3 \pmod{15}$. From (113), equation (109) implies that

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 - y_k^7 \pmod{17}$$
.

If $k \equiv 4 \pmod{15}$, we get $x_k \equiv x_4 \equiv 4 \pmod{17}$ and $y_k \equiv y_4 \equiv 13 \pmod{17}$. Thus, $z^2 \equiv 6 \pmod{17}$, but $\left(\frac{6}{17}\right) = -1$. Therefore, $k \not\equiv 4 \pmod{15}$. Moreover, if $k \equiv 5 \pmod{15}$ leads to $z^2 \equiv 14 \pmod{17}$, then this gives a contradiction again. Thus, $k \not\equiv 5 \pmod{15}$. Using (115) and from equation (109), we get

$$z^2 \equiv 17x_k^7 + 6y_k^2 \pmod{41}.$$

If $k \equiv 12, 14 \pmod{15}$, we obtain $z^2 \equiv 29 \pmod{41}$. This is impossible since 29 is a quadratic nonresidue modulo 41. Hence, $k \not\equiv 12, 14 \pmod{15}$. From (116), equation (109) gives

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 - y_k^7 \pmod{61}$$

Similarly, if $k \equiv 7 \pmod{15}$ or $k \equiv 9 \pmod{15}$, then $z^2 \equiv 43 \pmod{61}$ or $z^2 \equiv 29 \pmod{61}$, respectively. But, these yield a contradiction since $\binom{43}{61} = -1 = \binom{29}{61}$. So $k \not\equiv 7, 9 \pmod{15}$. Finally, using (119), equation (109) implies that

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 + y_k^7 \pmod{541},$$

which is impossible if $k \equiv 2, 6, 8, 10, 11, 13 \pmod{15}$. Therefore,

 $k \not\equiv 2, 6, 8, 10, 11, 13 \pmod{15}$.

Here, we have proved the completeness of the given list of solutions related to equation (102). Then it remains to show that the equations (108) and (109) have no common solution at the equations (103) and (104) using the above techniques of congruence arguments and the quadratic reciprocity. Now, we consider equation (103). By using (112), we get $z^2 \equiv 7 \pmod{11}$ if $k \equiv 0 \pmod{15}$. However, $\left(\frac{7}{11}\right) = -1$. Also, if $k \equiv 2 \pmod{15}$, we get a contradiction since $z^2 \equiv 6 \pmod{11}$ is impossible. Therefore, $k \not\equiv 0, 2 \pmod{15}$. Next, from (114), equation (109) leads to

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 + y_k^7 \pmod{19}$$
.

If $k \equiv 1 \pmod{15}$, then $x_k \equiv x_1 \equiv 7 \pmod{19}$ and $y_k \equiv y_1 \equiv 3 \pmod{19}$. So $z^2 \equiv 3 \pmod{19}$, but this is impossible since 3 is a quadratic nonresidue modulo 19, hence $k \not\equiv 1 \pmod{15}$. From (115), if $k \equiv 10 \pmod{15}$, then $z^2 \equiv 14 \pmod{41}$. This again leads to a contradiction since $\left(\frac{14}{41}\right) = -1$, thus $k \not\equiv 10 \pmod{15}$. Using (116), the equation

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 - y_k^7 \pmod{61}$$

leads to $z^2 \equiv 51 \pmod{61}$, $z^2 \equiv 29 \pmod{61}$ or $z^2 \equiv 43 \pmod{61}$ if $k \equiv 4 \pmod{15}$, $k \equiv 6 \pmod{15}$ or $k \equiv 8 \pmod{51}$, respectively. But, 29, 43 and 51 are quadratic nonresidues modulo 61, which implies that $k \not\equiv 4, 6, 8 \pmod{15}$. If we use equation (118), (109) implies that

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 + y_k^7 \pmod{181}$$
.

Here, we face a contradiction if $k \equiv 3, 7, 9 \pmod{15}$. Therefore,

$$k \not\equiv 3, 7, 9 \pmod{15}$$
.

From (119), the equation

 $z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 + y_k^7 \pmod{541}$

and $k \equiv 5, 11, 12, 13, 14 \pmod{15}$ yield a contradiction. So

$$k \not\equiv 5, 11, 12, 13, 14 \pmod{15}$$
.

Finally, we consider (104). If $k \equiv 0 \pmod{15}$, then $z^2 \equiv 11 \pmod{17}$, again giving a contradiction since $\left(\frac{11}{17}\right) = -1$. Moreover, if $k \equiv 5 \pmod{15}$, then $z^2 \equiv 5 \pmod{17}$. This is again impossible, so $k \not\equiv 0, 5 \pmod{15}$. Now, we use equation (114). If $k \equiv 1 \pmod{15}$, then $x_k \equiv x_1 \equiv 18 \pmod{19}$ and $y_k \equiv y_1 \equiv 8 \pmod{19}$. This implies that $z^2 \equiv 15 \pmod{19}$, but 15 is a quadratic nonresidue modulo 19. Hence, $k \not\equiv 1 \pmod{15}$. From (118), we get

$$z^2 \equiv 155 \pmod{181}$$

if $k \equiv 2 \pmod{15}$. But, $\left(\frac{155}{181}\right) = -1$. Furthermore, if $k \equiv 3 \pmod{15}$, we obtain $z^2 \equiv 22 \pmod{181}$, again yielding a contradiction. Similarly,

$$k \equiv 4, 6, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 \pmod{15}$$

again leads to a contradiction. So

 $k \not\equiv 2, 3, 4, 6, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 \pmod{15}$.

Using equation (119) with $k \equiv 7 \pmod{15}$, we get $z^2 \equiv 502 \pmod{541}$. This is also impossible since $\left(\frac{502}{541}\right) = -1$. Therefore, $k \not\equiv 7 \pmod{15}$. If we use equation (121) for $k \equiv 8 \pmod{15}$, then (109) implies that

$$z^2 \equiv 3401662621 \pmod{10783342081}$$
.

This is impossible and hence $k \not\equiv 8 \pmod{15}$. We have thus proved that the equations (108) and (109) have no common solutions other than

$$(x, y, z) = (3, 1, \pm 8) = (L_2, \{F_1, F_2\}, z) = (X, Y, Z).$$

To complete the proof of the theorem, we must show that the other system of the simultaneous Diophantine equations in (96), i.e.

$$x^2 - 5y^2 = -4, (122)$$

$$7x^2 + y^7 = z^2, (123)$$

has no integer solution (x, y, z) such that $x = L_n, y = F_n$ and z = Z. Again, we use the same techniques of congruence arguments and the quadratic reciprocity to exhaust all the possibilities of $k \equiv \rho \pmod{r}$ for a proper r and $\rho = 0, 1, 2, ..., r - 1$. From equations (100) and (101), we can write

$$x_{k+10} = (1730726404001)x_k + 5(774004377960)y_k, \tag{124}$$

$$y_{k+10} = (1730726404001)y_k + (774004377960)x_k, \tag{125}$$

which lead to

$$x_{k+10} \equiv x_k \pmod{11}$$
 and $y_{k+10} \equiv y_k \pmod{11}$, (126)

$$x_{k+10} \equiv 15y_k \pmod{23}$$
 and $y_{k+10} \equiv 3x_k \pmod{23}$, (127)

$$x_{k+10} \equiv x_k \pmod{31}$$
 and $y_{k+10} \equiv y_k \pmod{31}$, (128)

$$x_{k+10} \equiv -x_k \pmod{41}$$
 and $y_{k+10} \equiv -y_k \pmod{41}$, (129)

$$x_{k+10} \equiv x_k \pmod{61}$$
 and $y_{k+10} \equiv y_k \pmod{61}$, (130)

$$x_{k+10} \equiv 85y_k \pmod{241}$$
 and $y_{k+10} \equiv 17x_k \pmod{241}$, (131)

$$x_{k+10} \equiv -x_k \pmod{2521}$$
 and $y_{k+10} \equiv -y_k \pmod{2521}$. (132)

First, we consider (105). From (126), equation (123) gives

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 + y_k^7 \pmod{11}$$
.

If $k \equiv 0,3 \pmod{10}$, then $z^2 \equiv 8 \pmod{11}$. But, 8 is a quadratic nonresidue modulo 11. So $k \not\equiv 0,3 \pmod{10}$. Using (128), equation (123) implies that

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 + y_k^7 \pmod{31}.$$

If $k \equiv 2 \pmod{10}$, then $x_k \equiv x_2 \equiv 25 \pmod{31}$ and $y_k \equiv y_2 \equiv 16 \pmod{31}$, which yield $z^2 \equiv 12 \pmod{31}$. This is impossible, hence $k \not\equiv 2 \pmod{10}$. Moreover, if

 $k \equiv 4 \pmod{10}$, then $z^2 \equiv 15 \pmod{31}$, again leading to a contradiction. So $k \not\equiv 4 \pmod{10}$. From (130), we get

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 + y_k^7 \pmod{61}$$
.

If $k \equiv 1 \pmod{10}$, then $z^2 \equiv 44 \pmod{61}$. However, $\left(\frac{44}{61}\right) = -1$. This gives $k \not\equiv 1 \pmod{10}$. In a similar way, if $k \equiv 5, 6, 9 \pmod{10}$, we obtain a contradiction again. Therefore, $k \not\equiv 5, 6, 9 \pmod{10}$. From (131), equation (123) leads to

$$z^2 \equiv 23x_k^7 + 206y_k^2 \pmod{241}$$
.

If $k \equiv 7 \pmod{10}$ or $k \equiv 8 \pmod{10}$, then $z^2 \equiv 153 \pmod{241}$ or $z^2 \equiv 68 \pmod{241}$, respectively and again giving a contradiction. Hence, $k \not\equiv 7, 8 \pmod{10}$.

Next, we consider (106). From (129), equation (123) gives

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 - y_k^7 \pmod{41},$$

which is impossible if $k \equiv 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 \pmod{10}$. This requires

$$k \not\equiv 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 \pmod{10}$$

Using (130), we get $z^2 \equiv 44 \pmod{61}$ if $k \equiv 9 \pmod{10}$. This gives a contradiction again, so $k \not\equiv 9 \pmod{10}$. From (132), we obtain

$$z^2 \equiv 7x_k^2 - y_k^7 \pmod{2521}$$
.

Then $z^2 \equiv 1129 \pmod{2521}$ if $k \equiv 8 \pmod{10}$. But, $\left(\frac{1129}{2521}\right) = -1$. Hence, $k \neq 8 \pmod{10}$.

Finally, we consider (107). Using (127), equation (123) implies that

$$z^2 \equiv 2x_k^7 + 11y_k^2 \pmod{23},$$

which is impossible if $k \equiv 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 \pmod{10}$. This forces

 $k \not\equiv 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 \pmod{10}$.

It remains to consider $k \equiv 8, 9 \pmod{10}$. Here, we use equation (129). If $k \equiv 8 \pmod{10}$ or $k \equiv 9 \pmod{10}$, then $z^2 \equiv 30 \pmod{41}$ or $z^2 \equiv 35 \pmod{41}$, respectively. But, 30 and 35 are quadratic nonresidues modulo 41. So $k \not\equiv 8, 9 \pmod{10}$. Thus, the simultaneous Diophantine equations (122) and (123) can not be solved simultaneously. Hence, Theorem 3.6 is proved.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.7. We prove this theorem by showing the simultaneous Diophantine equations in (97) have no common solutions. Firstly, we consider the system of Diophantine equations

$$x^2 - 5y^2 = 4, (133)$$

$$x^7 + 7y^2 = z^2, (134)$$

where $x = L_n, y = F_n$ and z = Z. To prove this system has no solution, we follow the same approach used in the proof of Theorem 3.6 to exhaust all the possibilities
61

of $k \equiv \rho \pmod{15}$ for $\rho = 0, 1, 2, \dots, 14$, with using some equations of (110)-(121). Firstly, we consider (102). From (112), equation (134) gives

$$z^2 \equiv x_k^7 + 7y_k^2 \pmod{11}$$
.

If $k \equiv 3 \pmod{15}$, then $z^2 \equiv 7 \pmod{11}$. This is impossible, so $k \not\equiv 3 \pmod{15}$. Using (117), we get $z^2 \equiv 51 \pmod{107}$ if $k \equiv 7 \pmod{15}$. But, $\left(\frac{51}{107}\right) = -1$. So $k \not\equiv 7 \pmod{15}$. From (118), we get a contradiction if $k \equiv 0, 1, 2, 5, 6, 8, 10, 12 \pmod{15}$. To exclude the rest possibilities, we use (119), which leads to

$$z^2 \equiv x_k^7 + 7y_k^2 \pmod{541}$$
.

If $k \equiv 4 \pmod{15}$, then $z^2 \equiv 206 \pmod{541}$. This gives a contradiction since 206 is a quadratic nonresidue modulo 541. Similarly, $k \equiv 9, 11, 13, 14 \pmod{15}$ leads to a contradiction again. Therefore,

$$k \not\equiv 4, 9, 11, 13, 14 \pmod{15}$$
.

Now, we consider (103). From (116), equation (134) implies that

$$z^2 \equiv 7y_k^2 - x_k^7 \pmod{61}.$$

Starting with $k \equiv 8 \pmod{15}$, we get $z^2 \equiv 43 \pmod{61}$. Again, we get a contradiction, thus $k \not\equiv 8 \pmod{15}$. Using (118), we get

$$z^2 \equiv x_k^7 + 7y_k^2 \pmod{181}$$
.

If $k \equiv 0 \pmod{15}$, then $x_k \equiv x_0 \equiv 3 \pmod{181}$ and $y_k \equiv y_0 \equiv 180 \pmod{181}$, which give $z^2 \equiv 22 \pmod{181}$. This is impossible since $\left(\frac{22}{181}\right) = -1$. Furthermore, $k \equiv 3, 5, 7, 9, 10, 13, 14 \pmod{15}$ yields a contradiction again. Therefore,

 $k \not\equiv 0, 3, 5, 7, 9, 10, 13, 14 \pmod{15}$.

From (119), the equation

$$z^2 \equiv x_k^7 + 7y_k^2 \pmod{541}$$

is impossible if $k \equiv 1, 2, 4, 6, 11 \pmod{15}$. So

$$k \not\equiv 1, 2, 4, 6, 11 \pmod{15}$$
.

Using (120), we get

$$z^2 \equiv 7y_k^2 - x_k^7 \pmod{109441}.$$

If $k \equiv 12 \pmod{15}$, then $z^2 \equiv 98563 \pmod{109441}$. This is impossible since 98563 is a quadratic nonresidue modulo 109441. Hence, $k \not\equiv 12 \pmod{15}$.

Finally, we consider (104). Equation (118) leads to

$$z^2 \equiv x_k^7 + 7y_k^2 \pmod{181},$$

which is impossible if

$$k \equiv 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 \pmod{15}$$
.

Therefore, they are all excluded. Hence, the simultaneous Diophantine equations (133) and (134) have no common solutions. We finish the proof of the theorem by proving the system of the Diophantine equations

$$x^2 - 5y^2 = -4, (135)$$

$$x^7 + 7y^2 = z^2, (136)$$

where $x = L_n$, $y = F_n$ and z = Z, can not be solved simultaneously. Again, we use some appropriate equations of (124)-(132) to exclude all the possibilities of $k \equiv \rho$ (mod 10) for $\rho = 0, 1, 2, ..., 9$. First of all, we consider equation (105). From (126), equation (136) leads to $z^2 \equiv 8 \pmod{11}$, $z^2 \equiv 6 \pmod{11}$ or $z^2 \equiv 10 \pmod{11}$ if $k \equiv 0 \pmod{10}$, $k \equiv 3 \pmod{10}$ or $k \equiv 4 \pmod{10}$, respectively. However, 6, 8 and 10 are quadratic nonresidues modulo 11. So $k \not\equiv 0, 3, 4 \pmod{10}$. Using (127), we get

$$z^2 \equiv 17x_k^2 + 11y_k^7 \pmod{23}.$$

If $k \equiv 1 \pmod{10}$, then $z^2 \equiv 21 \pmod{23}$. This yields a contradiction, hence $k \not\equiv 1 \pmod{10}$. If we use (129), we obtain

$$z^2 \equiv 7y_k^2 - x_k^7 \pmod{41},$$

which can not be held for $k \equiv 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 \pmod{10}$. Thus,

$$k \not\equiv 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 \pmod{10}$$

From (130), we get $z^2 \equiv 31 \pmod{61}$ for $k \equiv 2 \pmod{10}$. But, $\left(\frac{31}{61}\right) = -1$. Therefore, $k \not\equiv 2 \pmod{10}$.

Next, we consider (106). In fact, equation (126) and $k \equiv 0 \pmod{10}$ give $z^2 \equiv 6 \pmod{11}$, again yielding a contradiction. So $k \not\equiv 0 \pmod{10}$. Similarly, we get a contradiction again if we use (129) for $k \equiv 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7 \pmod{10}$. Hence,

$$k \not\equiv 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7 \pmod{10}$$

From (131), we obtain

$$z^2 \equiv 95x_k^2 + 220y_k^7 \pmod{241}.$$

If $k \equiv 6 \pmod{10}$, then $z^2 \equiv 7 \pmod{241}$. Moreover, if $k \equiv 8 \pmod{10}$ or $k \equiv 9 \pmod{10}$, then $z^2 \equiv 21 \pmod{241}$ or $z^2 \equiv 37 \pmod{241}$, respectively. But, 7, 21 and 37 are quadratic nonresidues modulo 241. So $k \not\equiv 6, 8, 9 \pmod{10}$.

Lastly, we consider (107). From (126), we have $z^2 \equiv 8 \pmod{11}$ if $k \equiv 3 \pmod{10}$. This is impossible. Therefore, $k \not\equiv 3 \pmod{10}$. Equation (130) leads to a contradiction again if $k \equiv 6 \pmod{10}$. So $k \not\equiv 6 \pmod{10}$. In a similar way, we can use (129) to eliminate all the remaining possibilities of $k \equiv \rho \pmod{10}$ such that $\rho = 0, 1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9$. Hence, the simultaneous Diophantine equations (135) and (136) have no common solutions. Therefore, Theorem 3.7 is completely proved. \Box

3.2. Solutions of generalizations of Markoff equation from linear recurrence sequences

From Subsection 1.2.2 of Chapter 1, we recall Markoff equation; that is, the Diophantine equation

$$x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = 3xyz \tag{137}$$

in positive integers $x \le y \le z$, which was deeply studied by Markoff [160, 161] demonstrating a relationship between its integer solutions (so-called Markoff triples) and Diophantine approximation. As mentioned earlier that Markoff obtained many interesting results related to the Markoff triples such as there are infinitely many Markoff triples, which can be generated from the fundamental solution (1,1,1) and the branching operation

$$(x, y, z)$$

$$(x, z, 3xz - y) \quad (y, z, 3yz - x).$$

In fact, the set of ordered positive solutions can be organized in a tree called Markoff's tree. A component of some Markoff triple is called a Markoff number. The sequence of Markoff numbers is as follows

 $1, 2, 5, 13, 29, 34, 89, 169, 194, 233, 433, 610, 985, 1325, 1597, \ldots$

(sequence A002559 [221]), which appear as coordinates of Markoff triples

$$(1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 2), (1, 2, 5), (1, 5, 13), (2, 5, 29), (1, 13, 34), (1, 34, 89),$$

 $(2, 29, 169), (5, 13, 194), (1, 89, 233), (5, 29, 433), (1, 233, 610),$
 $(2, 169, 985), (13, 34, 1325), \dots$

This equation has been generalized by several authors. For instance, Hurwitz [122] applied Markoff's descent technique to the equation

$$x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \ldots + x_n^2 = ax_1x_2\ldots x_n,$$

with a being a nonzero integer and $n \ge 3$. Mordell [175] studied the integer solutions of the equation

$$x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = axyz + b,$$

where a and b are integers with a > 0. Another generalization was considered by Rosenberger [198], which has the form

$$ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz.$$
 (138)

This equation is often called the Markoff-Rosenberger equation. Rosenberger proved that if $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{N}$ are integers such that gcd(a, b) = gcd(a, c) = gcd(b, c) = 1 and a, b, c|d, then nontrivial solutions exist only if $(a, b, c, d) \in T$, where

$$T = \{(1,1,1,1), (1,1,1,3), (1,1,2,2), (1,1,2,4), (1,1,5,5), (1,2,3,6)\}.$$

The Markoff-Rosenberger equation was generalized by Jin and Schmidt [123] in which they determined the positive integer solutions of the equation

$$AX^2 + BY^2 + CZ^2 = DXYZ + 1.$$
 (139)

Jin and Schmidt showed that equation (139) has a fundamental solution if and only if

$$(A, B, C, D) \in \{(2, 2, 3, 6), (2, 1, 2, 2), (7, 2, 14, 14), (3, 1, 6, 6), (6, 10, 15, 30), (5, 1, 5, 5), (1, t, t, 2t)\}, \text{with } t \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Respecting the authors of this generalization, we call equation (139) the Jin-Schmidt equation. Other generalizations and studies related to the Markoff equation can be found in [6], [15], [94], [119] and the references given there. One of the recent studies related to the Markoff equation (137) was introduced by Luca and Srinivasan [155] in which they proved that the only solution of Markoff equation with $x \le y \le z$ such that $(x, y, z) = (F_i, F_j, F_k)$ is given by the well-known identity related to the Fibonacci numbers

$$1 + F_{2n-1}^2 + F_{2n+1}^2 = 3F_{2n-1}F_{2n+1}.$$

Moreover, Kafle, Srinivasan and Togbé [125] determined all triples of Pell numbers $(x, y, z) = (P_i, P_j, P_k)$ satisfying Markoff equation. Here, there is an other identity given by

$$2^2 + P_{2m-1}^2 + P_{2m+1}^2 = 3 \cdot 2 \cdot P_{2m-1} P_{2m+1}.$$

Recently, Altassan and Luca [5] considered the Markoff-Rosenberger equation (138) with integer solutions (x, y, z), which are all members of a Lucas sequence whose characteristic equation has roots which are quadratic units.

In this section, we present our new results in the following two subsections in which we extend the result of Luca and Srinivasan by simplifying their strategy with having upper bounds for the minimum of the indices to provide a direct approach for investigating such special solutions of the Jin-Schmidt equation (139) and the Markoff-Rosenberger equation (138), respectively. In the first subsection we find all the triples of Fibonacci numbers satisfying the Jin-Schmidt equation (the terms of the Fibonacci sequence $\{F_n\}$ are given by (23)), and in the other one we consider the generalized Lucas number solutions of the Markoff-Rosenberger equation (the generalized Lucas numbers are presented by the terms of the Lucas sequences $\{U_n\}$ and $\{V_n\}$ that are given by (19) and (20), respectively). Then we apply the obtained results to completely resolve concrete equations, e.g. we determine solutions containing only balancing numbers and Jacobsthal numbers, respectively (the terms of the sequences of balancing numbers $(B_n)_{n\geq 0}$ and Jacobsthal numbers $(J_n)_{n\geq 0}$ are respectively given by (29) and (27)). Following the same strategy, Markoff-Rosenberger triples containing only Fibonacci numbers were determined by Tengely [**244**].

3.2.1. Solutions of the Jin-Schmidt equation in Fibonacci numbers.

Here, we investigate the solutions $(X, Y, Z) = (F_I, F_J, F_K)$ in positive integers of the Jin-Schmidt equation (139). In other words, we study the solutions of the following Diophantine equations in the sequence of Fibonacci numbers:

$$2X^2 + 2Y^2 + 3Z^2 = 6XYZ + 1, (140)$$

$$2X^2 + Y^2 + 2Z^2 = 2XYZ + 1, (141)$$

$$7X^2 + 2Y^2 + 14Z^2 = 14XYZ + 1, (142)$$

$$3X^2 + Y^2 + 6Z^2 = 6XYZ + 1, (143)$$

$$6X^2 + 10Y^2 + 15Z^2 = 30XYZ + 1, (144)$$

$$5X^2 + Y^2 + 5Z^2 = 5XYZ + 1.$$
(145)

We remark that the same technique can be applied in case of (A, B, C, D) = (1, t, t, 2t) for given values of t. One of the interesting motivations about the Jin-Schmidt equation is that the equation (140) appeared in connection with the description of the lower part of the approximation spectrum for quaternions. Moreover, it is connected with the description of approximation constants for complex numbers on the circle $\{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\}$ with respect to integers in the field $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{-3})$. For more details about these connections, one can see e.g. [123] and the references given there.

Next, we introduce the procedure which we use to study the existence and nonexistence of such special solutions of the Jin-Schmidt equation (particularly, equations (140)-(145)). Since this procedure can be adapted to study the solutions of any equation of the form $ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz + e$ (for certain nonzero integer coefficients) from certain binary linear recurrence sequences, we call it the general investigative procedure.

3.2.1.1. General investigative procedure.

To start the procedure off, we first have to obtain all the possible distinct equations

$$ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz + 1 \tag{146}$$

of equation (139) by permuting the coefficients A, B and C for

$$(A, B, C, D) \in S = \{(2, 2, 3, 6), (2, 1, 2, 2), (7, 2, 14, 14), (3, 1, 6, 6), (6, 10, 15, 30), (5, 1, 5, 5)\}.$$

The following steps summarize the technique of investigating all the solutions $(x, y, z) = (F_i, F_j, F_k)$ with $2 \le i \le j \le k$ for every equation of the form (146) for a given tuple (a, b, c, d); that is,

$$aF_i^2 + bF_j^2 + cF_k^2 = dF_iF_jF_k + 1, (147)$$

where $2 \le i \le j \le k$. Note that we assumed that $i \ge 2$ since $F_1 = F_2 = 1$.

• Determining an upper bound for i in equation (147). We first rewrite the equation in the form

$$cF_k - dF_iF_j = -\frac{aF_i^2 + bF_j^2}{F_k} + \frac{1}{F_k}.$$
(148)

Inserting the values of F_i, F_j and F_k in the left-hand side of equation (148) with using the Binet's Fibonacci numbers formula in (31) (that is $F_n = \frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\alpha - \beta}$, where $(\alpha, \beta) = \left(\frac{1 + \sqrt{5}}{2}, \frac{1 - \sqrt{5}}{2}\right)$ for all $n \ge 0$ and α is called the golden ratio and $\beta = \frac{-1}{\alpha}$), we obtain that

$$\frac{c}{\sqrt{5}}\alpha^{k} - \frac{d}{5}\alpha^{i+j} = -\frac{aF_{i}^{2} + bF_{j}^{2}}{F_{k}} + \frac{1}{F_{k}} + \frac{c}{\sqrt{5}}\beta^{k} - \frac{d}{5}(\alpha^{i}\beta^{j} + \alpha^{j}\beta^{i} - \beta^{i+j}).$$
(149)

Based on the inequalities for the n^{th} Fibonacci number in (35) (that is $\alpha^{n-2} \le F_n \le \alpha^{n-1}$ holds for all $n \ge 1$) and $2 \le i \le j \le k$ (that is $1 \le F_i \le F_j \le F_k$), we have that

$$\frac{aF_i^2 + bF_j^2}{F_k} \le (a+b)\frac{F_j^2}{F_k} \le (a+b)\alpha^{2j-k} \le (a+b)\alpha^j, \quad (150)$$

$$\frac{1}{F_k} \le 1 < \alpha^j,\tag{151}$$

$$\left|\frac{c}{\sqrt{5}}\beta^k\right| = \left|-\frac{c}{\sqrt{5}}\alpha^{-k}\right| \le \frac{c}{\sqrt{5}}\alpha^{-j} \le \frac{c}{5}\alpha^j,\tag{152}$$

$$\left|\frac{d}{5}(\alpha^{i}\beta^{j} + \alpha^{j}\beta^{i} - \beta^{i+j})\right| \le \frac{d}{5}(2\alpha^{j} + 1) \le \frac{3d}{5}\alpha^{j}.$$
(153)

Taking the absolute values to equation (149) and using the inequalities (150)-(153), we obtain that

$$\left|\frac{c}{\sqrt{5}}\alpha^k - \frac{d}{5}\alpha^{i+j}\right| < (1+a+b+\frac{c+3d}{5})\alpha^j.$$

Multiplying across by $\frac{\sqrt{5}}{c\alpha^{i+j}}$, we get that

$$\left|\alpha^{k-i-j} - \frac{d}{c\sqrt{5}}\right| < \frac{h}{\alpha^i},\tag{154}$$

where $h = \frac{\sqrt{5}}{c}(1 + a + b + \frac{c+3d}{5})$. Suppose that

$$\min_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \alpha^n - \frac{d}{c\sqrt{5}} \right| > g > 0,$$

so inequality (154) implies that

$$g < \frac{h}{\alpha^i},$$

which clearly gives

$$i \le \left\lfloor \frac{\ln\left(\frac{h}{g}\right)}{\ln(\alpha)} \right\rfloor = l.$$
(155)

Determining an upper bound for k − j in equation (147). In fact, for a given i one can use inequality (154) to obtain an upper bound for k − j. Here, we provide such a bound using the upper bound for i (that is i ≤ l) and inequality (154). We have that 1 ≤ a, b, c ≤ 15 and 2 ≤ d = D ≤ 30, which imply that h ≤ 52√5 < 116.3. Therefore, inequality (154) becomes

$$\left| \left| \alpha^{k-i-j} \right| - \left| \frac{d}{c\sqrt{5}} \right| \right| \le \left| \alpha^{k-i-j} - \frac{d}{c\sqrt{5}} \right| < \frac{116.3}{\alpha^2} < 44.5$$

as $i \ge 2$, which leads to

$$\left|\alpha^{k-i-j}\right| < 44.5 + \left|\frac{d}{c\sqrt{5}}\right| < 44.5 + \frac{30}{\sqrt{5}} < 58$$

as $d \leq 30$ and $c \geq 1$. Hence,

$$k - j < i + \frac{\ln(58)}{\ln(\alpha)} < l + 9 \quad \text{or} \quad k \le j + l + 8$$
 (156)

as $i \leq l$.

Eliminating the values of i for i ∈ [2, l] in which equation (147) does not hold (and then equation (146) for which (x, y, z) = (F_i, F_j, F_k) with 2 ≤ i ≤ j ≤ k). For that, we solve the Diophantine equation

$$aF_i^2 + by^2 + cz^2 - dF_iyz - 1 = 0$$
(157)

for y and z. This can be done by SageMath [231] using the function solve_diophantine(). If there exists no *i* for which equation (157) is satisfied, then equation (146) does not have any solution $(x, y, z) = (F_i, F_i, F_k)$ with $2 \le i \le j \le k$ at the tuple (a, b, c, d).

• Fixing *i* and *k* for an arbitrary $k \in \{j, j + 1, ..., j + l + 8\}$ in equation (147), we get that

$$bF_j^2 - sF_j + w = 0, (158)$$

where $s = dF_iF_k$ and $w = aF_i^2 + cF_k^2 - 1$. We note that the equation above only depends on j for all $j \ge i \ge 2$.

• Determining whether there exists j for which equation (158) holds using any of the following arguments:

(i) The technique of using the quadratic formula and the identity relationship between the Fibonacci numbers and Lucas numbers. Indeed, the sequence of Lucas numbers $(L_k)_{k\geq 0}$ is defined by (25), and from (21) the terms of the Fibonacci and Lucas sequences satisfy the identity

$$L_k^2 = 5F_k^2 \pm 4. \tag{159}$$

Multiplying (158) by 4b and adding s^2 to both sides lead to

$$(2bF_j - s)^2 = s^2 - 4bw. (160)$$

Multiplying equations (159) and (160) together yields

$$Y_1^2 = (5X_1^2 \pm 4)(d^2F_i^2X_1^2 - 4b(aF_i^2 + cX_1^2 - 1)),$$

where $X_1 = F_k$ and $Y_1 = L_k(2bF_j - dF_iF_k)$. Therefore, our problem is reduced to obtain integral points on these biquadratic genus 1 curves. This will be realized using an algorithm implemented in Magma [33] as SIntegralLjunggrenPoints() (based on results obtained by Tzanakis [249]) or an algorithm described by Alekseyev and Tengely [4] in which they gave an algorithmic reduction of the search for integral points on such a curve to solving a finite number of Thue equations.

- (ii) The Fibonacci identities substitution technique in which we use the Fibonacci sequence formula or some related identities to eliminate equation (158).
- (iii) The congruence argument technique in which we eliminate equation (158) modulo a prime number p.

Applications of these arguments will be shown in details in the proof of Theorem 3.8.

• From every obtained solution $(x, y, z) = (F_i, F_j, F_k)$ of equation (146) at the tuple (a, b, c, d), we derive the corresponding solution $(X, Y, Z) = (F_I, F_J, F_K)$ of equation (139) at the tuple (A, B, C, D) by comparing the positions of the components of their tuples.

3.2.1.2. New result.

In the following we present our main result regarding the solutions of the Jin-Schmidt equation (139) in Fibonacci numbers. This result appears as Theorem 3.1 in [107].

THEOREM 3.8. Let m be a positive integer greater than 1. If $(X, Y, Z) = (F_I, F_J, F_K)$ is a solution of equation (139) with $(A, B, C, D) \in S$, then the complete list of solutions is given by

Eq.	(A,B,C,D)	$\{(X,Y,Z)\}$
(140)	(2, 2, 3, 6)	$\{(1,1,1),(1,2,1),(1,2,3),(2,1,1),(2,1,3),$
		$(F_{2m-1}, F_{2m+1}, 1), (F_{2m+1}, F_{2m-1}, 1)\}$
(141)	(2, 1, 2, 2)	$\{(2,3,2),(2,5,2),(2,5,8),(8,5,2)\}$
(142)	(7, 2, 14, 14)	$\{(1,2,1),(1,5,1),(3,2,1),(3,2,5)\}$
(143)	(3, 1, 6, 6)	$\{(1,2,1),(3,2,1),(3,2,5)\}$
(144)	(6, 10, 15, 30)	$\{(1,1,1),(1,2,1),(1,2,3)\}$
(145)	(5, 1, 5, 5)	{}

3.2.1.3. Proof of the result.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.8. We follow the general investigative procedure described in 3.2.1.1 to obtain and prove the desired solutions in the theorem.

 \square Case 1. If (A, B, C, D) = (2, 2, 3, 6). We start by permuting the coefficients of equation (140) to obtain the equations

$$2x^2 + 2y^2 + 3z^2 = 6xyz + 1, (161)$$

$$2x^2 + 3y^2 + 2z^2 = 6xyz + 1, (162)$$

$$3x^2 + 2y^2 + 2z^2 = 6xyz + 1. (163)$$

We investigate the solutions of these equations with the assumptions of $x = F_i$, $y = F_j$ and $z = F_k$ for $2 \le i \le j \le k$. That will be pursued by determining upper bounds for i and k - j as described in the procedure. Thus, we have that the upper bounds for i in equations (161),(162) and (163) are given by $i \le 8, i \le 7$ and $i \le 7$, respectively. Therefore, we get that $k - j \le 16$, $k - j \le 15$ and $k - j \le 15$ in case of equations (161),(162) and (163), respectively. Let us consider equation (161) with $(x, y, z) = (F_i, F_j, F_k)$; that is, $2F_i^2 + 2F_j^2 + 3F_k^2 - 6F_iF_jF_k - 1 = 0$ with $2 \le i \le j \le k$ such that $2 \le i \le 8$ and $k \le j + 16$. Here, we obtain that $i \in \{2, 3, 5, 7\}$ in which the equation $2F_i^2 + 2y^2 + 3z^2 - 6F_iyz - 1 = 0$ is solvable. For i = 2 and $k \in \{j, j + 1, \ldots, j + 16\}$, we have that

$$2F_i^2 - 6F_kF_j + 3F_k^2 + 1 = 0. (164)$$

For each k we determine the values of j in which the latter equation is satisfied; we consider the equation as a quadratic in F_j and follow the argument described in (i) with (a, b, c, d) = (2, 2, 3, 6). It remains to solve the quartic Diophantine equations

$$Y_1^2 = 60X_1^4 + 8X_1^2 - 32, (165)$$

$$Y_1^2 = 60X_1^4 - 88X_1^2 + 32, (166)$$

where $X_1 = F_k$ and $Y_1 = (4F_j - 6F_k)L_k$. As mentioned earlier in the procedure that the integral points on these equations can be obtained using

the Magma function SIntegralLjunggrenPoints(). For equation (165), we get that $X_1 \in \{\pm 1, \pm 3\}$. In case of equation (166), we have that $X_1 \in \{\pm 1\}$. It follows that $F_k = 1$ or 3. Hence,

- If k = j and $F_k = 1$, then we have that k = j = 2. Therefore, we get the solution $(x, y, z) = (F_2, F_2, F_2) = (1, 1, 1)$.
- If $k \in [j+1, j+16]$, then $F_k = 1$ is impossible for all $j \ge 2$.
- If k = j and $F_k = 3$, then we obtain that k = j = 4. However, the triple (1,3,3) is clearly not a solution to equation (161).
- If k = j + 1 and $F_k = 3$, then we get that k = 4 and j = 3. Thus, we have the solution (x, y, z) = (1, 2, 3).
- If k = j + 2 and $F_k = 3$, then we obtain that k = 4 and j = 2. Again, we have that (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 3) is not a solution to equation (161).
- Finally, we have that $F_k = 3$ is impossible for all $k \in \{j + 3, ..., j + 16\}$ with $j \ge 2$.

Now, we deal with the case of i = 3 and $k \in [j, j+16]$ with $j \ge 3$. In a similar way, we follow the same argument on the following quadratic equation in F_j :

$$2F_j^2 - 12F_kF_j + 3F_k^2 + 7 = 0. (167)$$

We obtain the equations

$$Y_1^2 = 600X_1^4 + 200X_1^2 - 224$$

and

$$Y_1^2 = 600 X_1^4 - 760 X_1^2 + 224,$$

with $X_1 = F_k$ and $Y_1 = (4F_j - 12F_k)L_k$. In the former equation, we get that $X_1 \in \{\pm 1, \pm 3\}$. In the latter equation, we obtain that $X_1 \in \{\pm 1\}$. It follows that $F_k = 1$ or 3, which leads to no solution of equation (161). Furthermore, using the same argument described in (i) one can show that equation (161) does not have any solution of the form $(x, y, z) = (F_i, F_j, F_k)$ with $i \le j \le k$ in the case of i = 5 or 7 and $k \in [j, j + 16]$.

Next, for equation (162) we study the equation $2F_i^2 + 3F_j^2 + 2F_k^2 - 6F_iF_jF_k - 1 = 0$ with $2 \le i \le 7$ and $j \le k \le j + 15$. Again, we get that $i \in \{2, 3, 5, 7\}$ in which the equation $2F_i^2 + 3y^2 + 2z^2 - 6F_iyz - 1 = 0$ is solvable in y and z. Starting with i = 2 and $k \in \{j, j + 1, ..., j + 15\}$, and following the technique (i) we obtain that $F_k \in \{1, 2\}$. Therefore,

- If k = j and $F_k = 1$, we get the solution (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 1).
- If $j + 1 \le k \le j + 15$, then $F_k = 1$ is impossible for all $j \ge 2$.
- If k = j and $F_k = 2$, we obtain that (x, y, z) = (1, 2, 2), which is not a solution to equation (162).
- If k = j + 1 and $F_k = 2$, we have the solution (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 2).
- If $F_k = 2$ and $k \in \{j + 2, ..., j + 15\}$ for $j \ge 2$, then we get no solution to equation (162).

Using the same argument, one can prove that the remaining values of i do not lead to any solution of equation (162).

Finally, we deal with equation (163) in which we have that $2 \le i \le 7$ and $j \le k \le j+15$. Here, we get that the equation $3F_i^2 + 2y^2 + 2z^2 - 6F_iyz - 1 = 0$ is solvable only at $i \in \{2, 4\}$. If i = 2, then the equation $3F_i^2 + 2F_j^2 + 2F_k^2 - 6F_iF_iF_k - 1 = 0$ becomes

$$F_j^2 - 3F_kF_j + F_k^2 + 1 = 0, (168)$$

where $k \in [j, j + 15]$ and $j \ge 2$. We obtain the solutions of equation (168) (and then of equation (163) in case of i = 2) by direct substitutions of the values of k in the equation or using the arguments (ii) and (iii). Thus,

- If k = j, then equation (168) implies that $F_j = 1$ and we get the solution (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 1).
- If k = j + 1, we claim that $(x, y, z) = (F_2, F_2, F_3) = (1, 1, 2)$ is the only solution to equation (163). To prove our claim, we must show that equation (168) does not hold at k = j + 1 for all $j \ge 3$. In other words, we follow the idea described in the argument (ii) by using the Fibonacci numbers formula (that is $F_j = F_{j-1} + F_{j-2}$ for j > 2) to show that $F_j^2 3F_jF_{j+1} + F_{j+1}^2 + 1 < 0$ for all $j \ge 3$. Hence, let us start with the left-hand side,

$$F_{j}^{2} - 3F_{j}F_{j+1} + F_{j+1}^{2} + 1 = F_{j}^{2} - 3F_{j}(F_{j-1} + F_{j}) + (F_{j-1} + F_{j})^{2} + 1 = -F_{j}^{2} - F_{j-1}F_{j} + F_{j-1}^{2} + 1 = -F_{j}^{2} - F_{j-2}F_{j-1} + 1 < 0 ext{ for all } j \ge 3, ext{ for all } y \ge 3, ext{$$

and this proves the claim.

- If k = j + 2, then equation (168) gives us the identity

$$F_j^2 - 3F_jF_{j+2} + F_{j+2}^2 + 1 = 0,$$

which is valid for all j = 2m - 1 with $m \ge 2$. This identity was proven in 2018 by Hoare G. [115]. Therefore, we get the solution $(x, y, z) = (F_2, F_i, F_k) = (1, F_{2m-1}, F_{2m+1}).$

- If k = j + 3, then in a similar way of the technique described in (169) we can show that the equation $F_j^2 - 3F_jF_{j+3} + F_{j+3}^2 + 1 > 0$ for all $j \ge 2$. That is

$$\begin{aligned} F_j^2 - 3F_jF_{j+3} + F_{j+3}^2 + 1 &= F_jF_{j+1} + 2F_{j-1}F_j \\ &+ 3F_{j-1}F_{j+1} + F_{j-1}^2 + 1 \\ &> 0 \quad \text{for all } j \geq 2. \end{aligned}$$

- Similarly, if k = j + 4 or j + 5, then we conclude the unsolvability of equation (168) by having that

$$F_j^2 - 3F_jF_{j+4} + F_{j+4}^2 + 1 = 2F_{j-1}F_{j+2} + F_{j-1}F_{j+3} + F_j^2 + F_{j+1}^2 + F_{j+3}^2 + 1 \\ > 0 \quad \text{for all } j \ge 2,$$

or

$$\begin{split} F_j^2 - 3F_jF_{j+5} + F_{j+5}^2 + 1 &= F_j^2 + F_{j+3}^2 + F_{j+4}^2 + 3F_jF_{j+2} \\ &\quad + 4F_{j-1}F_{j+4} + 1 \\ &\quad > 0 \qquad \text{for all } j \geq 2, \end{split}$$

respectively.

- If k = j+6, we have the equation, call it, $G_j = F_j^2 3F_jF_{j+6} + F_{j+6}^2 + 1 = 0$. Here, we may use a congruence argument to show the given equation does not hold for all $j \ge 2$ by finding a prime number p in which $G_j \ne 0 \pmod{p}$. Let p = 17, then for all $j \ge 2$ we have that
 - $\begin{array}{l} G_{j} \pmod{17} \equiv 6,5,7,16,5,16,7,5,6,13,14,12, \\ 3,14,3,12,14,13,6,5,7,\ldots, \end{array}$

which clearly has period = 18. This contradicts that $G_{j\geq 2} = 0$. Hence, equation (163) has no solutions of the form $(x, y, z) = (F_i, F_j, F_k)$, where $i = 2, j \ge 2$ and k = j + 6.

- Similarly, if k = j + 7 and p = 13, then we get that

$$H_j \pmod{13} \equiv 3, 9, 6, 12, 12, 1, 12, 12, 6, 9, 3, 3$$
$$1, 3, 3, 9, 6, 12, 12, \dots,$$

where $H_j = F_j^2 - 3F_jF_{j+7} + F_{j+7}^2 + 1$ for all $j \ge 2$. Again, we get a contradiction. For the remaining values of k, one can show that equation (163) has no more solutions using either of the arguments described in (ii) or (iii). Finally, we deal with i = 4 that leads to $F_j^2 - 9F_jF_k + F_k^2 + 13 = 0$. Using the argument described in (i), we get that $F_k = 1$ or 2, which is impossible for all $k \in \{j, j+1, j+2, \dots, j+15\}$ with $j \ge 4$.

Finally, we combine the solutions of equations (161),(162) and (163) and then permute their components in which they satisfy equation (140). Therefore, equation (140) has the following set of solutions:

$$(X, Y, Z) = (F_I, F_J, F_K) \in \{(1, 1, 1), (1, 2, 1), (1, 2, 3), (2, 1, 1), (2, 1, 3), (F_{2m-1}, F_{2m+1}, 1), (F_{2m+1}, F_{2m-1}, 1)\},\$$

for all $m \ge 2$.

 \square Case 2. If (A, B, C, D) = (2, 1, 2, 2). Again, by permuting the coefficients of equation (141) we obtain the distinct equations

$$2x^2 + y^2 + 2z^2 = 2xyz + 1, (170)$$

$$x^2 + 2y^2 + 2z^2 = 2xyz + 1, (171)$$

$$2x^2 + 2y^2 + z^2 = 2xyz + 1. (172)$$

To study the solutions of these equations for which $x = F_i$, $y = F_j$ and $z = F_k$ with $2 \le i \le j \le k$, we compute the upper bounds for i and k - j using the inequalities (155) and (156), respectively. It follows that the upper bounds for i in equations (170), (171) and (172) are presented by $i \le 9$, $i \le 9$ and $i \le 10$, respectively. Therefore, we get that $k - j \le 17$ in equations (170) and (171) and $k - j \le 18$ in equation (172). Moreover, we have that the equations $2F_i^2 + y^2 + 2z^2 - 2F_iyz - 1 = 0$ with $2 \le i \le 9$ and $2F_i^2 + 2y^2 + z^2 - 2F_iyz - 1 = 0$ with $2 \le i \le 9$ and $2F_i^2 + 2y^2 + z^2 - 2F_iyz - 1 = 0$ with $2 \le i \le 9$ is solvable for $i \in \{2, 4, 5, 7\}$. As a result of using the argument described in (i), we obtain that the solutions of equation (170) and equation (172) are given by (x, y, z) = (2, 5, 8) and $(x, y, z) \in \{(2, 2, 3), (2, 2, 5)\}$, respectively. On the other hand, we have no solution to equation (171). From these solutions, we conclude that the solutions of equation (141) are given by (X, Y, Z) = (2, 3, 2), (2, 5, 2), (2, 5, 8) and (8, 5, 2).

 \square Case 3. If (A, B, C, D) = (7, 2, 14, 14). In a similar way, from equation (142) we get the equations

$$7x^2 + 2y^2 + 14z^2 = 14xyz + 1, (173)$$

$$2x^2 + 7y^2 + 14z^2 = 14xyz + 1, (174)$$

$$7x^2 + 14y^2 + 2z^2 = 14xyz + 1, (175)$$

$$14x^2 + 7y^2 + 2z^2 = 14xyz + 1, (176)$$

$$14x^2 + 2y^2 + 7z^2 = 14xyz + 1, (177)$$

$$2x^2 + 14y^2 + 7z^2 = 14xyz + 1.$$
 (178)

Assuming that $x = F_i$, $y = F_j$ and $z = F_k$ with $2 \le i \le j \le k$, we get that $i \le 8$ and $i \le 9$ in which the equations (173)–(176) and equations (177)–(178) can be held, respectively. Hence, the upper bounds for k - j in equations (173)– (176) and (177)–(178) are given by $k - j \le 16$ and $k - j \le 17$, respectively. Eliminating some of the values of i in the given ranges, we get that $i \in$ $\{2, 4\}, i \in \{3, 5\}$, and $i \in \{2, 5\}$ in which equations; (173) and (175), (174) and (178), and (176) and (177) for which $x = F_i$ are solvable, respectively. As before, we use the argument described in (i) to get the solution (x, y, z) =(2, 3, 5) to equation (174) and the solutions (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 2) and (1, 1, 5)to equations (175) and (176). Moreover, the equation (177) has no more solution other than (x, y, z) = (1, 2, 3). The remaining equations have no such solutions. These solutions yield the solutions of (142), which are given by $(X, Y, Z) \in \{(1, 2, 1), (1, 5, 1), (3, 2, 1), (3, 2, 5)\}$.

 \square Case 4. If (A, B, C, D) = (3, 1, 6, 6). By permuting the coefficients of equation (143), we have the following distinct equations

$$3x^2 + y^2 + 6z^2 = 6xyz + 1, (179)$$

$$x^2 + 3y^2 + 6z^2 = 6xyz + 1, (180)$$

$$x^2 + 6y^2 + 3z^2 = 6xyz + 1, (181)$$

$$6x^2 + y^2 + 3z^2 = 6xyz + 1, (182)$$

$$6x^2 + 3y^2 + z^2 = 6xyz + 1, (183)$$

$$3x^2 + 6y^2 + z^2 = 6xyz + 1. (184)$$

Suppose that $x = F_i$, $y = F_j$ and $z = F_k$ with $2 \le i \le j \le k$. As before, we obtain that $i \le 8$, $i \le 9$, and $i \le 12$ for which equations (179)–(180), (181)–(182), and (183)–(184) can be valid, respectively. The upper bounds of k - j can be easily followed using inequality (156). Furthermore, we get that $i \in \{2,4\}$, $i \in \{2,3\}$, $i \in \{2,4,5\}$, and $i \in \{2,4,5,11\}$ in which the equations; (179) and (184), (180) and (181), (182), and (183) are solvable in y and z for all $x = F_i$, respectively. It remains to study the solutions of these equations using any of the arguments described in (i), (ii) or (iii), we obtain that the only solution for equation (180) is (x, y, z) = (2, 3, 5) and for equation (182) is (x, y, z) = (1, 2, 3). Moreover, equations (183) and (184) have no more solutions other than (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 2). Finally, the remaining equations are unsolvable. Therefore, the solutions of the main equation (143) are given by (X, Y, Z) = (1, 2, 1), (3, 2, 1) and (3, 2, 5).

 \square Case 5. If (A, B, C, D) = (6, 10, 15, 30). Permuting the coefficients of equation (144) gives the equations

$$5x^2 + 10y^2 + 15z^2 = 30xyz + 1, (185)$$

$$10x^2 + 6y^2 + 15z^2 = 30xyz + 1, (186)$$

$$6x^2 + 15y^2 + 10z^2 = 30xyz + 1, (187)$$

$$15x^2 + 6y^2 + 10z^2 = 30xyz + 1, (188)$$

$$10x^2 + 15y^2 + 6z^2 = 30xyz + 1, (189)$$

$$15x^2 + 10y^2 + 6z^2 = 30xyz + 1. (190)$$

Let $x = F_i$, $y = F_j$ and $z = F_k$ with $2 \le i \le j \le k$. Here, we get that $i \le 8$ and $i \le 7$ for which equations (185)–(186) and (187)–(190) can be solvable, respectively. Therefore, $k \le j+16$ in equations (185)–(186) and $k \le j+15$ in the equations (187)–(190). Eliminating some of these values of i, we obtain

that $i \in \{2\}, i \in \{2, 3\}$, and $i \in \{2, 4\}$ for which equations; (185) and (187), (186) and (189), and (188) and (190) are satisfied for all $x = F_i$. Using any of the mentioned arguments mainly the one described in (i), we get that (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 1) and (1, 2, 3) are the solutions for equation (185) and (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 1) is the only solution for equations (186), (189) and (190). The solutions of equations (187) and (188) are given by (x, y, z) = (1, 1, 1) and (1, 1, 2). Combining these solutions back to equation (144), we get that $(X, Y, Z) \in \{(1, 1, 1), (1, 2, 1), (1, 2, 3)\}$.

 \square Case 6. If (A, B, C, D) = (5, 1, 5, 5). In a similar way, we investigate the solutions of the equations

$$5x^2 + y^2 + 5z^2 = 5xyz + 1, (191)$$

$$x^2 + 5y^2 + 5z^2 = 5xyz + 1, (192)$$

$$5x^2 + 5y^2 + z^2 = 5xyz + 1, (193)$$

where $x = F_i$, $y = F_j$ and $z = F_k$ with $2 \le i \le j \le k$. The upper bounds for i in which the given equations can be held are given by $i \le 8$ and $i \le 9$ in equations (191)–(192) and (193), respectively. These imply that $k - j \le 16$ and $k-j \le 17$ in equations (191)–(192) and (193), respectively. Furthermore, we get that $i \in \{2,3\}$ and $i \in \{2\}$ for which equations; (191) and (193), and (192) with $x = F_i$ are solvable in y and z, respectively. Using any of the arguments described in (i), (ii) or (iii) leads to the unsolvability of equations (191)–(193) for which $(x, y, z) = (F_i, F_j, F_k)$. Therefore, equation (145) has no solution of the form $(X, Y, Z) = (F_I, F_J, F_K)$ in positive integers.

Hence, Theorem 3.8 is completely proved.

3.2.2. Solutions of the Markoff-Rosenberger equation in generalized Lucas numbers.

Here, we generalize the strategy presented in Subsection 3.2.1 by considering the generalized Lucas number solutions of the Markoff-Rosenberger equation (138). Indeed, we adopt the general investigative procedure presented in 3.2.1.1 in a more extended way to provide general results for the solutions $(x, y, z) = (R_i, R_j, R_k)$ of the Markoff-Rosenberger equation, where R_i denotes the i^{th} generalized Lucas number of first/second kind, i.e. $R_i = U_i$ or V_i . Then we apply the strategy of achieving these results to completely resolve concrete equations, e.g. we determine solutions containing only balancing numbers and Jacobsthal numbers, respectively.

Next, we mention some auxiliary results, which we need later to present and proof our main results.

3.2.2.1. Auxiliary results.

From (19) and (20), we respectively recall the Lucas sequences $\{U_n\}_{n\geq 0}, \{V_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ as follows

 $U_0(P,Q) = 0, U_1(P,Q) = 1, \qquad U_n(P,Q) = PU_{n-1}(P,Q) - QU_{n-2}(P,Q),$ $V_0(P,Q) = 2, V_1(P,Q) = P, \qquad V_n(P,Q) = PV_{n-1}(P,Q) - QV_{n-2}(P,Q),$

where neither P nor Q is zero.

REMARK 3.9. Assume that $P^* = -P$ and define

$$U_0^{\star} = 0, \ U_1^{\star} = 1 \ U_n^{\star} = P^{\star} U_{n-1}^{\star} - Q U_{n-2}^{\star},$$
$$V_0^{\star} = 2, \ V_1^{\star} = P^{\star}, \ V_n^{\star} = P^{\star} V_{n-1}^{\star} - Q V_{n-2}^{\star}.$$

Then we have

$$U_n^{\star} = (-1)^{n+1} U_n, \quad V_n^{\star} = (-1)^n V_n.$$

Based on the above identities, here we only deal with sequences satisfying P > 0.

Furthermore, we assume that $0 < D = P^2 - 4Q$, $P \ge 2$ and $-P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1$. We exclude the cases with P = 1 to make the presentation simpler. However, if P = 1, then $-2 \le Q \le 0$. Therefore, there are only two sequences to be considered. Namely, the Fibonacci sequence with (P,Q) = (1,-1) and the Jacobsthal sequence with (P,Q) = (1,-2). The former one was completely solved in [244], and the latter one will be handled separately as an application presented in 3.2.2.3.2. The characteristic polynomial associated to the above sequences is given by $x^2 - Px + Q$. The roots of the characteristic polynomial can be written in the form

$$\alpha = \frac{P + \sqrt{D}}{2}, \quad \beta = \frac{P - \sqrt{D}}{2}$$

and we have $\alpha - \beta = \sqrt{D}, \alpha + \beta = P$ and $\alpha\beta = Q$. We note that the conditions $P \ge 2, D > 0$ and $-P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1$ imply that $\alpha \ge 2$ and $|\beta| \le 1$. First, we justify the second statement, and then the first one. Since $P \ge 2$ and $-P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1$, we have

$$(P-2)^2 \le P^2 - 4Q \le (P+2)^2.$$

Therefore, $P - 2 \le \sqrt{D} \le P + 2$. We have that $\beta = \frac{P - \sqrt{D}}{2}$. Hence,

 $-1 \leq \beta \leq 1.$

This implies that $\alpha \ge 2$. Indeed, if $P \ge 3$, then $\alpha = P - \beta \ge P - 1 \ge 2$. On the other hand, if P = 2, then $Q \in \{-3, -2, -1, 1\}$. The case Q = 1 is not convenient since it leads to the characteristic equation $x^2 - 2x + 1 = (x - 1)^2$ which has a double root so D = 0. Thus, $Q \le -1$, so

$$\alpha = (2 + \sqrt{4 - 4Q})/2 \ge (2 + \sqrt{8})/2 = 1 + \sqrt{2} > 2.$$

Also, $\alpha > |\beta|$. All this has relevance later. By Binet's formulas given by (22), we have that

$$U_n = \frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\alpha - \beta}, \quad V_n = \alpha^n + \beta^n.$$

We assume that

$$\alpha^{k-2} \le U_k \le 2\alpha^k, \tag{194}$$

$$2\alpha^{k-1} \le V_k \le 2\alpha^k \quad \text{for } k \ge 1, \tag{195}$$

and these will be fulfilled in case of D > 0, $P \ge 2$ and $-P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1$, $Q \ne 0$. The bounds on inequalities (194) and (195) are obtained as follows. The upper bounds are clear since $\alpha - \beta = \sqrt{D} \ge 1$, so

$$U_k = \frac{\alpha^k - \beta^k}{\alpha - \beta} \le \alpha^k - \beta^k \le 2\alpha^k \quad \text{ for } k \ge 1.$$

Similarly, we get that $V_k = \alpha^k + \beta^k \le 2\alpha^k$. For the lower bounds, first we note that if $\beta > 0$, or $\beta < 0$ and k is even, then

$$V_k = \alpha^k + \beta^k > \alpha^k \ge 2\alpha^{k-1}$$

If $\beta < 0$ and k is odd, then

$$V_k = \alpha^k - |\beta|^k = (\alpha - |\beta|)(\alpha^{k-1} + \ldots + |\beta|^{k-1}) \ge 2\alpha^{k-1},$$

since $\alpha - |\beta| = \alpha + \beta = P \ge 2$. For U_k , we use a similar argument. If $\beta > 0$, then

$$U_k = \frac{\alpha^k - \beta^k}{\alpha - \beta} = \alpha^{k-1} + \alpha^{k-2}\beta + \ldots + \beta^{k-1} > \alpha^{k-1} > \alpha^{k-2}.$$

If $\beta < 0$, then

$$U_k \ge \frac{\alpha^k - |\beta|^k}{\alpha + |\beta|} > \frac{\alpha - |\beta|}{2\alpha} (\alpha^{k-1} + \ldots + |\beta|^{k-1}) \ge \alpha^{k-2},$$

where we used again the fact that $\alpha - |\beta| = \alpha + \beta = P \ge 2$. In general, we assume that if $\{R_n\}_{n\ge 0}$ is a nondegenerate Lucas sequence of the first or second kind, then there exist constants s_1, s_2, i_1, i_2 such that

 $s_1 \alpha^{n-i_1} \le R_n \le s_2 \alpha^{n+i_2} \quad \text{for } n \ge 1,$

and this will be fulfilled in the cases that we investigate later.

REMARK 3.10. Let $\{R_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ be a binary linear recurrence sequence represented by $\{U_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ or $\{V_n\}_{n\geq 0}$. In order to determine all triples (R_i, R_j, R_k) satisfying equation (138) at a given tuple $(a, b, c, d) \in T$, where

$$T = \{(1,1,1,1), (1,1,1,3), (1,1,2,2), (1,1,2,4), (1,1,5,5), (1,2,3,6)\}$$

We first compute an upper bound for i (such that $1 \leq i \leq j \leq k$), denote it by $\mathfrak{ub}_{R_n}(a,b,c,d)$. Hence, to resolve the equation completely with e.g. (a,b,c,d) = (1,2,3,6) one needs to handle the cases with $i \leq \mathfrak{ub}_{R_n}(1,2,3,6), i \leq \mathfrak{ub}_{R_n}(1,3,2,6), i \leq \mathfrak{ub}_{R_n}(2,1,3,6), i \leq \mathfrak{ub}_{R_n}(2,3,1,6), i \leq \mathfrak{ub}_{R_n}(3,1,2,6)$ and $i \leq \mathfrak{ub}_{R_n}(3,2,1,6)$. Then after obtaining the solutions of (138) with these cases, we permute the components of these solutions in which they satisfy equation (138) at the tuple (a, b, c, d) = (1, 2, 3, 6) to determine the complete list of its solutions. Although, Theorem 3.11 gives the least upper bound for all such cases of the tuples of T. For that, we let \mathfrak{T} be the set of all distinct tuples (a, b, c, d) derived from permuting the first three components of elements in T.

3.2.2.2. New results.

Here, we present our main results regarding the generalized Lucas number solutions of the Markoff-Rosenberger equation (138). These results will appear in [110].

THEOREM 3.11. Let $(a, b, c, d) \in \mathfrak{T}$, $P \ge 2, -P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1$ such that $Q \ne 0$, D > 0 and

$$B_0 = \min_{I \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \alpha^I - \frac{d}{c\sqrt{D}} \right|, \quad B_1 = \min_{I \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \alpha^I - \frac{d}{c} \right|$$

If $B_0 \neq 0$, then $B_0 \geq \alpha^{-4}$ and if $B_1 \neq 0$, then $B_1 \geq 0.17$. Furthermore, if $x = U_i, y = U_j$ and $z = U_k$ with $1 \leq i \leq j \leq k$ is a solution of (138) and $B_0 \neq 0$, then $i \leq 12$. If $x = V_i, y = V_j$ and $z = V_k$ with $1 \leq i \leq j \leq k$ is a solution of (138) and $B_1 \neq 0$, then $i \leq 7$.

PROOF. Let us start proving the first part of the theorem in which we show that $B_0 \ge \alpha^{-4}$ and $B_1 \ge 0.26$ as $B_0 \ne 0$ and $B_1 \ne 0$, respectively. We start with the case of B_1 . From \mathfrak{T} , we have the rational number d/c is in the set $\{1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}$. If I = 0 and $B_1 \ne 0$, then $d/c \in \{2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}$. So $B_1 \ge 1$. However, if d/c = 1, then $B_1 = 0$ is achieved at I = 0 independently on P and Q. If I < 0, then $\alpha^I \le \alpha^{-1} \le 1/2$, which implies that $B_1 \ge 1/2$. Next, assume that I = 1. If d/c = 1, then $B_1 \ge 1$ since $\alpha \ge 2$. But, $B_1 = 0$ in case of $\alpha = d/c \in \{2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}$. Now, we indicate the values of P and Q in each of these cases giving that $B_1 = 0$. Since α and P are positive integers such that $\alpha \in \{2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}$ and $P \ge 2$. Then $\beta = P - \alpha$ must be an integer. Thus, we obtain that $\beta \in \{-1, 1\}$ since $-1 \le \beta \le 1$. Furthermore, we get that $D = (\alpha - \beta)^2 \ge 1$ as $\alpha \ge 2$ and $\beta = \pm 1$. Therefore, the appropriate values of P and Q can be determined by

$$P = \alpha + \beta, \quad Q = \alpha\beta,$$

where $\alpha \in \{2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}$ and $\beta \in \{-1, 1\}$. In the following table, we summarize the details of computations for the values of P and Q (such that $P \ge 2$ and $-P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1, Q \ne 0$) in which we have $B_1 = 0$.

α	(P,Q)
2	(3,2)
3	(4,3), (2,-3)
4	(5,4), (3,-4)
5	(6,5), (4,-5)
6	(7,6), (5,-6)

Assuming that $I \ge 2$. If $P \ge 4$, then $\alpha^I \ge \alpha^2 \ge (P-1)^2 \ge 9$. So $B_1 \ge 3$. Thus, it remains to deal with the cases $P \in \{2,3\}$ and $-P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1$ such that $Q \ne 0$. We start with P = 2 and $-3 \le Q \le 1$. As mentioned earlier the case with Q = 1 is not convenient since D = 0. So $Q \in \{-3, -2, -1\}$. If P = 2 and Q = -3, then $\alpha = (P + \sqrt{P^2 - 4Q})/2 = (2 + \sqrt{16})/2 = 3$. This gives us $\alpha^I \ge 9$. Thus, $B_1 \ge 3$. Next, if P = 2 and Q = -2, then $\alpha = 1 + \sqrt{3}$ and $\alpha^I \ge 2(2 + \sqrt{3})$, which give $B_1 > 1.46$. Similarly, in case of P = 2 and Q = -1 we get $\alpha^I \ge 3 + 2\sqrt{2}$. Therefore, $B_1 \ge 3 - 2\sqrt{2} \simeq 0.17$. In the following table, we provide details of computations for the remaining cases in which we have B_1 is nonzero for all $I \ge 2$.

(P,Q)	α	lower bound on B_1
(3, -4)	4	$B_1 \ge 10$
(3, -3)	$(3+\sqrt{21})/2$	$B_1 > 8.37$
(3, -2)	$(3 + \sqrt{17})/2$	$B_1 > 6.68$
(3, -1)	$(3 + \sqrt{13})/2$	$B_1 > 4.90$
(3, 1)	$(3+\sqrt{5})/2$	$B_1 > 0.85$

Indeed, the only special case in which we have $B_1 = 0$ is with (P,Q) = (3,2). Here, $B_1 = 0$ is achieved at I = 2 and d/c = 4 since $\alpha = 2$. However, if $I \ge 3$, then $\alpha^I \ge 9$. So $B_1 \ge 3$. The computations above show that $B_1 \ge 0.17$.

We now turn to B_0 . We have that $\sqrt{D} = \alpha - \beta \in [\alpha - 1, \alpha + 1]$. If $I \leq -2$, then

$$B_0 \ge \frac{(d/c)}{\sqrt{D}} - \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \ge \frac{1}{\alpha+1} - \frac{1}{\alpha^2} = \frac{\alpha^2 - \alpha - 1}{\alpha^2(\alpha+1)} > \frac{1}{\alpha^4}$$

since $\alpha \ge 2$, so $\alpha^2 - \alpha - 1 \ge 1$. If I = -1, then either $d/c \ge 2$, so

$$B_0 \ge \frac{2}{\alpha - \beta} - \frac{1}{\alpha} \ge \frac{2}{\alpha + 1} - \frac{1}{\alpha} = \frac{\alpha - 1}{\alpha(\alpha + 1)} \ge \frac{1}{\alpha^3} > \frac{1}{\alpha^4},$$

or d/c = 1 so

$$B_0 = \left|\frac{1}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{\alpha - \beta}\right| = \frac{|\beta|}{\alpha(\alpha - \beta)} \ge \frac{1}{\alpha^2(\alpha + 1)} \ge \frac{1}{\alpha^4}$$

where we used the fact that $|\beta| = |Q|/\alpha \ge 1/\alpha$. In particular, the expression under the minimum to compute B_0 is not zero when I is negative. Assume next that $I \ge 0$. If $\beta \in \{-1, 1\}$, then $\sqrt{D} = \alpha - \beta$ is an integer. Thus, in this case when $B_0 \neq 0$, the number B_0 is a positive rational number of denominator $c(\alpha - \beta) \le 5(\alpha + 1)$. Therefore,

$$B_0 \ge \frac{1}{5(\alpha+1)} \ge \frac{1}{\alpha^4}$$

where the last inequality holds since $\alpha \ge 2$. Finally, if $\beta \in (-1, 1)$, then $|c\sqrt{D}\alpha^I - d|$ is a quadratic real algebraic integer multiple of c. Its conjugate is

$$\left|-c\sqrt{D}\beta^{I}-d\right| = \left|c(\alpha-\beta)\beta^{I}+d\right| \le c\alpha+(c+d).$$

Hence, since the norm of a quadratic nonzero algebraic integer that is divisible by c is greater than or equal to c^2 , we get that

$$B_0 = \frac{\left|c\sqrt{D}\alpha^I - d\right|}{c\sqrt{D}} \ge \frac{1}{c\sqrt{D}} \left(\frac{c^2}{(c\alpha + c + d)}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{(\alpha - \beta)(\alpha + 1 + d/c)} \ge \frac{1}{(\alpha + 1)(\alpha + 7)} \ge \frac{1}{\alpha^4}$$

We finish the proof by justifying the last inequality. If P = 2, then $\alpha \ge 1 + \sqrt{2}$ and the last inequality holds. If $P \ge 4$, then $\alpha = P - \beta > 3$, so the last inequality holds. It also holds if P = 3 and Q < 0, since then again $\alpha > 3$. Finally, if P = 3 and Q > 0, then Q = 1, 2. The case Q = 2 gives $\beta = 1$, a case already treated, and if Q = 1, then α is the square of the golden section so it is greater than $1 + \sqrt{2}$ and the desired inequality holds anyway.

Now, we prove the second part of the theorem. In fact, we look for solutions satisfying $x = U_i, y = U_j$ and $z = U_k$ with $1 \le i \le j \le k$. We have that

$$\frac{c\alpha^k}{\sqrt{D}} - \frac{d}{D}\alpha^{i+j} = -\frac{aU_i^2 + bU_j^2}{U_k} + \frac{c\beta^k}{\sqrt{D}} - \frac{d}{D}(\alpha^i\beta^j + \alpha^j\beta^i - \beta^{i+j}).$$

We apply (194) to get an upper bound for $\frac{aU_i^2+bU_j^2}{U_k}$ such that $aU_i^2+bU_j^2 \leq (a+b)U_j^2$ holds since the Lucas sequence $\{U_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ is monotone increasing. We obtain that

$$\frac{aU_i^2+bU_j^2}{U_k} \leq \frac{(a+b)U_j^2}{U_k} \leq 4(a+b)\alpha^2\alpha^j.$$

Since $|\beta| \le 1$, we get that

$$\left|\frac{c\beta^k}{\sqrt{D}}\right| \le \left|\frac{c}{\sqrt{D}}\right| \le \left|\frac{c\alpha^j}{\sqrt{D}}\right|.$$

The last expression to bound is $\frac{d}{D}(\alpha^i\beta^j + \alpha^j\beta^i - \beta^{i+j})$. In this case, we obtain that

$$\left|\frac{d}{D}(\alpha^{i}\beta^{j} + \alpha^{j}\beta^{i} - \beta^{i+j})\right| \le \frac{d}{D}(2\alpha^{j} + 1).$$

Hence, we have that

$$\left|\frac{d}{D}(\alpha^{i}\beta^{j}+\alpha^{j}\beta^{i}-\beta^{i+j})\right| \leq \frac{3d}{D}\alpha^{j}.$$

From the above inequalities, we get that

$$\left|\frac{c\alpha^k}{\sqrt{D}} - \frac{d}{D}\alpha^{i+j}\right| \le \left(4(a+b)\alpha^2 + \frac{c}{\sqrt{D}} + \frac{3d}{D}\right)\alpha^j.$$

It follows that

$$\left|\alpha^{k-i-j} - \frac{d}{c\sqrt{D}}\right| \le \left(4(a+b)\alpha^2 \frac{\sqrt{D}}{c} + \frac{3d}{c\sqrt{D}} + 1\right)\alpha^{-i}.$$
 (196)

Let

$$B_0 = \min_{I \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \alpha^I - \frac{d}{c\sqrt{D}} \right|$$

If $B_0 \neq 0$ (then $B_0 \geq \alpha^{-4}$), then we get an upper bound for *i* from the inequality

$$\alpha^{i} \leq \frac{1}{B_{0}} \left(4(a+b)\alpha^{2} \frac{\sqrt{D}}{c} + \frac{3d}{c\sqrt{D}} + 1 \right).$$

$$(197)$$

Since $B_0 \ge \alpha^{-4}$, $a + b \le 6$, $1 \le \sqrt{D} \le \alpha + 1$, $c \ge 1$ and $d/c \le 6$, then (197) becomes $\alpha^i \le \alpha^4 (4 \cdot 6 \cdot \alpha^2 (\alpha + 1) + 19) < \alpha^{13}$,

where the last inequality holds since $\alpha \ge 2$. Thus, $i \le 12$. In a similar way, one can prove the second part of the statement. Hence, we note that we get the inequalities (assuming that $B_1 \ne 0$, then $B_1 \ge 0.17$)

$$\left|\alpha^{k-i-j} - \frac{d}{c}\right| \leq \left(2(a+b)\alpha\frac{1}{c} + \frac{3d}{c} + 1\right)\alpha^{-i}.$$
(198)

$$\alpha^{i} \leq \frac{1}{B_{1}} \left(2(a+b)\alpha \frac{1}{c} + \frac{3d}{c} + 1 \right).$$
(199)

Again, since $B_1 \ge 0.17$, $a + b \le 6$, $c \ge 1$ and $d/c \le 6$, so (199) is

 $\alpha^{i} \le (0.17)^{-1} (2 \cdot 6 \cdot \alpha + 19) < \alpha^{8},$

where the last inequality holds since $\alpha \ge 2$. So $i \le 7$. Hence, Theorem 3.11 is completely proved.

It is important to remark that these lower bounds on B_0 or B_1 (namely, $B_0 \ge \alpha^{-4}$ or $B_1 \ge 0.17$) are the greatest lower bounds in case of any Lucas sequence of the first or second kind with all the tuples $(a, b, c, d) \in \mathfrak{T}$, respectively. Indeed, they may be greater due to particular sequences with certain tuples $(a, b, c, d) \in \mathfrak{T}$. A similar idea goes for the upper bounds on i's (i.e. $i \le 12$ or $i \le 7$), they are only least upper bounds in case of any Lucas sequence of the first or second kind with all the tuples $(a, b, c, d) \in \mathfrak{T}$, respectively. Indeed, they could be smaller due to particular sequences and tuples. Moreover, note that in the proof of Theorem 3.11, the cases where we have $B_1 = 0$ were completely studied. Thus, it remains to classify the cases satisfying $B_0 = 0$, the result is as follows.

PROPOSITION 3.12. If $P \ge 2$, $-P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1$, $Q \ne 0$ and D > 0, then $B_0 \ne 0$ fulfills unless

- $e = 1, P = 3, Q = 2, \alpha = 2, \sqrt{D} = 1, I = 0,$
- $e = 2, P = 3, Q = 2, \alpha = 2, \sqrt{D} = 1, I = 1,$
- $e = 2, P = 4, Q = 3, \alpha = 3, \sqrt{D} = 2, I = 0,$
- $e = 3, P = 5, Q = 4, \alpha = 4, \sqrt{D} = 3, I = 0,$
- $e = 4, P = 3, Q = 2, \alpha = 2, \sqrt{D} = 1, I = 2,$
- e = 4, P = 6, Q = 5, $\alpha = 5$, $\sqrt{D} = 4$, I = 0,
- e = 4, P = 2, Q = -3, $\alpha = 3$, $\sqrt{D} = 4$, I = 0,

- $e = 5, P = 7, Q = 6, \alpha = 6, \sqrt{D} = 5, I = 0,$
- $e = 5, P = 3, Q = -4, \alpha = 4, \sqrt{D} = 5, I = 0,$
- $e = 6, P = 4, Q = 3, \alpha = 3, \sqrt{D} = 2, I = 1,$
- $e = 6, P = 8, Q = 7, \alpha = 7, \sqrt{D} = 6, I = 0,$
- $e = 6, P = 4, Q = -5, \alpha = 5, \sqrt{D} = 6, I = 0,$

where e = d/c such that $(a, b, c, d) \in \mathfrak{T}$.

PROOF. From the proof of Theorem 3.11 (particularly, if $B_0 = 0$, then $B_0 \ge \alpha^{-4}$), it follows that B_0 cannot be zero if I is negative. Therefore, $I \ge 0$. If $\beta \in (-1, 1)$, then B_0 cannot be zero if I = 0 (since \sqrt{D} is not rational). So $I \ne 0$ and $\alpha^I = e/\sqrt{D}$, where e = d/c. Conjugating and taking ratios, we get $(\alpha/\beta)^I = -1$, which is false. Thus, $\beta = \pm 1$ and $\sqrt{D} = \alpha - \beta = P - 2\beta = P \pm 2$. Since $I \ge 0$, then $P \pm 2$ divides $e \in \{1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}$. So $P \le 8$ (indeed, $2 \le P \le 8$). Since $\sqrt{D} = P - 2\beta > 0$, then $3 \le P \le 8$ in case of $\beta = 1$. Hence, it remains to study the cases in which we have

$$B_0 = \min_{I \ge 0} \left| \alpha^I - \frac{e}{\sqrt{D}} \right| = \min_{I \ge 0} \left| (P - \beta)^I - \frac{e}{(P - 2\beta)} \right| = 0.$$

Since $(P - \beta)^I$ is a positive integer as $\beta \in \{-1, 1\}, I \ge 0$ and $2 \le P \le 8$ (avoiding that P = 2 in case of $\beta = 1$), so $e/(P - 2\beta)$ must be also a positive integer. In fact, the latter condition (i.e. $e/(P - 2\beta) \in \mathbb{Z}^+$) is achieved only at the following cases:

- $\Box e = 1$, and $P 2\beta = 1$, i.e. $(P, \beta) = (3, 1)$.
- $\Box e = 2$, and $P 2\beta = 1, 2$, i.e. $(P, \beta) = (3, 1), (4, 1)$, respectively.
- $\Box e = 3$, and $P 2\beta = 1, 3$, i.e. $(P, \beta) = (3, 1), (5, 1)$, respectively.
- $\Box e = 4$, and $P 2\beta = 1, 2, 4$, i.e. $(P, \beta) = (3, 1), (4, 1), (6, 1)$ or (2, -1), respectively.
- \Box e = 5, and P 2 β = 1, 5, i.e. (P, β) = (3, 1), (7, 1) or (3, -1), respectively.
- $\Box e = 6$, and $P 2\beta = 1, 2, 3, 6$, i.e. $(P, \beta) = (3, 1), (4, 1), (5, 1), (8, 1)$ or (4, -1), respectively.

Finally, by examining which of the above cases leads to $B_0 = 0$, we get the results as follows. From the first case, we get that $B_0 = 0$ at P = 3, $\beta = 1$, I = 0, e = 1, and these give that $\sqrt{D} = P - 2\beta = 1$, $\alpha = P - \beta = 2$ and $Q = \alpha\beta = 2$. Hence, the first statement of the proposition is achieved. Similarly, from the second case we obtain that $B_0 = 0$ at $(P, \beta, I, e) = (3, 1, 1, 2)$ and (4, 1, 0, 2). The former tuple implies that $\sqrt{D} = 1$, $\alpha = 2$ and Q = 2. So the second statement of the proposition is also fulfilled. However, the third statement is accomplished similarly by the latter tuple. We also get $B_0 = 0$ only in case of P = 5, $\beta = 1$, I = 0, e = 3, that give $\sqrt{D} = 3$, $\alpha = 4$ and Q = 4. Hence, the fourth statement of the proposition is obtained. In a very similar way, the remaining statements of the proposition 3.12.

3.2.2.3. Applications.

Let $(a, b, c, d) \in T$ and $\{R_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ be either $\{U_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ or $\{V_n\}_{n\geq 0}$. In order to apply the procedure described in Theorem 3.11 to resolve equation (138) in $x = R_i, y = R_j, z = R_k$, we firstly do the following steps (since in Theorem 3.11, $1 \le i \le j \le k$ is assumed). The first step is permuting the first three components in (a, b, c, d). Then for each of the resulting tuples, we provide an upper bound for i as explained in Theorem 3.11. In fact, Theorem 3.11 gives the least upper bound for all such cases of the tuples of T. After that, we adopt the arguments described the general investigative procedure presented in 3.2.1.1 (in case of the Fibonacci number solutions of equation (139)) to determine the list of solutions. Finally, when the solutions of (138) with these cases are obtained we permute the components of these solutions in which they satisfy equation (138) at the tuple $(a, b, c, d) \in T$ in order to determine all of its solutions $(x, y, z) = (R_i, R_j, R_k)$. If we fix (a, b, c, d), i and m = k - j, then we need to study the equation

$$aR_i^2 + bR_j^2 + cR_{j+m}^2 - dR_iR_jR_{j+m} = 0,$$

where $R_n = U_n$ or V_n . We note that the equation above only depends on j. Now, we adopt the arguments given the general investigative procedure.

(I) We eliminate as many values of *i* as possible by checking the solvability of quadratic equations

$$aR_i^2 + by^2 + cz^2 - dR_iyz = 0$$

- (II) For fixed m, we eliminate equations $aR_i^2 + bR_j^2 + cR_{j+m}^2 dR_iR_jR_{j+m} = 0$ modulo p, where p is a prime.
- (III) We can also eliminate equations $aR_i^2 + bR_j^2 + cR_{j+m}^2 dR_iR_jR_{j+m} = 0$ using related identities of second order linear recurrence sequences.
- (IV) We consider the equation $aR_i^2 + bR_j^2 + cR_{j+m}^2 = dR_iR_jR_{j+m}$ as a quadratic in R_j . Its discriminant $d^2R_i^2R_{j+m}^2 - 4b(aR_i^2 + cR_{j+m}^2)$ must be a square. As given in (21), the terms of the sequences $\{U_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ and $\{V_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ satisfy the fundamental identity

$$V_n^2 - DU_n^2 = 4Q^n.$$

Therefore, in case of $Q = \pm 1$ we have the systems of equations

$$Y_1^2 = DX^2 \pm 4,$$

$$Y_2^2 = d^2 R_i^2 X^2 - 4b(aR_i^2 + cX^2),$$

where $X = R_{j+m} = U_{j+m}, Y_1 = V_{j+m}, Y_2 = 2bR_j - dR_i U_{j+m}$; and

$$Y_1^2 = DX^2 \mp 4D,$$

$$Y_2^2 = d^2 R_i^2 X^2 - 4b(aR_i^2 + cX^2),$$

where $X = R_{j+m} = V_{j+m}$, $Y_1 = DU_{j+m}$, $Y_2 = 2bR_j - dR_iV_{j+m}$. Multiplying these equations together, in general, yields quartic genus 1 curves. One may determine the integral points on these curves using the Magma [33] function (based on results obtained by Tzanakis [249]) SIntegralLjunggrenPoints. Indeed, it may happen that we get genus 0 curves.

Let us apply the procedure described in Theorem 3.11 with these arguments to determine the solutions of equation (138) in some second order linear recurrence sequences. The results of the following applications will appear in [**110**].

3.2.2.3.1. Balancing numbers and Markoff-Rosenberger equations.

The first definition of balancing numbers is essentially due to Finkelstein [83], although he called them numerical centers. In 1999, Behera and Panda [17] defined balancing numbers as follows. A positive integer n is called a balancing number if

$$1 + 2 + \ldots + (n - 1) = (n + 1) + (n + 2) + \ldots + (n + k)$$

for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. The sequence of balancing numbers is denoted by $\{B_n\}_{n\geq 0}$. This sequence can be defined in a recursive way as well, we have that $B_0 = 0, B_1 = 1$ and

$$B_n = 6B_{n-1} - B_{n-2}, \quad n \ge 2.$$

As we see this is the sequence $\{U_n(6,1)\}_{n\geq 0}$. So P = 6, Q = 1 and D = 32. We also have that

$$\alpha = 3 + 2\sqrt{2}, \quad \beta = 3 - 2\sqrt{2}.$$

We have the bounds

$$\alpha^{n-1} \le B_n \le \alpha^n \quad \text{ for } n \ge 1, \tag{200}$$

which are specific to the sequence of balancing numbers. Since Q = 1, the numbers $X = B_n$ satisfy the Pellian equation $Y^2 = 8X^2 + 1$. We prove the following result:

THEOREM 3.13. If $(x, y, z) = (B_i, B_j, B_k)$ is a solution of the equation $ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz$

and $(a, b, c, d) \in \{(1, 1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1, 3), (1, 1, 2, 2), (1, 1, 2, 4), (1, 1, 5, 5), (1, 2, 3, 6)\}$, then there is at most one solution given by $x = y = z = B_1 = 1$.

PROOF. Note that here we can directly use the results given in Theorem 3.11 (i.e. $B_0 \ge \alpha^{-4}$ and $i \le 12$), argument (I) and any of the arguments described in (II), (III) or (IV) to prove the theorem completely. But in practice, having a smaller upper bound on *i* and eliminating as many *i*'s as possible are very useful for determining the complete set of solutions, and as pointed earlier the upper bound "12" on *i* is only the least upper bound that could be even smaller due to particular sequences. Therefore, we follow the general strategy given in Theorem 3.11 to compute the best possible values for the lower bounds on B'_0s (i.e. greater values) and the upper bounds on *i*'s (i.e. smaller values) specific to the sequence of balancing numbers with the use of the inequalities given in (200). It turns out that in all the cases we have that $i \le 5$. Moreover, by applying argument (I), many values of *i*'s can be eliminated by checking integral solutions of binary quadratic forms. Therefore, we skip the congruence

arguments given by (II) and (III). We directly consider the genus 1 curves obtained from the system of equations

$$Y_1^2 = 8X^2 + 1,$$

$$Y_2^2 = d^2B_i^2X^2 - 4b(aB_i^2 + cX^2).$$

In the following table, we provide details of the computations.

[a, b, c, d]	B_0	C_0	[<i>i</i>]	$\left[i, A'X^4 + B'X^2 + C', [X, Y]\right]$
[1, 1, 1, 1]	0.0052038	5	[2]	$[2,256X^4 - 1120X^2 - 144,[]]$
[1, 1, 1, 3]	0.3587572	2	[1]	$[1,40X^4 - 27X^2 - 4,[[1,-3],[-1,-3]]]$
[1, 1, 2, 2]	0.0052038	4	[2]	$[2, 1088X^4 - 1016X^2 - 144, []]$
[1, 2, 1, 2]	0.1819805	3	[2]	$[2, 1088X^4 - 2168X^2 - 288, []]$
[2, 1, 1, 2]	0.1819805	3	[]	[]
[1, 1, 2, 4]	0.1819805	2	[1]	$[1, 64X^4 - 24X^2 - 4, [[1, 6], [-1, 6]]]$
[1, 2, 1, 4]	0.2928932	3	[1]	$[1, 64X^4 - 56X^2 - 8, [[1, 0], [-1, 0]]]$
[2, 1, 1, 4]	0.2928932	3	[1]	$[1,96X^4 - 52X^2 - 8, [[1,-6], [-1,-6]]]$
[1, 1, 5, 5]	0.0052038	4	[1]	$[1,40X^4 - 27X^2 - 4,[[1,-3],[-1,-3]]]$
[1, 5, 1, 5]	0.1161165	4	[1]	$[1,40X^4 - 155X^2 - 20, [[2,0], [-2,0]]]$
[5, 1, 1, 5]	0.1161165	4	[1]	$[1, 168X^4 - 139X^2 - 20, [[1, -3], [-1, -3]]]$
[1, 2, 3, 6]	0.1819805	2	[1]	$[1,96X^4 - 52X^2 - 8, [[1,-6], [-1,-6]]]$
[1, 3, 2, 6]	0.3587572	2	[1]	$[1,96X^4 - 84X^2 - 12, [[1,0], [-1,0]]]$
[2, 1, 3, 6]	0.1819805	2	[1]	$[1, 192X^4 - 40X^2 - 8, [[1, 12], [-1, 12]]]$
[2, 3, 1, 6]	0.0606601	4	[1]	$[1, 192X^4 - 168X^2 - 24, [[1,0], [-1,0]]]$
[3, 1, 2, 6]	0.3587572	2	[1]	$\left[1,224X^{4}-68X^{2}-12,\left[\left[1,-12\right],\left[-1,-12\right]\right]\right]$
[3, 2, 1, 6]	0.0606601	4	[1]	$[1,224X^4 - 164X^2 - 24, [[1,6], [-1,6]]]$

The first column gives the tuples $(a, b, c, d) \in \mathfrak{T}$, the second column represents approximated lower bounds on B'_0s , the third column has upper bounds on i's represented by C_0 , in the fourth column we provide lists containing the remaining values of i's not eliminated by argument (I), and in the last column we have lists containing i, the right hand side of the quartic polynomial $Y^2 = A'X^4 + B'X^2 + C'$ defining genus 1 curve and the integral solutions (the second coordinate is only up to sign, for us, only the first coordinate is interesting since that gives B_{j+m}). For example, in case of (a, b, c, d) = (1, 2, 3, 6) we have that $B_0 \approx 0.1819805$ and $C_0 = 2$. That is $i \leq 2$. Applying argument (I), we can eliminate i = 2. Hence, it remains to study the case with i = 1. Here, we get that the only integral solutions are the ones with $X = \pm 1$. Since $X = B_{j+m}$, the only possibility is $B_{j+m} = 1$. The last step is the solution of the quadratic equation

$$1^2 + 2 \cdot B_i^2 + 3 \cdot 1^2 = 6 \cdot 1 \cdot B_i \cdot 1$$

It follows that B_j is either 1 or 2, but 2 is not a balancing number. Therefore, the only solution in this case is

$$(B_i, B_j, B_k) = (B_1, B_1, B_1) = (1, 1, 1).$$

3.2.2.3.2. Jacobsthal numbers and Markoff-Rosenberger equations.

If (P,Q) = (1,-2), then we deal with a special sequence in which we have that P < 2; that is the sequence of Jacobsthal numbers $\{J_n\}_{n\geq 0} = \{U_n(1,-2)\}_{n\geq 0}$. Here, we have $J_0 = 0, J_1 = 1$ and

$$J_n = J_{n-1} + 2J_{n-2}$$
 if $n \ge 2$.

It is also known that the next Jacobsthal number is also given by the recursion formula

$$J_{n+1} = 2J_n + (-1)^n.$$

We obtain that

 $D = 9, \quad \alpha = 2, \quad \beta = -1.$

Therefore, the closed-form of J_n is given by

$$\frac{2^n - (-1)^n}{3}.$$

Based on the above closed-form equation, we may provide bounds for J_n , these are as follows

$$\frac{2^{n-1}}{3} \le J_n \le 2^{n-1}, \quad n \ge 1.$$
(201)

Similarly, these bounds are only specific to the general term J_n . Here, we prove the following statement:

THEOREM 3.14. If
$$(x, y, z) = (J_i, J_j, J_k)$$
 is a solution of the equation

$$aJ_i^2 + bJ_j^2 + cJ_k^2 = dJ_i J_j J_k$$
(202)

and $(a, b, c, d) \in \{(1, 1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1, 3), (1, 1, 2, 2), (1, 1, 2, 4), (1, 1, 5, 5), (1, 2, 3, 6)\}$, then the complete list of solutions is given by

(a,b,c,d)	solutions
(1, 1, 1, 1)	$\{(3,3,3)\}$
(1, 1, 1, 3)	$\{(1,1,1)\}$
(1, 1, 2, 2)	{}
(1, 1, 2, 4)	$\{(1,1,1),(1,3,1),(1,3,5),(3,1,1),(3,1,5),(3,11,1),(11,3,1)\}$
(1, 1, 5, 5)	$\{(1,3,1),(3,1,1)\}$
(1, 2, 3, 6)	$\{(1,1,1),(5,1,1)\}$

PROOF. Since P < 2, we cannot directly use the results given in Theorem 3.11. But, since $\beta = -1, \alpha = 2$ and $\sqrt{D} = 3$, we may follow the steps of the proof of Theorem 3.11 with the use of the inequalities given in (201). Hence, we obtain that

$$B_0 = \min_{I \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| 2^I - \frac{d}{3c} \right|$$

and

$$\left|2^{k-i-j} - \frac{d}{3c}\right| \le \left(\frac{9(a+b)}{2c} + \frac{d}{c} + 1\right)2^{-i}.$$
(203)

In fact, in some cases we obtain that $B_0 = 0$.

The case (a, b, c, d) = (1, 1, 1, 1). Here, we obtain that $B_0 \approx 0.0833333$ and the bound for *i* is 7. Applying the argument given by (I), it turns out that all values can be eliminated except i = 3. If i = 3, then we compute the possible values of k - j from inequality (203). We have that $k - j \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$. If $k - j \in \{1, 2\}$, then applying (II) with p = 3 works and in case of k - j = 3 we use p = 11 to show that there is no solution. The remaining case is related to k - j = 0. We obtain the equation

$$3^2 + J_j^2 + J_j^2 = 3J_j J_j.$$

It follows that $J_j = J_k = 3$, so the solution is given by $(J_i, J_j, J_k) = (3, 3, 3)$.

The case (a, b, c, d) = (1, 1, 1, 3). In this case in (203), we have $|2^{k-i-j} - 1|$ and this expression is 0 if k - i - j = 0. Therefore, we need to study the equation

$$(2^{i} - (-1)^{i})^{2} + (2^{j} - (-1)^{j})^{2} + (2^{i+j} - (-1)^{i+j})^{2} = (2^{i} - (-1)^{i}) \cdot (2^{j} - (-1)^{j}) \cdot (2^{i+j} - (-1)^{i+j}).$$

By symmetry we may assume that $i \le j$. The small solutions with $0 \le i \le j \le 2$ can be enumerated easily. Since we consider solutions with i, j > 0, we omit (i, j) =(0, 0). The other solution is given by (i, j) = (1, 1). Hence, we get that $(J_i, J_j, J_k) =$ (1, 1, 1). If i = 2, then it follows that with modulo 7 there is no solution. If i > 2, then we work modulo 8 to show that no solution exists. If $k - i - j \ne 0$, then we obtain that $B_0 = 1$. As a consequence, we have that $i \in \{1, 2\}$. We may exclude the cases i = 1, 2 and k - j = 2 modulo 5. In a similar way, working modulo 7 we eliminate the cases i = 1, k - j = 3 and i = 2, k - j = 3, 4. The remaining cases are given by $i \in \{1, 2\}, k - j \in \{0, 1\}$. If i = 1, 2, k - j = 0, then it easily follows that (1, 1, 1) is the only solution. If i = 1, 2, k - j = 1, then the equation is

$$1 + J_j^2 + J_{j+1}^2 = 3J_j J_{j+1}.$$

Since $J_{j+1} = 2J_j + (-1)^j$, the above equation can be written as

$$J_j^2 - (-1)^j J_j - 2 = 0$$

Thus, the only possibilities are given by $J_j \in \{\pm 1, \pm 2\}$. Again, the only solution we get is (1,1,1).

The case (a, b, c, d) = (1, 1, 2, 2). Here, we compute the bounds for *i* in the cases (a, b, c, d) = (1, 1, 2, 2), (1, 2, 1, 2), (2, 1, 1, 2). Simply argument (I) is enough to show that there exists no solution.

The case (a, b, c, d) = (1, 1, 2, 4). The bound for *i* is 4, and by (I) we can eliminate the case i = 4 when the order of the coefficients is (1, 1, 2, 4). Congruence arguments (modulo 3 or 7) work if $(i, k-j) \in \{(1, 2), (1, 3), (2, 2), (2, 3)\}$. The remaining cases are

$$(i, k - j) \in \{(1, 0), (1, 1), (2, 0), (2, 1), (3, 0), (3, 1), (3, 2), (3, 3)\}$$

From (i, k - j) = (1, 0), (2, 0), (3, 0), we obtain the solutions (by solving quadratic equations) (1, 1, 1) and (3, 1, 1). If (i, k - j) = (1, 1), (2, 1), then we get

$$J_j^2 + 4(-1)^j J_j + 3 = 0.$$

Hence, $J_j = 1$ or 3. So we obtain the solutions (1, 1, 1), (1, 3, 1) and (1, 3, 5). In case of (i, k - j) = (3, 1), we obtain

$$15J_j^2 + 4(-1)^j J_j - 11 = 0.$$

Thus, we have the solution (3, 1, 1). By applying the rule $J_{n+1} = 2J_n + (-1)^n$ two or three times, we can reduce the problems (i, k - j) = (3, 2), (3, 3) to quadratic equations. The formulas are getting more involved, for example if (i, k - j) = (3, 2) we have

$$9 + J_j^2 + 2(4J_j + 2(-1)^j + (-1)^{j+1})^2 = 12J_j(4J_j + 2(-1)^j + (-1)^{j+1}).$$

In this case, we get that $J_j = 1$. In a very similar way, we handle the cases with the tuples (1, 2, 1, 4) and (2, 1, 1, 4).

The case (a, b, c, d) = (1, 1, 5, 5). Here, we need to deal with the tuples (1, 1, 5, 5), (1, 5, 1, 5) and (5, 1, 1, 5). The bounds for *i* are given by 3, 6 and 6, respectively. Since the steps are similar as we have applied in the previous cases, we omit the details.

The case (a, b, c, d) = (1, 2, 3, 6). We only provide some data related to the computation. Let us start with the bounds:

tuple	bound for i	special case
(1, 2, 3, 6)	4	-
(1, 3, 2, 6)	2	k - i - j = 0
(2, 1, 3, 6)	4	-
(2, 3, 1, 6)	2	k - i - j = 1
(3, 1, 2, 6)	2	k - i - j = 0
(3, 2, 1, 6)	2	k - i - j = 1

As before, we apply the arguments given by (I) and (II) and the identity $J_{n+1} = 2J_n + (-1)^n$ to resolve all the possible cases. The only new case that has not appeared yet is k - i - j = 1. If we take the tuple (2, 3, 1, 6), then we obtain

$$2J_i^2 + 3J_j^2 + J_{i+j+1}^2 - 6J_i J_j J_{i+j+1} = 0, (204)$$

$$2(2^{i} - (-1)^{i})^{2} + 3(2^{j} - (-1)^{j})^{2} + (2^{i+j+1} - (-1)^{i+j+1})^{2} = 2(2^{i} - (-1)^{i}) \cdot (2^{j} - (-1)^{j}) \cdot (2^{i+j+1} - (-1)^{i+j+1}).$$
(205)

With respect to the values of *i* and *j*, we consider the following cases (assuming that $1 \le i \le j \le k$):

• If *i* and *j* are both even, i.e. i = 2t and j = 2r for all positive integers $t, r \ge 1$, then equation (205) becomes

$$E_1 = 2(4^t - 1)^2 + 3(4^r - 1)^2 + (2 \cdot 4^{t+r} + 1)^2$$

- 2(4^t - 1) \cdot (4^r - 1) \cdot (2 \cdot 4^{t+r} + 1) = 0.

But, $E_1 \pmod{8} \equiv 4$ for all $t, r \ge 1$, which leads to a contradiction. Moreover, since *i* and *j* are both even with $i \ge 2$ and $j \ge 2$, then all the even values of *i* and *j* are excluded.

• If i and j are both odd, i.e. i = 2t + 1 and j = 2r + 1 for all positive integers $t, r \ge 1$, then equation (205) implies that

$$E_2 = 2(2 \cdot 4^t + 1)^2 + 3(2 \cdot 4^r + 1)^2 + (2 \cdot 4^{t+r+1} + 1)^2 - 2(2 \cdot 4^t + 1) \cdot (2 \cdot 4^r + 1) \cdot (2 \cdot 4^{t+r+1} + 1) = 0.$$

Similarly, $E_2 \pmod{8} \equiv 4$ for all $t, r \ge 1$, and again we get a contradiction. Indeed, all the odd values of $i \ge 3$ and $j \ge 3$ are excluded, and it remains only to check whether equation (204) has solutions or not at the following cases: $i = 1, j = 1; i = 1, j \ge 3; j = 1, i \ge 3$. In fact, since we assumed that $1 \le i \le j \le k$, then the latter case can be covered by checking the solvability of equation (204) at i = j = 1.

• If i is even and j is odd, i.e. i = 2t and j = 2r + 1 for all positive integers $t, r \ge 1$, then equation (205) leads to

$$E_3 = 2(4^t - 1)^2 + 3(2 \cdot 4^r + 1)^2 + (4^{t+r+1} - 1)^2 - 2(4^t - 1) \cdot (2 \cdot 4^r + 1) \cdot (4^{t+r+1} - 1) = 0.$$

Again, we get a contradiction since $E_3 \pmod{8} \equiv 4$ for all $t, r \ge 1$. Here, we excluded all the even values of $i \ge 2$ and odd values of $j \ge 3$, and it remains to check whether equation (204) has solutions or not only at $j = 1, i \ge 2$. Similarly, this can be covered by studying the solutions of equation (204) only at i = j = 1.

• Finally, if i is odd and j is even, i.e. i = 2t + 1 and j = 2r for all positive integers $t, r \ge 1$, then similarly we have

$$E_4 = 2(2 \cdot 4^t + 1)^2 + 3(4^r - 1)^2 + (4^{t+r+1} - 1)^2 - 2(2 \cdot 4^t + 1) \cdot (4^r - 1) \cdot (4^{t+r+1} - 1) = 0,$$

and $E_4 \pmod{8} \equiv 4$ for all $t, r \ge 1$, which gives a contradiction. It is clear that all the odd values of $i \ge 3$ and even values of $j \ge 2$ are excluded, and we need to check whether equation (204) has solutions or not only at $i = 1, j \ge 2$.

From these cases, we conclude that it only remains to study the solutions of equation (204) at i = 1 and all the integers of j with $j \ge 1$. This can be done by direct substitution and using argument (III) as follows. It is clear that we have k = i + j + 1 = j + 2 and

$$2 + 3J_j^2 + J_{j+2}^2 - 6J_j J_{j+2} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad j \ge 1.$$
(206)

- If j = 1, then we have that $-4 = 2+3J_1^2+J_3^2-6J_1J_3 = 0$, which is impossible.
- If j = 2, then we get the solution (i, j, k) = (1, 2, 4). Hence, equation (204) has the solution $(J_i, J_j, J_{i+j+1}) = (J_i, J_j, J_k) = (J_1, J_2, J_4) = (1, 1, 5)$.
- If *j* ≥ 3, we can show that equation (204) has no more solutions by showing that

$$2 + 3J_j^2 + J_{j+2}^2 - 6J_j J_{j+2} < 0 \quad \text{for} \quad j \ge 3.$$

Indeed, after substituting the Jacobsthal numbers formula $J_j = J_{j-1} + 2J_{j-2}$ in the left hand side of equation (206) a few times we get that

$$2 + 3J_j^2 + J_{j+2}^2 - 6J_j J_{j+2} = 2 - 2J_{j-1}^2 - 24J_{j-1}J_{j-2} - 24J_{j-2}^2 < 0,$$

for $j \ge 3$, and this contradicts equation (206).

Therefore, by permuting the components of the solution (1,1,5) to be a solution of equation (202) at the tuple (1,2,3,6) we get the solution (5,1,1).

Summary

This dissertation deals with some types of Diophantine equations related to linear recurrence sequences. In fact, it consists of three chapters. In Section 1.1, we introduce a historical survey of Diophantine equations (particularly, Fermat's equation). In Section 1.2, we recall some types of Diophantine equations with some related results, that appear briefly or in details with our main results in the other chapters. In Section 1.3, we recall some important notations, definitions and properties related to the subject of linear recurrence sequences, that will be used throughout the dissertation. Then we recite some recent results related to the solutions of some Diophantine equations involving linear recurrence sequences. In the final section of Chapter 1, we give an outline for our main results and the plan of the dissertation within the other chapters.

The new results are mainly described in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 in which each has two main sections. Indeed, each section begins with a preface in which we recite some relevant related results of the Diophantine problem(s), that we investigate its (their) solutions in connection with terms of some linear recurrence sequences. These results have been published in the papers [104, 105, 106, 107] and accepted for publication in the papers [108, Mathematica Bohemica journal] and [110, Periodica Mathematica Hungarica journal].

For the sake of simplicity in presenting these results, we start by recalling some standard notations, definitions and properties concerning linear recurrence sequences (see e.g. Subsection 1.3.1 of Chapter 1). A sequence $\{G_n\}$ is called a linear recurrence relation of order k if the recurrence

$$G_{n+k} = a_1 G_{n+k-1} + a_2 G_{n+k-2} + \ldots + a_k G_n + f(n)$$

holds for all $n \ge 0$ with the coefficients $a_1, a_2, \ldots, (a_k \ne 0) \in \mathbb{C}$ and f(n) a function depending on n only. If f(n) = 0 such a recurrence relation is called homogeneous, otherwise it is called nonhomogeneous.

For the homogeneous recurrence relation, the polynomial

$$F(X) = X^{k} - a_{1}X^{k-1} - \ldots - a_{k} = \prod_{i=1}^{s} (X - \alpha_{i})^{r_{i}} \in \mathbb{C}[X],$$

where $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_s$ and r_1, r_2, \ldots, r_s are respectively the distinct roots of F(X) and their corresponding multiplicities, is called the characteristic polynomial of $\{G_n\}$. Thus, if $F(X) \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ has k distinct roots, then there exist constants $c_1, c_2, \ldots, c_k \in$ $\mathbb{Q}(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_k)$ such that

$$G_n = \sum_{i=1}^k c_i \alpha_i^n$$

holds for all the nonnegative values of n. If k = 3, then the sequence is called a ternary linear recurrence sequence. Most of the well known ternary linear recurrence sequences are the Tribonacci sequence and Berstel's sequence, which are defined by

$$T_0 = T_1 = 0, T_2 = 1, \quad T_{n+3} = T_{n+2} + T_{n+1} + T_n$$
 for $n \ge 0$,

$$B_0 = B_1 = 0, B_2 = 1, \quad B_{n+3} = 2B_{n+2} - 4B_{n+1} + 4B_n \quad \text{for} \quad n \ge 0,$$

respectively. On the other hand, if k = 2, then $\{G_n\}$ represents a binary recurrence sequence. In the following we recall some types of binary linear recurrence sequences with their properties. Let P and Q be nonzero relatively prime integers and $U_n = U_n(P,Q)$ and $V_n = V_n(P,Q)$ be defined by the following recurrence relations with their initials:

$$U_0 = 0, U_1 = 1, \quad U_n = PU_{n-1} - QU_{n-2}$$
 for $n \ge 2,$

$$V_0 = 2, V_1 = P, \quad V_n = PV_{n-1} - QV_{n-2}$$
 for $n \ge 2$.

The characteristic polynomial of the recurrences is given by

$$X^2 - PX + Q_2$$

which has the roots

$$\alpha = \frac{P + \sqrt{D}}{2}$$
 and $\beta = \frac{P - \sqrt{D}}{2}$

with $\alpha \neq \beta$, $\alpha + \beta = P$, $\alpha \cdot \beta = Q$ and $(\alpha - \beta)^2 = D$, where D is called the discriminant such that $D = P^2 - 4Q$. The sequences $\{U_n\}$ and $\{V_n\}$ are called the (first and second kind) Lucas sequences with the parameters (P, Q), respectively, and the terms of these sequences are the generalized Lucas numbers. The terms of Lucas sequences of the first and second kind satisfy the identity

$$V_n^2 = DU_n^2 + 4Q^n.$$
 (1)

Moreover, the Lucas sequences of the first and second kind can be respectively written by the following formulas, that are known as Binet's formulas.

$$U_n = \frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\alpha - \beta}$$
 and $V_n = \alpha^n + \beta^n$ for $n \ge 0$.

If the ratio $\zeta = \frac{\alpha}{\beta}$ is a root of unity, then the sequences $\{U_n\}$ and $\{V_n\}$ are said to be degenerate, and non-degenerate otherwise. Indeed, we mainly deal with non-degenerate linear recurrence sequences. Furthermore, the Lucas sequences for some values of P and Q have specific names such as the sequences of Fibonacci numbers,

Pell numbers, Lucas numbers, Jacobsthal numbers and balancing numbers, which are given by

$F_0 = 0, F_1 = 1,$	$F_n = F_{n-1} + F_{n-2}$	for	$n \ge 2,$
$P_0 = 0, P_1 = 1,$	$P_n = 2P_{n-1} + P_{n-2}$	for	$n \ge 2,$
$L_0 = 2, L_1 = 1,$	$L_n = L_{n-1} + L_{n-2}$	for	$n \ge 2,$
$J_0 = 0, J_1 = 1,$	$J_n = J_{n-1} + 2J_{n-2}$	for	$n\geq 2,$
$B_0 = 0, B_1 = 1,$	$B_n = 6B_{n-1} - B_{n-2}$	for	$n \ge 2$,

respectively.

The goal of Section 2.1 is to extend the result of Tengely [243] in which he determined all the integer solutions (n, x) with $x \ge 2$ of the equation

$$\frac{1}{U_n(P,Q)} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P,Q)}{x^k}$$

We first determine the integral solutions (n, x) of the equation

$$\frac{1}{U_n(P_2,Q_2)} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1,Q_1)}{x^k},$$
(2)

for certain given pairs $(P_1, Q_1) \neq (P_2, Q_2)$. Here, we consider sequences with $1 \leq P \leq 3$ and $Q = \pm 1$. We also obtain the integral solutions (x, y) of the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P,Q)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{R_{k-1}}{y^k},$$
(3)

where the parameters of the Lucas sequence of the first kind represented by $1 \le P \le 3$ and $Q = \pm 1$, and the sequence $\{R_n\}$ is a ternary linear recurrence sequence represented by the Tribonacci sequence $\{T_n\}$ or Berstel's sequence $\{B_n\}$. Furthermore, we provide general results related to the integral solutions (x, y) of the equations

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1, Q_1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_2, Q_2)}{y^k},$$
(4)

with arbitrary pairs $(P_1, Q_1) \neq (P_2, Q_2)$, and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(a_2, a_1, a_0)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(b_2, b_1, b_0)}{y^k},$$
(5)

where the triples $(a_2, a_1, a_0) \neq (b_2, b_1, b_0)$ and T_n denotes the general term of the generalized Tribonacci sequence that is given by

$$T_0(p,q,r) = T_1(p,q,r) = 0, T_2(p,q,r) = 1 \text{ and}$$

$$T_n(p,q,r) = pT_{n-1}(p,q,r) + qT_{n-2}(p,q,r) + rT_{n-3}(p,q,r),$$

for $n \ge 3$. Then we apply these results to completely resolve some concrete equations. Here, our main results also extend many former results obtained by e.g. Stancliff [230], Winans [259], Hudson and Winans [120], Long [149] and De Weger [70]. In order to introduce our new results of this section, we first recall the following. Let the set S be defined as follows

$$S = \{u_1(n) = U_n(1, -1), u_2(n) = U_n(2, -1), u_3(n) = U_n(3, -1), u_4(n) = U_n(3, 1)\}.$$

Moreover, in general we assume that the positive integers x, y in the investigated equations (2)–(5) satisfy the conditions of the following lemmas due to the results of Köhler [135]:

LEMMA. Let A, B, a_0, a_1 be arbitrary complex numbers. Define the sequence $\{a_n\}$ by the recursion $a_{n+1} = Aa_n + Ba_{n-1}$. Then the formula

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_{k-1}}{x^k} = \frac{a_0 x - Aa_0 + a_1}{x^2 - Ax - B}$$

holds for all complex x such that |x| is larger than the absolute values of the zeros of $x^2 - Ax - B$.

LEMMA. Let arbitrary complex numbers $A_0, A_1, \ldots, A_m, a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_m$ be given. Define the sequence $\{a_n\}$ by the recursion

$$a_{n+1} = A_0 a_n + A_1 a_{n-1} + \dots + A_m a_{n-m}.$$

Then for all complex z such that |z| is larger than the absolute values of all zeros of $q(z) = z^{m+1} - A_0 z^m - A_1 z^{m-1} - \dots - A_m$, the formula

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_{k-1}}{z^k} = \frac{p(z)}{q(z)}$$

holds with $p(z) = a_0 z^m + b_1 z^{m-1} + \dots + b_m$, where $b_k = a_k - \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} A_i a_{k-1-i}$ for $1 \le k \le m$.

Then we prove the following results, that appear in the papers [105, 106].

THEOREM. The equation

$$\frac{1}{u_j(n)} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{u_i(k-1)}{x^k},$$

has the following solutions with $1 \le i, j \le 4, i \ne j$

 $\begin{array}{l} (i,j,n,x) \in \{(1,2,1,2), (1,2,3,3), (1,2,5,6), (1,3,1,2), (1,3,5,11), \\ (1,3,7,35), (1,4,1,2), (1,4,5,8), (2,1,3,3), (2,1,9,7), (3,1,4,4), (3,1,14,21), (3,4,2,4), (3,4,7,21), (4,1,\{1,2\},3), (4,1,5,4), (4,1,10,9), \\ (4,1,11,11), (4,2,1,3), (4,2,3,4), (4,2,5,7), (4,3,1,3), (4,3,5,12), \\ (4,3,7,36)\}. \end{array}$

THEOREM. The complete list of solutions of the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{u_j(k-1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{R_{k-1}}{y^k},$$

with $u_n \in S, R_n \in \{B_n, T_n\}$ and positive integers x, y is as follows

u_n	R_n	(x,y)	u_n	R_n	(x,y)
u_1	B_n	$\{(25,9)\}$	u_1	T_n	$\{(2,2)\}$
u_2	B_n	{}	u_2	T_n	$\{(t(t^2-2)+1,t^2-1):t \ge 2, t \in \mathbb{N}\}\$
u_3	B_n	$\{(6,3),(18,7)\}$	u_3	T_n	{}
u_4	B_n	$\{(26,9)\}$	u_4	T_n	$\{(3,2)\}$

THEOREM. Let P_1, Q_1, P_2, Q_2 be non-zero integers such that $(P_1, Q_1) \neq (P_2, Q_2)$. If $(P_2^2 - P_1^2) + 4(Q_1 - Q_2) = d_1d_2 \neq 0$ and $d_1 - d_2 \equiv -2P_1 \pmod{4}, d_1 + d_2 \equiv -2P_2 \pmod{4}$, then the positive integral solutions x, y of

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1, Q_1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_2, Q_2)}{y^k}$$

satisfy

$$x = \frac{d_1 - d_2 + 2P_1}{4} > m(x^2 - P_1 x + Q_1), \quad y = \frac{d_1 + d_2 + 2P_2}{4} > m(x^2 - P_2 x + Q_2).$$

If $(P_2^2 - P_1^2) + 4(Q_1 - Q_2) = 0$ and $P_1 \equiv P_2 \pmod{2}$, then the positive integral solutions x, y of

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_1, Q_1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(P_2, Q_2)}{y^k}$$

satisfy

$$x > m(x^2 - P_1 x + Q_1), \quad y = \pm x + \frac{P_2 \mp P_1}{2} > m(x^2 - P_2 x + Q_2),$$

where $Q_2 = Q_1 + \frac{P_2^2 - P_1^2}{4}$, and $m(f) = \max\{|x| : f(x) = 0, where f(x) \text{ is a given polynomial over integers}\}$.

THEOREM. If (x, y) is an integral solution of the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(a_2, a_1, a_0)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(b_2, b_1, b_0)}{y^k}$$

for given $(a_2, a_1, a_0) \neq (b_2, b_1, b_0)$, then either

 $9(a_2^2 - b_2^2 + 3a_1 - 3b_1)y + 2a_2^3 - 3a_2^2b_2 + b_2^3 + 9a_1a_2 - 9a_1b_2 + 27a_0 - 27b_0 = 0$ or in case of |y| > B we have

$$|3x - 3y - a_2 + b_2| < C,$$

where B, C are constants depending only on $a_i, b_i, i = 0, 1, 2$.

As applications to the latter two theorems, we provide the following examples, that are described in [106].

EXAMPLE. Let $(P_1, Q_1) = (1, -1)$ and $(P_2, Q_2) = (18, 1)$, then the solutions are as follows

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{2^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{18^k} = 1,$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{7^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{20^k} = \frac{1}{41},$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{10^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{22^k} = \frac{1}{89},$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{15^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{26^k} = \frac{1}{209},$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{26^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{36^k} = \frac{1}{649},$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{79^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(18,1)}{88^k} = \frac{1}{6161}.$$

EXAMPLE. In case of $(P_1, Q_1) = (1, -1)$ and $(P_2, Q_2) = (2t + 1, t^2 + t - 1)$ for some $t \in \mathbb{Z}$, we get that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(1,-1)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}(2t+1,t^2+t-1)}{(x+t)^k} = \frac{1}{x^2-x-1}$$

for $x \ge 2$.

EXAMPLE. Consider the positive integral solutions x, y of the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(-1,7,3)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(5,-5,-3)}{y^k}$$

We obtain that the only integral solutions are given by

$$(x, y) \in \{(-1, 1), (-3, 3), (-2, 4)\}.$$

Thus, we do not get positive integral solutions.

EXAMPLE. Let us consider the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(-4, -5, -6)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(1, 8, 18)}{y^k}$$

Here, we get that the only positive solution is given by (x, y) = (9, 11), that is we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(-4,-5,-6)}{9^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(1,8,18)}{11^k} = \frac{1}{1104}.$$
EXAMPLE. Finally, we provide an example in which we obtain infinitely many solutions. Let $(a_2, a_1, a_0) = (1, 6, 5)$ and $(b_2, b_1, b_0) = (4, 1, 1)$. Indeed, the integral solutions are given by (x, y) = (x, x + 1) for all $x \ge 4$, that is we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(1,6,5)}{x^k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_{k-1}(4,1,1)}{(x+1)^k} = \frac{1}{x^3 - x^2 - 6x - 5}, \quad x \ge 4.$$

In Section 2.2, we firstly use a direct approach to obtain a general finiteness result for the Diophantine equation

$$G_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^{lm} - 1}{g^l - 1}\right),\tag{6}$$

where n, m, g, l and B are positive integers such that m > 1, g > 1, l is even, $1 \le B \le g^l - 1$, and G_n denotes the general term of an integer linear recurrence sequence represented by $U_n(P,Q)$ and $V_n(P,Q)$, with $Q \in \{-1,1\}$. Indeed, the first finiteness result for equation (6), in case of $(G_n)_{n\ge 1}$ is an integer linear recurrence sequence and l is a positive integer, was given by Marques and Togbé [163] in which they used heavy computations followed by a result due to Matveev [166] on the lower bound on linear forms of logarithms of algebraic numbers to obtain bounds for n and m. As these bounds could be very high, they used a result due to Dujella and Pethő [76] on the Baker-Davenport reduction to reduce these bounds. Then they applied this result to determine all the solutions of the Diophantine equations

$$F_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{10^{lm} - 1}{10^l - 1}\right) \quad \text{and} \quad L_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{10^{lm} - 1}{10^l - 1}\right) \tag{7}$$

in positive integers m, n and l, with $m > 1, 1 \le l \le 10$ and $1 \le B \le 10^{l} - 1$, which are (m, n, l) = (2, 10, 1) and (m, n, l) = (2, 5, 1) in the Fibonacci and Lucas cases, respectively. It is clear that these equations have solutions only with l = 1. Here, one may ask the following natural questions:

- Is there another approach that is easier to apply to such concrete equations?
- Do the equations in (7) have solutions in any base g other than 10, say g ≥ 2, in the case of l = 1?

In fact, here we answer the above questions positively. More precisely, our approach of obtaining a general finiteness result for equation (6) is mainly based on producing biquadratic elliptic curves of the following form (from combining equation (6) with identity (1)),

$$y^2 = ax^4 + bx^2 + c,$$

with integer coefficients a, b, c and discriminant $\Delta = 16ac(b^2 - 4ac)^2 \neq 0$. First of all, the finiteness of the number of the integral points on the latter curve is guaranteed by Baker's result [11] presented by the following theorem and its best improvement concerning the solutions of elliptic equations over \mathbb{Q} , that is due to Hajdu and Herendi [103].

THEOREM. If the polynomial on the right of the Diophantine equation

 $y^2 = a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \ldots + a_n,$

where $n \ge 3$ and $a_0 \ne 0, a_1, \ldots, a_n \in \mathbb{Z}$, possesses at least three simple zeros, then all of its solutions in integers x, y satisfy

$$\max(|x|, |y|) < \exp \exp \exp\{(n^{10n}H)^{n^2}\},\$$

where $H = \max_{0 \le i \le n} |a_i|$.

Also, the integral points of such curves can be determined using an algorithm implemented in Magma [33] as SIntegralLjunggrenPoints() (based on results obtained by Tzanakis [249]) or an algorithm described by Alekseyev and Tengely [4] in which they gave an algorithmic reduction of the search for integral points on such a curve by solving a finite number of Thue equations. As applications of our result, we apply our method on the sequences of Fibonacci numbers and Pell numbers that satisfy equation (6). Furthermore, with the first application we also generalize the result of Marques and Togbé in [163] in the case of Fibonacci numbers by determining all the solutions (n, m, g, B, l) of the equation

$$F_n = B \cdot \left(\frac{g^{lm} - 1}{g^l - 1}\right)$$

in case of $2 \le g \le 9$ and l = 1. Note that the case of Lucas numbers can be generalized similarly, therefore we omit the details of this case. More precisely, we use our approach in case where we have l is even, otherwise we follow the technique of Marques and Togbé in [163] of using the result of Matveev on linear forms in three logarithms and the result of Dujella and Pethő on the method of Baker-Davenport reduction. In fact, our main results here also extend other related results obtained by e.g. Luca [151] and Faye and Luca [82]. Before presenting our new results, it is important to mention the following remark:

REMARK. Since a finiteness result for equation (6) in case of $G_n = U_n$ or $G_n = V_n$ can be obtained in a similar way, we only present and prove this result in detail in the case of $G_n = U_n$ and omit the proof of the remaining case.

Here, we prove the following theorems, that are obtained in [108].

THEOREM. Let P and Q be nonzero relatively prime integers with $Q \in \{-1,1\}$ and t be a positive integer. If $G_n = U_n(P,Q)$ is non-degenerate and l = 2t, then the Diophantine equation (6) has finitely many solutions of the form (n,m,g,B,l), which can be effectively determined.

THEOREM. If $G_n = F_n$, then the Diophantine equation (6) has the following solutions with $2 \le g \le 9, l \in \{1, 2, 4\}$ and $1 \le B \le \min\{10, g^l - 1\}$.

 $(n, m, g, B, l) \in \{(4, 2, 2, 1, 1), (5, 2, 4, 1, 1), (6, 2, 3, 2, 1), (6, 2, 7, 1, 1), (7, 3, 3, 1, 1), (8, 2, 6, 3, 1), (8, 3, 4, 1, 1), (5, 2, 2, 1, 2), (8, 3, 2, 1, 2), (9, 2, 4, 2, 2), (9, 2, 2, 2, 4)\}.$

Furthermore, suppose that $2 \le g \le 9, l = 2, 1 \le B \le \min\{5, g^l - 1\}$ and $G_n = P_n$, then equation (6) has no more solutions other than (n, m, g, B, l) = (3, 2, 2, 1, 2).

In Section 3.1, we present a technique with which we can investigate the nontrivial integer solutions (X, Y, Z) of any equation (that has infinitely many integer solutions according to Mordell [176, page 111]) of the form

$$AX^2 + Y^r = C'Z^2$$

for certain nonzero integers A, C' and r with r > 1 being odd and $(X, Y) = (L_n, F_n)$ (or $(X, Y) = (F_n, L_n)$), where F_n and L_n denote the general terms of the sequences of Fibonacci numbers and Lucas numbers, respectively. We also remark that this technique can be applied on such equations for which they satisfy some conditions derived from a result due to Kedlaya [128] on solving constrained Pell equations. More precisely, we present the use of this technique for determining the solutions (X, Y, Z) of the Diophantine equation

$$7X^2 + Y^7 = Z^2, (8)$$

where $(X, Y) = (L_n, F_n)$ (or $(X, Y) = (F_n, L_n)$) and Z is a nonzero integer. From identity (1) (in case of $U_n(1, -1) = F_n$ and $V_n(1, -1) = L_n$), this technique shows that the solutions of equation (8) are equivalent to the solutions of the systems

$$\begin{aligned} x^2 - 5y^2 &= \pm 4, \qquad 7x^2 + y^7 = z^2, \\ x^2 - 5y^2 &= \pm 4, \qquad x^7 + 7y^2 = z^2, \end{aligned}$$

where $x = L_n$, $y = F_n$ and z = Z is a nonzero integer. More generally, a few techniques for investigating the integer solutions of certain systems of Diophantine equations of the form

$$x^{2} - ay^{2} = b, \quad P(x, y) = z^{2},$$
(9)

where a is a positive integer that is not a perfect square, b is a nonzero integer and P(x,y) is a polynomial with integer coefficients, have been used by several authors such as Cohn [57] who considered the case where P is a linear polynomial. Cohn's method uses congruence arguments to eliminate some cases and a clever invocation of quadratic reciprocity to handle the remaining cases. The congruence arguments are very sufficient if there exists no solution in such a system, however they fail in the presence of a solution. This method was adapted by Mohanty and Ramasamy [171], Muriefah and Al Rashed [1], Peker and Cenberci [182] to study the solutions of particular systems. On the other hand, Kedlaya [128] gave a general procedure, based on the methods of Cohn and the theory of Pell equations, that solves many systems of the form (9). In fact, he applied this approach on several examples in which P is univariate with degree at most two. Moreover, in some cases this procedure fails to solve a system completely. Therefore, our technique mainly uses Kedlaya's procedure and similar techniques adapted by the methods of Mohanty and Ramasamy, Muriefah and Rashed, and Peker and Cenberci to prove the following theorems, that appear in **[104]**.

THEOREM. Suppose that $X = L_n$ and $Y = F_n$, then the Diophantine equation (8) has no more solutions other than $(X, Y, Z) = (3, 1, \pm 8)$.

THEOREM. The Diophantine equation (8) has no solutions in integers X, Y and Z if $X = F_n$ and $Y = L_n$.

Finally, in Section 3.2 we present a technique for studying the solutions of some generalizations of Markoff equation in the numbers of certain binary linear recurrence sequences. In fact, Markoff equation is the Diophantine equation

$$x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = 3xyz$$

in positive integers $x \le y \le z$, which was deeply studied by Markoff [160, 161] in which he obtained many interesting results related to the solutions of this equation such as he showed that this equation has infinitely many integer solutions. The idea of investigating the solutions of the Markoff equation from some binary linear recurrence sequences was initiated by Luca and Srinivasan [155] in which they proved that the only solution of Markoff equation with $x \le y \le z$ such that $(x, y, z) = (F_i, F_j, F_k)$ is given by the well-known identity related to the Fibonacci numbers

$$1 + F_{2n-1}^2 + F_{2n+1}^2 = 3F_{2n-1}F_{2n+1}.$$

Therefore, in this section we present our new results in two subsections in which we extend the result of Luca and Srinivasan by simplifying their strategy with having upper bounds for the minimum of the indices to provide a direct approach for investigating such special solutions of the Jin-Schmidt equation and the Markoff-Rosenberger equation, that are respectively defined by

$$AX^{2} + BY^{2} + CZ^{2} = DXYZ + 1,$$
(10)

where $(A, B, C, D) \in S$, with

 $S = \{(2, 2, 3, 6), (2, 1, 2, 2), (7, 2, 14, 14), (3, 1, 6, 6), (6, 10, 15, 30), (5, 1, 5, 5)\},$ and

$$ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz, (11)$$

where $(a, b, c, d) \in T$ such that

$$T = \{(1,1,1,1), (1,1,1,3), (1,1,2,2), (1,1,2,4), (1,1,5,5), (1,2,3,6)\}.$$

Equations (10) and (11) are clearly generalizations of the Markoff equation, that are due to the results of Jin and Schmidt in [123] and Rosenberger in [198], respectively. More precisely, in Subsection 3.2.1 we determine the solutions $(X, Y, Z) = (F_I, F_J, F_K)$ in positive integers of the Jin-Schmidt equation (10), where F_I denotes the I^{th} Fibonacci number. In other words, we study the solutions of the following Diophantine equations in the sequence of Fibonacci numbers:

$$2X^2 + 2Y^2 + 3Z^2 = 6XYZ + 1, (12)$$

$$2X^2 + Y^2 + 2Z^2 = 2XYZ + 1, (13)$$

$$7X^2 + 2Y^2 + 14Z^2 = 14XYZ + 1, (14)$$

$$3X^2 + Y^2 + 6Z^2 = 6XYZ + 1, (15)$$

$$6X^2 + 10Y^2 + 15Z^2 = 30XYZ + 1, (16)$$

$$5X^2 + Y^2 + 5Z^2 = 5XYZ + 1, (17)$$

where $X = F_I, Y = F_J$ and $Z = F_K$. Here, we prove the following theorem, that is obtained in [107].

THEOREM. Let m be a positive integer greater than 1. If $(X, Y, Z) = (F_I, F_J, F_K)$ is a solution of equation (10) with $(A, B, C, D) \in S$, then the complete list of solutions is given by

Eq.	(A,B,C,D)	$\{(X,Y,Z)\}$
(12)	(2, 2, 3, 6)	$\{(1,1,1),(1,2,1),(1,2,3),(2,1,1),(2,1,3),$
		$(F_{2m-1}, F_{2m+1}, 1), (F_{2m+1}, F_{2m-1}, 1)\}$
(13)	(2, 1, 2, 2)	$\{(2,3,2),(2,5,2),(2,5,8),(8,5,2)\}$
(14)	(7, 2, 14, 14)	$\{(1,2,1),(1,5,1),(3,2,1),(3,2,5)\}$
(15)	(3, 1, 6, 6)	$\{(1,2,1),(3,2,1),(3,2,5)\}$
(16)	(6, 10, 15, 30)	$\{(1,1,1),(1,2,1),(1,2,3)\}$
(17)	(5, 1, 5, 5)	{}

In Subsection 3.2.2, we provide general results for the solutions $(x, y, z) = (R_i, R_j, R_k)$ of the Markoff-Rosenberger equation (11), where R_i denotes the i^{th} generalized Lucas number of first/second kind, i.e. $R_i = U_i$ or V_i . Then we apply the strategy of achieving these results to completely resolve concrete equations, e.g. we determine solutions containing only balancing numbers B_n and Jacobsthal numbers J_n , respectively. In other words, if \mathfrak{T} is the set of all distinct tuples (a, b, c, d) derived from permuting the first three components of elements in T, then we prove the following results, that will appear in [**110**].

THEOREM. Let $(a, b, c, d) \in \mathfrak{T}$, $P \ge 2, -P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1$ such that $Q \ne 0$, D > 0 and

$$B_0 = \min_{I \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \alpha^I - \frac{d}{c\sqrt{D}} \right|, \quad B_1 = \min_{I \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \alpha^I - \frac{d}{c} \right|.$$

If $B_0 \neq 0$, then $B_0 \geq \alpha^{-4}$ and if $B_1 \neq 0$, then $B_1 \geq 0.17$. Furthermore, if $x = U_i, y = U_j$ and $z = U_k$ with $1 \leq i \leq j \leq k$ is a solution of (11) and $B_0 \neq 0$, then $i \leq 12$. If $x = V_i, y = V_j$ and $z = V_k$ with $1 \leq i \leq j \leq k$ is a solution of (11) and $B_1 \neq 0$, then $i \leq 7$.

Note that the cases where we have $B_1 = 0$ were completely studied in the proof of the above theorem. Thus, it remains to classify the cases satisfying $B_0 = 0$, the result is as follows.

PROPOSITION. If $P \ge 2$, $-P - 1 \le Q \le P - 1$, $Q \ne 0$ and D > 0, then $B_0 \ne 0$ fulfills unless

 $\begin{array}{l} \bullet \ e=1, \ P=3, Q=2, \ \alpha=2, \ \sqrt{D}=1, \ I=0, \\ \bullet \ e=2, \ P=3, Q=2, \ \alpha=2, \ \sqrt{D}=1, \ I=1, \\ \bullet \ e=2, \ P=4, Q=3, \ \alpha=3, \ \sqrt{D}=2, \ I=0, \\ \bullet \ e=3, \ P=5, Q=4, \ \alpha=4, \ \sqrt{D}=3, \ I=0, \\ \bullet \ e=4, \ P=3, Q=2, \ \alpha=2, \ \sqrt{D}=1, \ I=2, \\ \bullet \ e=4, \ P=6, Q=5, \ \alpha=2, \ \sqrt{D}=4, \ I=0, \\ \bullet \ e=4, \ P=2, Q=-3, \ \alpha=3, \ \sqrt{D}=4, \ I=0, \\ \bullet \ e=5, \ P=7, Q=6, \ \alpha=6, \ \sqrt{D}=5, \ I=0, \\ \bullet \ e=5, \ P=3, Q=-4, \ \alpha=4, \ \sqrt{D}=5, \ I=0, \\ \bullet \ e=6, \ P=4, Q=3, \ \alpha=3, \ \sqrt{D}=2, \ I=1, \\ \bullet \ e=6, \ P=4, Q=-5, \ \alpha=5, \ \sqrt{D}=6, \ I=0, \\ \bullet \ e=6, \ P=4, Q=-5, \ \alpha=5, \ \sqrt{D}=6, \ I=0, \end{array}$

where e = d/c such that $(a, b, c, d) \in \mathfrak{T}$.

Indeed, our results here also extend other related results obtained by e.g. Kafle, Srinivasan and Togbé [125] and Altassan and Luca [5]. As applications to the latter theorem, we prove the following results, that will also appear in [110].

THEOREM. If $(x, y, z) = (B_i, B_j, B_k)$ is a solution of the equation $ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz$

and $(a, b, c, d) \in \{(1, 1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1, 3), (1, 1, 2, 2), (1, 1, 2, 4), (1, 1, 5, 5), (1, 2, 3, 6)\}$, then there is at most one solution given by $x = y = z = B_1 = 1$.

THEOREM. If $(x, y, z) = (J_i, J_j, J_k)$ is a solution of the equation $ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz$

and $(a, b, c, d) \in \{(1, 1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1, 3), (1, 1, 2, 2), (1, 1, 2, 4), (1, 1, 5, 5), (1, 2, 3, 6)\}$, then the complete list of solutions is given by

(a,b,c,d)	solutions
(1, 1, 1, 1)	$\{(3,3,3)\}$
(1, 1, 1, 3)	$\{(1,1,1)\}$
(1, 1, 2, 2)	{}
(1, 1, 2, 4)	$\{(1,1,1),(1,3,1),(1,3,5),(3,1,1),(3,1,5),(3,11,1),(11,3,1)\}$
(1, 1, 5, 5)	$\{(1,3,1),(3,1,1)\}$
(1, 2, 3, 6)	$\{(1,1,1),(5,1,1)\}$

Bibliography

- [1] F. S. Abu Muriefah and A. Al Rashed. The simultaneous Diophantine equations $y^2 5x^2 = 4$ and $z^2 442x^2 = 441$. Arab. J. Sci. Eng. Sect. A Sci., 31(2):207–211, 2006.
- [2] C. Adegbindin, F. Luca, and A. Togbé. Lucas numbers as sums of two repdigits. *Lith. Math. J.*, 59(3):295–304, 2019.
- [3] L. Ait-Amrane and D. Behloul. On some Diophantine equations involving generalized Fibonacci and Lucas numbers. *Collog. Math.*, 150(2):257–268, 2017.
- [4] M. A. Alekseyev and Sz. Tengely. On integral points on biquadratic curves and near-multiples of squares in lucas sequences. J. Integer Seq., 17(6):Article 14.6.6, 15, 2014.
- [5] A. Altassan and F. Luca. Markov type equations with solutions in Lucas sequences. To appear.
- [6] C. Baer and G. Rosenberger. The equation $ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz$ over quadratic imaginary fields. *Result. Math.*, 33(1-2):30–39, 1998.
- [7] A. Baker. Linear forms in the logarithms of algebraic numbers. II. *Mathematika*, 14:102–107, 1967.
- [8] A. Baker. Contributions to the theory of Diophantine equations. I. On the representation of integers by binary forms. *Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A*, 263:173–191, 1967/1968.
- [9] A. Baker. The Diophantine equation $y^2 = ax^3 + bx^2 + cx + d$. J. London Math. Soc., 43:1–9, 1968.
- [10] A. Baker. Linear forms in the logarithms of algebraic numbers. IV. *Mathematika*, 15:204–216, 1968.
- [11] A. Baker. Bounds for the solutions of the hyperelliptic equation. *Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.*, 65:439–444, 1969.
- [12] A. Baker. A sharpening of the bounds for linear forms in logarithms. *Acta Arith.*, 21:117–129, 1972.
- [13] A. Baker and H. Davenport. The equations $3x^2 2 = y^2$ and $8x^2 7 = z^2$. Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2), 20:129–137, 1969.
- [14] A. Baragar. On the unicity conjecture for Markoff numbers. Can. Math. Bull., 39(1):3–9, 1996.
- [15] A. Baragar and K. Umeda. The asymptotic growth of integer solutions to the Rosenberger equations. Bull. Aust. Math. Soc., 69(3):481–497, 2004.
- [16] R. Barbara. 91.33 Fermat's last theorem in the case n = 4. The Mathematical Gazette, 91(521):26–262, 2007.
- [17] A. Behera and G. K. Panda. On the square roots of triangular numbers. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 37(2):98–105, 1999.
- [18] M. A. Bennett, I. Chen, S. R. Dahmen, and S. Yazdani. Generalized Fermat equations: a miscellany. Int. J. Number Theory, 11(1):1–28, 2015.
- [19] A. Bérczes, L. Hajdu, I. Pink, and S. S. Rout. Sums of S-units in recurrence sequences. J. Number Theory, 196:353–363, 2019.
- [20] A. Bérczes and I. Pink. On the Diophantine equation $x^2 + p^{2k} = y^n$. Arch. Math. (Basel), 91(6):505–517, 2008.
- [21] C. Bertók, L. Hajdu, I. Pink, and Z. Rábai. Linear combinations of prime powers in binary recurrence sequences. *Int. J. Number Theory*, 13(2):261–271, 2017.
- [22] F. Beukers. The Diophantine equation $Ax^p + By^q = Cz^r$. Duke Math. J., 91(1):61–88, 1998.

- [23] F. Beukers and Sz. Tengely. An implementation of Runge's method for Diophantine equations. arXiv preprint math/0512418, 2005.
- [24] N. Billerey, I. Chen, L. Dieulefait, and N. Freitas. A multi-frey approach to Fermat equations of signature (r, r, p). Trans. Am. Math. Soc., 371(12):8651–8677, 2019.
- [25] Y. Bilu. Effective analysis of integral points on algebraic curves. *Israel J. Math.*, 90(1-3):235–252, 1995.
- [26] Y. Bilu, G. Hanrot, and P. M. Voutier. Existence of primitive divisors of Lucas and Lehmer numbers. J. Reine Angew. Math., 539:75–122, 2001. With an appendix by M. Mignotte.
- [27] Y. Bilu, D. Marques, and A. Togbé. Generalized Cullen numbers in linear recurrence sequences. J. Number Theory, 202:412–425, 2019.
- [28] Y. Bilu and P. Parent. Runge's method and modular curves. Int. Math. Res. Not., 2011(9):1997–2027, 2011.
- [29] Y. F. Bilu. Quantitative Siegel's theorem for Galois coverings. *Compositio Math.*, 106(2):125–158, 1997.
- [30] B. J. Birch and H. Davenport. Quadratic equations in several variables. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 54:135–138, 1958.
- [31] G. D. Birkhoff and H. S. Vandiver. On the integral divisors of $a^n b^n$. Ann. of Math. (2), 5(4):173–180, 1904.
- [32] A. I. Borevich and I. R. Shafarevich. *Number theory*. Translated from the Russian by Newcomb Greenleaf. Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 20. Academic Press, New York-London, 1966.
- [33] W. Bosma, J. Cannon, and C. Playoust. The Magma algebra system. I. The user language. J. Symbolic Comput., 24(3-4):235–265, 1997. Computational algebra and number theory (London, 1993).
- [34] J. J. Bravo, B. Faye, and F. Luca. Powers of two as sums of three Pell numbers. *Taiwanese J. Math.*, 21(4):739–751, 2017.
- [35] J. J. Bravo and F. Luca. On the Diophantine equation $F_n + F_m = 2^a$. Quaest. Math., 39(3):391–400, 2016.
- [36] J.J. Bravo and F. Luca. Repdigits as sums of two k-Fibonacci numbers. Monatsh. Math., 176(1):31–51, 2015.
- [37] B. Brindza. On S-integral solutions of the equation $y^m = f(x)$. Acta Math. Hung., 44:133–139, 1984.
- [38] B. Brindza. On S-integral solutions of the Catalan equation. Acta Arith., 48(4):397–412, 1987.
- [39] E. Brown. Sets in which xy + k is always a square. Math. Comp., 45(172):613–620, 1985.
- [40] N. Bruin and M. Stoll. Two-cover descent on hyperelliptic curves. *Math. Comp.*, 78(268):2347–2370, 2009.
- [41] D. A. Buell. Binary quadratic forms. Classical theory and modern computations. New York, NY etc.: Springer-Verlag, 1989.
- [42] Y. Bugeaud. Bounds for the solutions of superelliptic equations. *Compositio Math.*, 107(2):187–219, 1997.
- [43] Y. Bugeaud and A. Dujella. On a problem of Diophantus for higher powers. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 135(1):1–10, 2003.
- [44] Y. Bugeaud and K. Gyarmati. On generalizations of a problem of Diophantus. *Illinois J. Math.*, 48(4):1105–1115, 2004.
- [45] Y. Bugeaud, F. Luca, M. Mignotte, and S. Siksek. Fibonacci numbers at most one away from a perfect power. *Elem. Math.*, 63(2):65–75, 2008.
- [46] Y. Bugeaud and M. Mignotte. On integers with identical digits. *Mathematika*, 46(2):411–417, 1999.
- [47] Y. Bugeaud, M. Mignotte, and S. Siksek. Sur les nombres de Fibonacci de la forme $q^k y^p$. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 339(5):327–330, 2004.

- [48] Y. Bugeaud, M. Mignotte, and S. Siksek. Classical and modular approaches to exponential Diophantine equations. II. The Lebesgue-Nagell equation. *Compos. Math.*, 142(1):31–62, 2006.
- [49] J. O. Button. Markoff numbers, principal ideals and continued fraction expansions. J. Number Theory, 87(1):77–95, 2001.
- [50] R. D. Carmichael. On the numerical factors of the arithmetic forms $\alpha^n \pm \beta^n$. Ann. of Math. (2), 15(1-4):49–70, 1913/14.
- [51] J. W. S. Cassels. On the equation $a^x b^y = 1$. II. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 56:97–103, 1960.
- [52] E. Catalan. Note extraite d'une lettre adressée à l'éditeur par Mr. E. Catalan, Répétiteur à l'école polytechnique de Paris. J. Reine Angew. Math., 27:192, 1844.
- [53] F. Chen and Y. Chen. On the Frobenius conjecture for Markoff numbers. J. Number Theory, 133(7):2363–2373, 2013.
- [54] J. H. Chen and P. Voutier. Complete solution of the Diophantine equation $X^2 + 1 = dY^4$ and a related family of quartic Thue equations. J. Number Theory, 62(1):71–99, 1997.
- [55] K. C. Chim and V. Ziegler. On Diophantine equations involving sums of Fibonacci numbers and powers of 2. *Integers*, 18:Paper No. A99, 30, 2018.
- [56] J. H. E. Cohn. Square Fibonacci numbers, etc. Fibonacci Quart., 2:109-113, 1964.
- [57] J. H. E. Cohn. Lucas and Fibonacci numbers and some Diophantine equations. Proc. Glasgow Math. Assoc., 7:24–28 (1965), 1965.
- [58] J. H. E. Cohn. Squares in some recurrent sequences. Pacific J. Math., 41:631-646, 1972.
- [59] J. H. E. Cohn. The Diophantine equation $x^2 + C = y^n$. Acta Arith., 65(4):367–381, 1993.
- [60] G. N. Copley. Recurrence relations for solutions of Pell's equation. Amer. Math. Monthly, 66:288– 290, 1959.
- [61] Z. Şiar. On square classes in generalized Lucas sequences. Int. J. Number Theory, 11(2):661–672, 2015.
- [62] Z. Şiar, F. Erduvan, and R. Keskin. Repdigits as product of two Pell or Pell-Lucas numbers. Acta Math. Univ. Comenian. (N.S.), 88(2):247–256, 2019.
- [63] Z. Şiar and R. Keskin. The square terms in generalized Lucas sequences. *Mathematika*, 60(1):85–100, 2014.
- [64] Z. Şiar and R. Keskin. On square classes in generalized Fibonacci sequences. Acta Arith., 174(3):277–295, 2016.
- [65] H. Darmon, F. Diamond, and R. Taylor. Fermat's last theorem. In *Current developments in Mathematics*, 1995 (Cambridge, MA), pages 1–154. Int. Press, Cambridge, MA, 1994.
- [66] H. Darmon, F. Diamond, and R. Taylor. Fermat's last theorem. In *Elliptic curves, modular forms & Fermat's last theorem (Hong Kong, 1993)*, pages 2–140. Int. Press, Cambridge, MA, 1997.
- [67] H. Darmon and A. Granville. On the equations $z^m = F(x, y)$ and $Ax^p + By^q = Cz^r$. Bull. London Math. Soc., 27(6):513–543, 1995.
- [68] B. Davis. Fibonacci numbers in Physics. Fibonacci Quart., 10(6):659-660, 1972.
- [69] P. De Fermat. Oeuvres de Fermat, volume 1. Gauthier-Villars et fils, 1891.
- [70] B. M. M. de Weger. A curious property of the eleventh Fibonacci number. *Rocky Mountain J. Math.*, 25(3):977–994, 1995.
- [71] S. Díaz-Alvarado and F. Luca. Fibonacci numbers which are sums of two repdigits. In Proceedings of the 14th international conference on Fibonacci numbers and their applications, Morelia, Mexico, July 5–9, 2010, pages 97–108. México: Sociedad Matemática Mexicana, 2011.
- [72] J. Diaz-Vargas and G. Vargas de los Santos. The Legendre equation in Euclidean imaginary quadratic number fields. J. Number Theory, 186:439–451, 2018.
- [73] L. E. Dickson. *History of the Theory of Numbers, Vol. 2, Carnegie Institution, Washington 1920*. Reprinted: Chelsea, New York, 1952.
- [74] S. Dolan. 95.24 Fermat's method of "descente infinie". *The Mathematical Gazette*, 95(533):269–271, 2011.

- [75] A. Dujella. There are only finitely many Diophantine quintuples. J. Reine Angew. Math., 566:183–214, 2004.
- [76] A. Dujella and A. Pethő. A generalization of a theorem of Baker and Davenport. Q. J. Math., Oxf. II. Ser., 49(195):291–306, 1998.
- [77] B. M. Dwork and A. J. van der Poorten. The Eisenstein constant. Duke Math. J., 65(1):23–43, 1992.
- [78] H. M. Edwards. Fermat's last theorem. A genetic introduction to algebraic number theory. Work on this book was supported in part by James M. Vaughn jun., volume 50. Springer, New York, NY, 1977.
- [79] J. Edwards. A complete solution to $X^2 + Y^3 + Z^5 = 0$. J. Reine Angew. Math., 571:213–236, 2004.
- [80] J. H. Evertse. On sums of S-units and linear recurrences. Compositio Math., 53(2):225–244, 1984.
- [81] J. H. Evertse, K. Győry, C. L. Stewart, and R. Tijdeman. S-unit equations and their applications. In New advances in transcendence theory (Durham, 1986), pages 110–174. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1988.
- [82] B. Faye and F. Luca. Pell and Pell-Lucas numbers with only one distinct digit. Ann. Math. Inform., 45:55–60, 2015.
- [83] R. Finkelstein. The house problem. Amer. Math. Monthly, 72:1082–1088, 1965.
- [84] N. Freitas, B. Naskrecki, and M. Stoll. The generalized Fermat equation with exponents 2, 3. *Compos. Math.*, 156(1):77–113, 2020.
- [85] G. Frey. Links between stable elliptic curves and certain Diophantine equations. Ann. Univ. Sarav. Ser. Math., 1(1):iv+40, 1986.
- [86] G. Frobenius. Über die Markoff schen Zahlen. Berl. Ber., 1913:458-487, 1913.
- [87] C. Fuchs, C. Hutle, N. Irmak, F. Luca, and L. Szalay. Only finitely many Tribonacci Diophantine triples exist. *Math. Slovaca*, 67(4):853–862, 2017.
- [88] C. Fuchs, C. Hutle, F. Luca, and L. Szalay. Diophantine triples and *k*-generalized Fibonacci sequences. *Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc.*, 41(3):1449–1465, 2018.
- [89] C. Fuchs, C. Karolus, and D. Kreso. Decomposable polynomials in second order linear recurrence sequences. *Manuscripta Math.*, 159(3-4):321–346, 2019.
- [90] C. Fuchs, F. Luca, and L. Szalay. Diophantine triples with values in binary recurrences. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 7(4):579–608, 2008.
- [91] J. Gebel, A. Pethő, and H. G. Zimmer. Computing integral points on elliptic curves. Acta Arith., 68(2):171–192, 1994.
- [92] P. Glivický and V. Kala. Fermat's last theorem and Catalan's conjecture in weak exponential arithmetics. *MLQ Math. Log. Q.*, 63(3-4):162–174, 2017.
- [93] C. A. Gómez Ruiz and F. Luca. Tribonacci Diophantine quadruples. *Glas. Mat. Ser. III*, 50(70)(1):17–24, 2015.
- [94] E. González-Jiménez. Markoff-Rosenberger triples in geometric progression. Acta Math. Hung., 142(1):231–243, 2014.
- [95] M. Grant and M. Perella. 83.25 descending to the irrational. *The Mathematical Gazette*, 83(497):263–267, 1999.
- [96] C. M. Grinstead. On a method of solving a class of Diophantine equations. *Math. Comp.*, 32(143):936–940, 1978.
- [97] A. Grytczuk and A. Schinzel. On Runge's theorem about Diophantine equations. In Sets, graphs and numbers (Budapest, 1991), volume 60 of Colloq. Math. Soc. János Bolyai, pages 329–356. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1992.
- [98] M. Güney Duman, Ü. Öğüt, and R. Keskin. Generalized Lucas numbers of the form wx^2 and wV_mx^2 . Hokkaido Math. J., 47(3):465–480, 2018.

- [99] K. Győry. Solving Diophantine equations by Baker's theory. In A panorama of number theory or the view from Baker's garden (Zürich, 1999), pages 38–72. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [100] K. Györy, R. Tijdeman, and M. Voorhoeve. On the Diophantine equation $1^k + 2^k + \dots + x^k + R(x) = y^z$. Acta Math., 143(1-2):1–8, 1979.
- [101] K. Györy, R. Tijdeman, and M. Voorhoeve. On the equation $1^k + 2^k + \dots + x^k = y^z$. Acta Arith., 37:233–240, 1980.
- [102] P. Habegger. Quasi-equivalence of heights and Runge's theorem. In Number theory—Diophantine problems, uniform distribution and applications, pages 257–280. Springer, Cham, 2017.
- [103] L. Hajdu and T. Herendi. Explicit bounds for the solutions of elliptic equations with rational coefficients. J. Symbolic Comput., 25(3):361–366, 1998.
- [104] H. R. Hashim. Solutions of the Diophantine equation $7X^2 + Y^7 = Z^2$ from recurrence sequences. *Commun. Math.*, 28(1):55–66, 2020.
- [105] H. R. Hashim and Sz. Tengely. Representations of reciprocals of Lucas sequences. *Miskolc Math. Notes*, 19(2):865–872, 2018.
- [106] H. R. Hashim and Sz. Tengely. Diophantine equations related to reciprocals of linear recurrence sequences. *Notes Number Theory Discrete Math.*, 25(2):49–56, 2019.
- [107] H. R. Hashim and Sz. Tengely. Solutions of a generalized Markoff equation in Fibonacci numbers. *Math. Slovaca*, 70(5):1069–1078, 2020.
- [108] H. R. Hashim and Sz. Tengely. Lucas sequences and repdigits. *Math. Bohem. (accepted for publication)*, 2021.
- [109] H. R. Hashim, Sz. Tengely, and A. Molnár. Cryptanalysis of ITRU. Rad Hrvat. Akad. Znan. Umjet. Mat. Znan. (accepted for publication in Rad HAZU, Matematičke znanosti (proceedings of CECC 2020 (20th Central European Conference on Cryptology))), 25, 2021.
- [110] H. R. Hashim, Sz. Tengely, and L. Szalay. Markoff-Rosenberger triples and generalized Lucas sequences. *Period. Math. Hung. (accepted for publication)*, 2020.
- [111] H. Hedian. The golden section and the artist. Fibonacci Quart., 14:406–418, 1976.
- [112] Y. Hellegouarch. Étude des points d'ordre fini des variétés abéliennes de dimension un définies sur un anneau principal. J. Reine Angew. Math., 244:20–36, 1970.
- [113] Y. Hellegouarch. Points d'ordre fini sur les courbes elliptiques. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B, 273:A540–A543, 1971.
- [114] D. L. Hilliker and E. G. Straus. Determination of bounds for the solutions to those binary Diophantine equations that satisfy the hypotheses of Runge's theorem. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 280(2):637–657, 1983.
- [115] G. T. Q. Hoare. 102.37 Markov numbers. The Mathematical Gazette, 102(555):494-496, 2018.
- [116] S. H. Holliday and T. Komatsu. On the sum of reciprocal generalized Fibonacci numbers. *Integers*, 11(4):441–455, a11, 2011.
- [117] L. Holzer. Minimal solutions of Diophantine equations. Canadian J. Math., 2:238–244, 1950.
- [118] A. Hoque and K. Chakraborty. Pell-type equations and class number of the maximal real subfield of a cyclotomic field. *Ramanujan J.*, 46(3):727–742, 2018.
- [119] S. Hu and Y. Li. The number of solutions of generalized Markoff-Hurwitz-type equations over finite fields. J. Zhejiang Univ., Sci. Ed., 44(5):516–519, 537, 2017.
- [120] R. H. Hudson and C. F. Winans. A complete characterization of the decimal fractions that can be represented as $\sum 10^{-k(i+1)} F_{\alpha i}$, where $F_{\alpha i}$ is the αi th Fibonacci number. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 19(5):414–421, 1981.
- [121] W. T. Hung, A. G. Shannon, and B. S. Thornton. The use of a second-order recurrence relation in the diagnosis of breast cancer. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 32(3):253–259, 1994.
- [122] A. Hurwitz. Über eine Aufgabe der unbestimmten Analyse. Arch. der Math. u. Phys. (3), 11:185– 196, 1907.

- [123] Y. Jin and A. L. Schmidt. A Diophantine equation appearing in Diophantine approximation. *Indag. Math., New Ser.*, 12(4):477–482, 2001.
- [124] L. Jones, D. Marques, and A. Togbé. On terms of Lucas sequences with only one distinct digit. *Indian J. Math.*, 57(2):151–164, 2015.
- [125] B. Kafle, A. Srinivasan, and A. Togbé. Markoff equation with Pell component. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 58(3):226–230, 2020.
- [126] P. Kaplan and K. S. Williams. Pell's equations $X^2 mY^2 = -1, -4$ and continued fractions. J. Number Theory, 23(2):169–182, 1986.
- [127] O. Karaatli. The terms of the form $7kx^2$ in the generalized Lucas sequence with parameters P and Q. Acta Arith., 173(1):81–95, 2016.
- [128] K. S. Kedlaya. Solving constrained Pell equations. Math. Comp., 67(222):833-842, 1998.
- [129] R. Keskin and O. Karaatli. Generalized Fibonacci and Lucas numbers of the form $5x^2$. Int. J. Number Theory, 11(3):931–944, 2015.
- [130] R. Keskin and Z. Yosma. On Fibonacci and Lucas numbers of the form cx^2 . J. Integer Seq., 14(9):Article 11.9.3, 12, 2011.
- [131] P. Kirschenhofer and O. Pfeiffer. Diophantine equations between polynomials obeying second order recurrences. *Period. Math. Hungar.*, 47(1-2):119–134, 2003.
- [132] P. Kiss. Pure powers and power classes in recurrence sequences. *Math. Slovaca*, 44(5):525–529, 1994. Number theory (Račkova dolina, 1993).
- [133] M. Kneser. Kleine Lösungen der diophantischen Gleichung $ax^2 + by^2 = cz^2$. Abh. Math. Semin. Univ. Hamb., 23:163–173, 1959.
- [134] C. Ko. On the Diophantine equation $x^2 = y^n + 1$, $xy \neq 0$. Sci. Sinica, 14:457–460, 1965.
- [135] G. Köhler. Generating functions of Fibonacci-like sequences and decimal expansions of some fractions. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 23(1):29–35, 1985.
- [136] K. Kuhapatanakul. On the sums of reciprocal generalized Fibonacci numbers. J. Integer Seq., 16(7):article 13.7.1, 8, 2013.
- [137] L. Lagrange. Oeuvres publiées par les soins de M. J. A. Serret. Tome VII. Paris. Gauthier-Villars (1867), 1867.
- [138] M. L. Lang and S. P. Tan. A simple proof of the Markoff conjecture for prime powers. *Geom. Dedicata*, 129:15–22, 2007.
- [139] S. Lang. Integral points on curves. Publ. Math., Inst. Hautes Étud. Sci., 6:319-335, 1960.
- [140] R. Laubenbacher and D. Pengelley. "Voici ce que j'ai trouvé:" Sophie Germain's grand plan to prove Fermat's last theorem. *Hist. Math.*, 37(4):641–692, 2010.
- [141] M. Laurent. Équations exponentielles-polynômes et suites récurrentes linéaires. II. (Exponential polynomial equations and linear recurrence sequences. II). J. Number Theory, 31(1):24–53, 1989.
- [142] M. Laurent and D. Poulakis. On the global distance between two algebraic points on a curve. J. Number Theory, 104(2):210–254, 2004.
- [143] J. L. Leal-Ruperto. On the magnitude of the Gaussian integer solutions of the Legendre equation. J. Number Theory, 145:572–578, 2014.
- [144] V. A. Lebesgue. Sur l'impossibilité en nombres entiers de l'équation $x^m = y^2 + 1$. Nouv. Ann. Math, 9(9):178–181, 1850.
- [145] M. Legendre. Théorème sur la possibilité des équations indeterminées du second degré. Hist. Acad. Roy. Sci, pages 507–513, 1785.
- [146] H. W. Lenstra, Jr.. Solving the Pell equation. Notices Amer. Math. Soc., 49(2):182–192, 2002.
- [147] W. J. LeVeque. Rational points on curves of genus greater than 1. J. Reine Angew. Math., 206:45– 52, 1961.
- [148] W. J. LeVeque. On the equation $y^m = f(x)$. Acta Arith., 9:209–219, 1964.
- [149] C. T. Long. The decimal expansion of 1/89 and related results. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 19(1):53–55, 1981.

- [150] E. L. Lowman. An example of Fibonacci numbers used to generate rhythmic values in modern music. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 9(4):423–436, 1971.
- [151] F. Luca. Fibonacci and Lucas numbers with only one distinct digit. Port. Math., 57(2):243–254, 2000.
- [152] F. Luca. On an Diophantine equation. Bull. Aust. Math. Soc., 61(2):241-246, 2000.
- [153] F. Luca. On shifted products which are powers. Glas. Mat. Ser. III, 40(60)(1):13-20, 2005.
- [154] F. Luca and T. N. Shorey. Diophantine equations with products of consecutive terms in Lucas sequences. II. Acta Arith., 133(1):53–71, 2008.
- [155] F. Luca and A. Srinivasan. Markov equation with Fibonacci components. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 56(2):126–129, 2018.
- [156] F. Luca and L. Szalay. Fibonacci Diophantine triples. Glas. Mat. Ser. III, 43(63)(2):253–264, 2008.
- [157] F. Luca and L. Szalay. Lucas Diophantine triples. Integers, 9:A34, 441-457, 2009.
- [158] J. Luo and P. Yuan. Square-classes in Lehmer sequences having odd parameters and their applications. Acta Arith., 127(1):49–62, 2007.
- [159] K. Mahler. Über rationalen Punkte auf Kurven vom Geschlecht Eins. J. Reine Angew. Math., 170:168–178, 1934.
- [160] A. A. Markoff. Sur les formes quadratiques binaires indéfinies. Math. Ann., 15:381–407, 1879.
- [161] A. A. Markoff. Sur les formes quadratiques binaires indéfinies. Math. Ann., 17:379-400, 1880.
- [162] D. Marques. The proof of a conjecture concerning the intersection of k-generalized Fibonacci sequences. Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 44(3):455–468, 2013.
- [163] D. Marques and A. Togbé. On terms of linear recurrence sequences with only one distinct block of digits. *Collog. Math.*, 124(2):145–155, 2011.
- [164] D. Marques and A. Togbé. On repdigits as product of consecutive Fibonacci numbers. *Rend. Ist. Mat. Univ. Trieste*, 44:393–397, 2012.
- [165] K. Matthews. The Diophantine equation $x^2 Dy^2 = N$, D > 0. Expo. Math., 18(4):323–331, 2000.
- [166] E. M. Matveev. An explicit lower bound for a homogeneous rational linear form in logarithms of algebraic numbers. II. *Izv. Math.*, 64(6):1217–1269, 2000.
- [167] W. L. McDaniel and P. Ribenboim. Square-classes in Lucas sequences having odd parameters. J. Number Theory, 73(1):14–27, 1998.
- [168] T. Metsänkylä. Catalan's equation with a quadratic exponent. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Soc. R. Can., 23(1):28–32, 2001.
- [169] M. Mignotte and A. Pethő. Sur les carrés dans certaines suites de Lucas. J. Théor. Nombres Bordeaux, 5(2):333–341, 1993.
- [170] P. Mihăilescu. Primary cyclotomic units and a proof of Catalan's conjecture. J. Reine Angew. Math., 572:167–195, 2004.
- [171] S. P. Mohanty and A. M. S. Ramasamy. The simultaneous Diophantine equations $5Y^2 20 = X^2$ and $2Y^2 + 1 = Z^2$. J. Number Theory, 18(3):356–359, 1984.
- [172] R. A. Mollin. Simple continued fraction solutions for Diophantine equations. *Expo. Math.*, 19(1):55–73, 2001.
- [173] R. A. Mollin, A. J. van der Poorten, and H. C. Williams. Halfway to a solution of $x^2 Dy^2 = -3$. J. Théor. Nombres Bordx., 6(2):421–459, 1994.
- [174] L. J. Mordell. On the equation $ax^2 + by^2 cz^2 = 0$. Monatsh. Math., 55:323–327, 1951.
- [175] L. J. Mordell. On the integer solutions of the equation $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 + 2xyz = n$. J. London Math. Soc., 28:500–510, 1953.
- [176] L. J. Mordell. *Diophantine equations*. Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 30. Academic Press, London-New York, 1969.
- [177] L. J. Mordell. On the magnitude of the integer solutions of the equation $ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = 0$. J. Number Theory, 1:1–3, 1969.

- [178] L. Moser and L. Carlitz. Advanced problem H 2. Fibonacci Quart., 1(1):46, 1963.
- [179] K. Nakamula and A. Pethő. Squares in binary recurrence sequences. In Number theory. Diophantine, computational and algebraic aspects. Proceedings of the international conference, Eger, Hungary, July 29–August 2, 1996, pages 409–421. Berlin: de Gruyter, 1998.
- [180] R. Obláth. Une propriété des puissances parfaites. Mathesis, 65:356-364, 1956.
- [181] H. Ohtsuka and S. Nakamura. On the sum of reciprocal Fibonacci numbers. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 46-47(2):153–159, 2009.
- [182] B. Peker and S. Cenberci. On the equations $y^2 10x^2 = 9$ and $z^2 7x^2 = 16$. Int. Math. Forum, 12(15):715-720, 2017.
- [183] A. Pethő. Full cubes in the Fibonacci sequence. Publ. Math. Debrecen, 30(1-2):117–127, 1983.
- [184] A. Pethő. Perfect powers in second order recurrences. In *Topics in classical number theory, Vol. I, II (Budapest, 1981)*, volume 34 of *Colloq. Math. Soc. János Bolyai*, pages 1217–1227. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1984.
- [185] A. Pethö and B. M. M. de Weger. Products of prime powers in binary recurrence sequences. I. The hyperbolic case, with an application to the generalized Ramanujan-Nagell equation. *Math. Comp.*, 47(176):713–727, 1986.
- [186] A. Petho, C. Fuchs, and R. F. Tichy. On the Diophantine equation $G_n(x) = G_m(P(x))$. Monatsh. Math., 137(3):173–196, 2002.
- [187] I. Pink and V. Ziegler. Effective resolution of Diophantine equations of the form $u_n + u_m = w p_1^{z_1} \cdots p_s^{z_s}$. Monatsh. Math., 185(1):103–131, 2018.
- [188] D. Poulakis. Solutions entières de l'équation $Y^m = f(X)$. (Integer solutions of the equation $Y^m = f(X)$). Sémin. Théor. Nombres Bordx., Sér. II, 3(1):187–199, 1991.
- [189] D. Poulakis. A simple method for solving the Diophantine equation $Y^2 = X^4 + aX^3 + bX^2 + cX + d$. *Elem. Math.*, 54(1):32–36, 1999.
- [190] D. Preziosi. Harmonic design in minoan architecture. Fibonacci Quart., 6(6):370–384, 1968.
- [191] P. Ribenboim. Square classes of Fibonacci and Lucas numbers. *Portugal. Math.*, 46(2):159–175, 1989.
- [192] P. Ribenboim. Catalan's conjecture. Are 8 and 9 the only consecutive powers? London: Academic Press, 1994.
- [193] P. Ribenboim. My numbers, my friends. Popular lectures on number theory. New York, NY: Springer, 2000.
- [194] P. Ribenboim and W. L. McDaniel. Square classes of Lucas sequences. Port. Math., 48(4):469– 473, 1991.
- [195] P. Ribenboim and W. L. McDaniel. The square terms in Lucas sequences. J. Number Theory, 58(1):104–123, 1996.
- [196] K. A. Ribet. On modular representations of Gal(Q/Q) arising from modular forms. *Invent. Math.*, 100(2):431–476, 1990.
- [197] A. Rollet. Advanced problem 5080. Amer. Math. Monthly, 70:216, 1963.
- [198] G. Rosenberger. Über die diophantische Gleichung $ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = dxyz$. J. Reine Angew. Math., 305:122–125, 1979.
- [199] K. Rubin and A. Silverberg. A report on Wiles' Cambridge lectures. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 31(1):15–38, 1994.
- [200] C. Runge. Über ganzzahlige Lösungen von Gleichungen zwischen zwei Veränderlichen. J. Reine Angew. Math., 100:425–435, 1887.
- [201] P. A. Samet. An equation in Gaussian integers. Amer. Math. Monthly, 59:448-452, 1952.
- [202] R. E. Sawilla, A. K. Silvester, and H. C. Williams. A new look at an old equation. In *Algorithmic number theory*, volume 5011 of *Lecture Notes in Comput. Sci.*, pages 37–59. Springer, Berlin, 2008.

- [203] A. Schinzel. Primitive divisors of the expression $A^n B^n$ in algebraic number fields. J. Reine Angew. Math., 268/269:27–33, 1974. Collection of articles dedicated to Helmut Hasse on his seventy-fifth birthday, II.
- [204] H. P. Schlickewei. S-unit equations over number fields. Invent. Math., 102(1):95–107, 1990.
- [205] H. P. Schlickewei and W. M. Schmidt. Linear equations in members of recurrence sequences. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), 20(2):219–246, 1993.
- [206] W. M. Schmidt. Integer points on curves of genus 1. Compositio Math., 81(1):33-59, 1992.
- [207] P. Schmutz. Systoles of arithmetic surfaces and Markoff spectrum. *Math. Ann.*, 305(1):191–203, 1996.
- [208] R. Schoof. Catalan's conjecture. Universitext. Springer-Verlag London, Ltd., London, 2008.
- [209] J. Serre. Sur les représentations modulaires de degré 2 de Gal(Q/Q). Duke Math. J., 54(1):179– 230, 1987.
- [210] W. Sharp. Fibonacci drainage patterns. Fibonacci Quart., 10(6):643–9, 1972.
- [211] G. Shimura. Yutaka Taniyama and his time. Very personal recollections. Bull. London Math. Soc., 21(2):186–196, 1989.
- [212] G. Shimura. Introduction to the arithmetic theory of automorphic functions, volume 11 of Publications of the Mathematical Society of Japan. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1994. Reprint of the 1971 original, Kanô Memorial Lectures, 1.
- [213] T. N. Shorey and C. L. Stewart. On the Diophantine equation $ax^{2t} + bx^ty + cy^2 = d$ and pure powers in recurrence sequences. *Math. Scand.*, 52(1):24–36, 1983.
- [214] T. N. Shorey and R. Tijdeman. Exponential Diophantine equations., volume 87. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1986.
- [215] C. L. Siegel. The integer solutions of the equation $y^2 = ax^n + bx^{n-1} + \dots + k$. (Extract from a letter to Prof. L. J. Mordell.). J. Lond. Math. Soc., 1:66–68, 1926.
- [216] C. L. Siegel. Über einige Anwendungen diophantischer Approximationen [reprint of Abhandlungen der Preußischen Akademie der Wissenschaften. Physikalisch-mathematische Klasse 1929, Nr. 1]. In On some applications of Diophantine approximations, volume 2 of Quad./Monogr., pages 81–138. Ed. Norm., Pisa, 2014.
- [217] W. Sierpiński. *Elementary theory of numbers*, volume 31 of *North-Holland Mathematical Library*. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam; PWN—Polish Scientific Publishers, Warsaw, second edition, 1988. Edited and with a preface by Andrzej Schinzel.
- [218] J. H. Silverman. The arithmetic of elliptic curves, volume 106 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, Dordrecht, second edition, 2009.
- [219] Th. Skolem. Über ganzzahlige Lösungen einer Klasse unbestimmter Gleichungen. Norsk matem. Forenings Skrifter 1, Nr. 10, 12 S. (1922)., 1922.
- [220] Th. Skolem. On the Diophantine equation $ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 = 0$. Univ. Roma. Ist. Naz. Alta Mat. Rend. Mat e Appl. (5), 11:88–100, 1952.
- [221] N. J. A. Sloane and J. H. Conway. The On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences. The OEIS Foundation. https://oeis.org/A002559.
- [222] F. Smarandache. A method to solve the Diophantine equation $ax^2 by^2 + c = 0$. In *Collected papers*, volume 1 of *Second edition (Translated from Romanian and French)*, pages 16–26. Ann Arbor (USA): InfoLearnQuest, 2007.
- [223] H. J. S. Smith. III. on the criterion of resolubility in integral numbers of the indeterminate equation $f = ax^2 + a'x^2 + a''x^2 + 2bx'x'' + 2b'xx'' + 2b''x'x = 0$. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, 13:110–111, 1864.
- [224] G. Soydan. On the Diophantine equation $x^2 + 7^{\alpha} \cdot 11^{\beta} = y^n$. *Miskolc Math. Notes*, 13(2):515–527, 2012.
- [225] V. G. Sprindžuk. Square-free divisors of polynomials, and class numbers of algebraic number fields. *Acta Arith.*, 24:143–149, 1973. Collection of articles dedicated to Carl Ludwig Siegel on the occasion of his seventy-fifth birthday, II.

- [226] V. G. Sprindžuk. A hyperelliptic Diophantine equation and the number of ideal classes. Acta Arith., 30:95–108, 1976.
- [227] V. G. Sprindžuk. The arithmetic structure of integer polynomials and class numbers. *Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov.*, 143:152–174, 210, 1977. Analytic number theory, mathematical analysis and their applications (dedicated to I. M. Vinogradov on his 85th birthday).
- [228] V. G. Sprindžuk. Classical Diophantine equations, volume 1559 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1993. Translated from the 1982 Russian original, Translation edited by Ross Talent and Alf van der Poorten, With a foreword by van der Poorten.
- [229] A. Srinivasan. Markoff numbers and ambiguous classes. J. Théor. Nombres Bordx., 21(3):755– 768, 2009.
- [230] F. Stancliff. A curious property of *a_{ii}*. *Scripta Math.*, 19:126, 1953.
- [231] W. A. Stein et al. *Sage Mathematics Software (Version 9.0)*. The Sage Development Team, 2020. http://www.sagemath.org.
- [232] C. L. Stewart. Primitive divisors of Lucas and Lehmer numbers. In *Transcendence theory: advances and applications (Proc. Conf., Univ. Cambridge, Cambridge, 1976)*, pages 79–92. Academic Press, London, 1977.
- [233] R. J. Stroeker and N. Tzanakis. Solving elliptic Diophantine equations by estimating linear forms in elliptic logarithms. *Acta Arith.*, 67(2):177–196, 1994.
- [234] S. Subburam. The Diophantine equation $(y+q_1)(y+q_2)\cdots(y+q_m) = f(x)$. Acta Math. Hungar., 146(1):40–46, 2015.
- [235] S. Subburam and R. Thangadurai. On the Diophantine equation $ax^3+by+c = xyz$. Funct. Approx. Comment. Math., 53(1):167–175, 2015.
- [236] L. Szalay. On the resolution of simultaneous Pell equations. Ann. Math. Inform., 34:77-87, 2007.
- [237] L. Szalay. Algorithm to solve certain ternary quartic Diophantine equations. *Turkish J. Math.*, 37(5):733–738, 2013.
- [238] L. Szalay and V. Ziegler. On an S-unit variant of Diophantine m-tuples. Publ. Math. Debrecen, 83(1-2):97–121, 2013.
- [239] R. Taylor and A. Wiles. Ring-theoretic properties of certain hecke algebras. Annals of Mathematics, 141(3):553–572, 1995.
- [240] A. Tekcan. Pell equation $x^2 Dy^2 = 2$. II. Ir. Math. Soc. Bull., 54:73–89, 2004.
- [241] Sz. Tengely. On the Diophantine equation F(x) = G(y). Acta Arith., 110(2):185–200, 2003.
- [242] Sz. Tengely. On the Diophantine equation $x^2 + a^2 = 2y^p$. Indag. Math. (N.S.), 15(2):291–304, 2004.
- [243] Sz. Tengely. On the Lucas sequence equation $\frac{1}{U_n} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{U_{k-1}}{x^k}$. Period. Math. Hung., 71(2):236–242, 2015.
- [244] Sz. Tengely. Markoff-Rosenberger triples with Fibonacci components. Glas. Mat. Ser. III, 55(75)(1):29–36, 2020.
- [245] G. Terjanian. Sur l'équation $x^{2p} + y^{2p} = z^{2p}$. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B, 285(16):A973–A975, 1977.
- [246] A. Thue. Über Annäherungswerte algebraischer Zahlen. J. Reine Angew. Math., 135:284–305, 1909.
- [247] R. Tijdeman. On the equation of Catalan. Acta Arith., 29(2):197-209, 1976.
- [248] L. A. Trelina. S-integral solutions of Diophantine equations of hyperelliptic type. Dokl. Akad. Nauk BSSR, 22:881–884, 1978.
- [249] N. Tzanakis. Solving elliptic Diophantine equations by estimating linear forms in elliptic logarithms. The case of quartic equations. *Acta Arith.*, 75(2):165–190, 1996.
- [250] A. J. van der Poorten and H. P. Schlickewei. The growth conditions for recurrence sequences. *Macquarie University, Math. Rep.*, pages 82–0041, 1982.
- [251] P. M. Voutier. An upper bound for the size of integral solutions to $Y^m = f(X)$. J. Number Theory, 53(2):247–271, 1995.

- [252] P. M. Voutier. Primitive divisors of Lucas and Lehmer sequences. II. J. Théor. Nombres Bordeaux, 8(2):251–274, 1996.
- [253] P. G. Walsh. A quantitative version of Runge's theorem on Diophantine equations. Acta Arith., 62(2):157–172, 1992.
- [254] M. Ward. The intrinsic divisors of Lehmer numbers. Ann. of Math. (2), 62:230–236, 1955.
- [255] L. C. Washington. Introduction to cyclotomic fields, volume 83 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1982.
- [256] L. C Washington. *Elliptic curves. Number theory and cryptography.* Boca Raton, FL: Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2003.
- [257] A. Wiles. Modular elliptic curves and Fermat's last theorem. Ann. of Math. (2), 141(3):443–551, 1995.
- [258] K. S. Williams. On the size of a solution of Legendre's equation. Utilitas Math., 34:65–72, 1988.
- [259] C. F. Winans. The Fibonacci series in the decimal equivalents of fractions. In A collection of manuscripts related to the Fibonacci sequence, pages 78–81. Fibonacci Assoc., Santa Clara, Calif., 1980.
- [260] J. Włodarski. The possible end of the periodic table of elements and the" golden ratio. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 9(1):82, 1971.
- [261] M. Wunderlich. On the non-existence of Fibonacci squares. Math. Comp., 17:455–457, 1963.
- [262] O. Wyler. Solution of the problem: In the Fibonacci series $F_1 = 1, F_2 = 1, F_{n+1} = F_n + F_{n-1}$, the first, second and twelfth terms are squares. Are there any others? *Amer. Math. Monthly*, 71(2):220–222, 1964.
- [263] M. Yabuta. A simple proof of Carmichael's theorem on primitive divisors. *Fibonacci Quart.*, 39(5):439–443, 2001.
- [264] D. Zagier. On the number of Markoff numbers below a given bound. *Math. Comput.*, 39:709–723, 1982.
- [265] K. Zsigmondy. Zur Theorie der Potenzreste. Monatsh. Math. Phys., 3(1):265–284, 1892.

List of talks

- Solutions of generalizations of Markoff equation from linear recurrences, 64th Annual Online Meeting of the Australian Mathematical Society, University of New England, Australia, December 8–11, 2020.
- (2) Solutions of a generalized Markoff equation in Fibonacci numbers, 9th Interdisciplinary Doctoral Conference, Doctoral Student Association of the University of Pécs, Hungary, November 27–28, 2020.
- (3) Cryptanalysis of ITRU, 1st Conference on Information Technology and Data Science, Faculty of Informatics, University of Debrecen, Hungary, November 6–8, 2020.
- (4) Cryptanalysis of ITRU, 20th Central European Conference on Cryptology, Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb, Croatia, June 24–26, 2020.
- (5) Diophantine equations related to reciprocals of linear recurrence sequences, 24th Central European Number Theory Conference, J. Selye University, Komárno, Slovakia, September 1–6, 2019.
- (6) Solutions of the Diophantine equation $7X^2 + Y^7 = Z^2$ from recurrence sequences. Institute of Mathematics, University of Debrecen, Hungary, April 12, 2019.
- (7) Representations of reciprocals of Lucas sequences, CSM-The 5th Conference of PhD Students in Mathematics, Bolyai Institute, University of Szeged, Hungary, June 25–27, 2018.



Registry number: Subject: DEENK/59/2021.PL PhD Publication List

Candidate: Hayder Raheem Hashim

Doctoral School: Doctoral School of Mathematical and Computational Sciences

List of publications related to the dissertation

Foreign language scientific articles in Hungarian journals (1)

 Hashim, H. R., Tengely, S.: Representations of reciprocals of Lucas sequences. Miskolc Math. Notes. 19 (2), 865-872, 2018. ISSN: 1787-2405. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18514/MMN.2018.2520 IF: 0.468

Foreign language scientific articles in international journals (5)

- 2. Hashim, H. R., Tengely, S.: Lucas sequences and repdigits. *Math. Bohem. "Accepted by Publisher"*, 1-18, 2021. ISSN: 0862-7959.
- Hashim, H. R., Szalay, L., Tengely, S.: Markoff-Rosenberger triples and generalized Lucas sequences. *Period. Math. Hung. "Accepted by Publisher"*, 1-16, 2020. ISSN: 0031-5303. IF: 0.693 (2019)
- 4. Hashim, H. R., Tengely, S.: Solutions of a generalized Markoff equation in Fibonacci numbers. *Math. Slovaca. 70* (5), 1069-1078, 2020. ISSN: 0139-9918.
 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/ms-2017-0414
 IF: 0.654 (2019)
- Hashim, H. R.: Solutions of the Diophantine equation 7X²+Y⁷=Z² from recurrence sequences. *Commun. Math.* 28 (1), 55-66, 2020. ISSN: 1804-1388. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.2478/cm-2020-0005
- Hashim, H. R., Tengely, S.: Diophantine equations related to reciprocals of linear recurrence sequences. Notes Numb. Theor. Discret. Math. 25 (2), 49-56, 2019. ISSN: 1310-5132.
 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.7546/nntdm.2019.25.2.49-56



List of other publications

Foreign language scientific articles in international journals (7)

- 7. Hashim, H. R., Molnár, A., Tengely, S.: Cryptanalysis of ITRU. Rad HAZU Mat. Znan. [Epub], 1-13, 2021. ISSN: 1845-4100.
- Alkufi, M. A. H. J., Hashim, H. R., Hussein, A. M., Mohammed, H. R.: An algorithm based on GSVD for image encryption. *Math. Comput. Appl.* 22 (2), 1-8, 2017. ISSN: 1300-686X. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/mca22020028
- Hashim, H. R., Alkufi, M. A. H. J.: A proposed method for text encryption using symmetric and asymmetric cryptosystems. *Int. J. Comput. Trends Technol. 50* (2), 94-100, 2017. ISSN: 2349-0829. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.14445/22312803/IJCTT-V50P117
- AlSabti, K. D. M., Hashim, H. R.: A new approach for image encryption in the modified RSA cryptosystem using MATLAB.
 Glob. J. Pure Appl. Math. 12 (4), 3631-3640, 2016. ISSN: 0973-1768.
- 11. **Hashim, H. R.**: A new modification of RSA cryptosystem based on the number of the private keys.

Am. Sci. Res. J. Eng. Technol. Sci. 24 (1), 270-279, 2016. ISSN: 2313-4410.

- Hashim, H. R.: H-Rabin cryptosystem. J. Math. Stat. 10 (3), 304-308, 2014. ISSN: 1549-3644. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3844/jmssp.2014.304.308
- Hashim, H. R., Neamaa, I. A.: Image encryption and decryption in a modification of ElGamal cryptosystem in MATLAB.
 Int. J. Sci. Basic Appl. Res. 14 (2), 141-147, 2014. EISSN: 2307-4531.

Total IF of journals (all publications): 1,815 Total IF of journals (publications related to the dissertation): 1,815

The Candidate's publication data submitted to the iDEa Tudóstér have been validated by DEENK the basis of the Journal Citation Report (Impact Factor) database.

19 February, 2021



Nyilvántartási szám: DEENK/59/2021.PL Tárgy:

PhD Publikációs Lista

Jelölt: Hashim, Hayder Raheem

Doktori Iskola: Matematika- és Számítástudományok Doktori Iskola

A PhD értekezés alapjául szolgáló közlemények

Idegen nyelvű tudományos közlemények hazai folyóiratban (1)

1. Hashim, H. R., Tengely, S.: Representations of reciprocals of Lucas sequences. Miskolc Math. Notes. 19 (2), 865-872, 2018. ISSN: 1787-2405. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18514/MMN.2018.2520 IF: 0.468

Idegen nyelvű tudományos közlemények külföldi folyóiratban (5)

- 2. Hashim, H. R., Tengely, S.: Lucas sequences and repdigits. Math. Bohem. "Accepted by Publisher", 1-18, 2021. ISSN: 0862-7959.
- 3. Hashim, H. R., Szalay, L., Tengely, S.: Markoff-Rosenberger triples and generalized Lucas sequences. Period. Math. Hung. "Accepted by Publisher", 1-16, 2020. ISSN: 0031-5303. IF: 0.693 (2019)
- 4. Hashim, H. R., Tengely, S.: Solutions of a generalized Markoff equation in Fibonacci numbers. Math. Slovaca. 70 (5), 1069-1078, 2020. ISSN: 0139-9918. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/ms-2017-0414 IF: 0.654 (2019)
- 5. Hashim, H. R.: Solutions of the Diophantine equation 7X²+Y⁷=Z² from recurrence sequences. Commun. Math. 28 (1), 55-66, 2020. ISSN: 1804-1388. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.2478/cm-2020-0005
- 6. Hashim, H. R., Tengely, S.: Diophantine equations related to reciprocals of linear recurrence sequences. Notes Numb. Theor. Discret. Math. 25 (2), 49-56, 2019. ISSN: 1310-5132. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.7546/nntdm.2019.25.2.49-56



További közlemények

Idegen nyelvű tudományos közlemények külföldi folyóiratban (7)

- 7. Hashim, H. R., Molnár, A., Tengely, S.: Cryptanalysis of ITRU. Rad HAZU Mat. Znan. [Epub], 1-13, 2021. ISSN: 1845-4100.
- Alkufi, M. A. H. J., Hashim, H. R., Hussein, A. M., Mohammed, H. R.: An algorithm based on GSVD for image encryption. *Math. Comput. Appl.* 22 (2), 1-8, 2017. ISSN: 1300-686X. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/mca22020028
- Hashim, H. R., Alkufi, M. A. H. J.: A proposed method for text encryption using symmetric and asymmetric cryptosystems. *Int. J. Comput. Trends Technol. 50* (2), 94-100, 2017. ISSN: 2349-0829. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.14445/22312803/IJCTT-V50P117
- AlSabti, K. D. M., Hashim, H. R.: A new approach for image encryption in the modified RSA cryptosystem using MATLAB.
 Glob. J. Pure Appl. Math. 12 (4), 3631-3640, 2016. ISSN: 0973-1768.
- 11. **Hashim, H. R.**: A new modification of RSA cryptosystem based on the number of the private keys.

Am. Sci. Res. J. Eng. Technol. Sci. 24 (1), 270-279, 2016. ISSN: 2313-4410.

- Hashim, H. R.: H-Rabin cryptosystem.
 J. Math. Stat. 10 (3), 304-308, 2014. ISSN: 1549-3644.
 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3844/jmssp.2014.304.308
- Hashim, H. R., Neamaa, I. A.: Image encryption and decryption in a modification of ElGamal cryptosystem in MATLAB. *Int. J. Sci. Basic Appl. Res.* 14 (2), 141-147, 2014. EISSN: 2307-4531.

A közlő folyóiratok összesített impakt faktora: 1,815 A közlő folyóiratok összesített impakt faktora (az értekezés alapjául szolgáló közleményekre): 1,815

A DEENK a Jelölt által az iDEa Tudóstérbe feltöltött adatok bibliográfiai és tudománymetriai ellenőrzését a tudományos adatbázisok és a Journal Citation Reports Impact Factor lista alapján elvégezte.

Debrecen, 2021.02.19.